PROSPECTUS

Universal Health Services, Inc.

OFFER TO EXCHANGE ITS

1.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2026, 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2030 and 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2032 and related guarantees that have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"),

FOR AN EQUAL AMOUNT OF ITS OUTSTANDING

1.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2026, 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2030 and 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2032, and related guarantees, as applicable, that were issued and sold in transactions exempt from registration under the Securities Act.

We hereby offer to exchange, upon the terms and conditions set forth in this prospectus and the accompanying letter of transmittal, up to \$700,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of our 1.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2026, \$800,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of our 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2030, and \$500,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of our 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2032 (collectively, the "Exchange Notes"), and the related guarantees, for an equal amount of our outstanding 1.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2026, 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2030 and 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2032 (collectively, the "Original Notes") and related guarantees. The terms of the Exchange Notes and related guarantees are substantially identical to the terms of the Original Notes and related guarantees, except that the Exchange Notes and related guarantees will be registered under the Securities Act and certain transfer restrictions, registration rights and additional interest provisions relating to the Original Notes do not apply to the Exchange Notes. For a description of the principal terms of the Exchange Notes and the related guarantees, see "Description of Notes."

The exchange offer will expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on December 22, 2022, unless we extend the offer. At any time prior to the expiration time, you may withdraw your tender of any Original Notes; otherwise, such tender is irrevocable. We will receive no cash proceeds from the exchange offer.

Any Original Notes not tendered and accepted in the exchange offer will remain outstanding. To the extent Original Notes are tendered and accepted in the exchange offer, your ability to sell untendered, and tendered but unaccepted, Original Notes could be adversely affected. Following consummation of the exchange offer, the Original Notes will continue to be subject to their existing transfer restrictions and we will generally have no further obligations to provide for the registration of the Original Notes under the Securities Act.

Each broker-dealer that receives Exchange Notes for its own account pursuant to the exchange offer must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act (or, to the extent permitted by law, make available a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act to purchasers) in connection with any resale of such Exchange Notes. The letter of transmittal states that by so acknowledging and by delivering a prospectus, a broker-dealer will not be deemed to admit that it is an "underwriter" within the meaning of the Securities Act. This prospectus, as it may be amended or supplemented from time to time, may be used by a broker-dealer in connection with resales of the Exchange Notes received in exchange for the Original Notes where such Original Notes were acquired by such broker-dealer as a result of market-making or other trading activities. We have agreed that, for a period of 180 days following the expiration of the exchange offer, we will make this prospectus available to any broker-dealer for use in connection with any such resale. See "Plan of Distribution."

You should carefully consider the <u>risk factors</u> beginning on page 11 of this prospectus before participating in the exchange offer.

This prospectus and the letter of transmittal are first being mailed to all holders of the Original Notes on or about November 23, 2022.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this prospectus is November 23, 2022.

Unless stated otherwise or the context indicates otherwise, references to "UHS," the "Company," "our Company," "we," "our," "ours" and "us" refer to Universal Health Services, Inc. together with its direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries.

This prospectus incorporates important business and financial information about UHS that is not included in or delivered with this prospectus. Documents incorporated by reference are available from UHS without charge upon written or oral request. Any person, including any beneficial owner, to whom this prospectus is delivered may obtain documents incorporated by reference in, but not delivered with, this prospectus by requesting them by telephone or in writing at the following address:

UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC. Universal Corporate Center 367 South Gulph Road King of Prussia, Pennsylvania 19406 (610) 768-3300 Attn.: Investor Relations

To obtain timely delivery, you must request these documents no later than five business days before the expiration time of the exchange offer, or December 15, 2022.

You should rely only on the information incorporated by reference or provided in this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone else to provide you with information different from that contained in this prospectus. We are offering to exchange Exchange Notes for Original Notes only in jurisdictions where such offer is permitted. You should not assume that the information in the incorporated documents or this prospectus is accurate as of any other date other than the date on the front of these documents.

No dealer, salesperson or other person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representations other than those contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus in connection with the exchange offer, and, if given or made, such information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by UHS. This prospectus does not constitute an offer of any securities other than those to which it relates or an offer or a solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorized or in which the person making such offer or solicitation is not qualified to do so or to anyone to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction. Neither the delivery of this prospectus nor any exchange made hereunder shall under any circumstance create an implication that there has been no change in the affairs of our Company since the date of this prospectus.

- i -

-

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements	111
<u>Summary</u>	1
Risk Factors	11
Use of Proceeds	22
The Exchange Offer	23
Description of the Notes	34
Description of Other Indebtedness	77
Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations	80
Plan of Distribution	81
Where You Can Find More Information	83
Incorporation by Reference	83
Legal Matters	83
Experts	84

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus, the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus and our other public statements contain "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 that reflect our current estimates, expectations and projections about our future results, performance, prospects and opportunities. Forward-looking statements include, among other things, the information concerning our possible future results of operations, business and growth strategies, financing plans, expectations that regulatory developments or other matters will not have a material adverse effect on our business or financial condition, our competitive position and the effects of competition, the projected growth of the industry in which we operate, and the benefits and synergies to be obtained from our completed and any future acquisitions, and statements of our goals and objectives, and other similar expressions concerning matters that are not historical facts. Words such as "may," "will," "should," "could," "would," "predicts," "potential," "continue," "expects," "anticipates," "future," "intends," "plans," "believes," "estimates," "appears," "projects" and similar expressions, as well as statements in future tense, identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements should not be read as a guarantee of future performance or results, and will not necessarily be accurate indications of the times at, or by which, such performance or results will be achieved. Forward-looking information is based on information available at the time and/or our good faith belief with respect to future events, and is subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual performance or results to differ materially from those expressed in the statements. In evaluating those statements, you should specifically consider the following important factors, along with the risk factors identified under "Risk Factors" and the risk factors incorporated by reference herein, which could affect future resul

- we are subject to risks associated with public health threats and epidemics, including the health concerns relating to the COVID-19 pandemic. In January 2020, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention ("CDC") confirmed the spread of the disease to the United States. In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic. The federal government has declared COVID-19 a national emergency, as many federal and state authorities have implemented aggressive measures to "flatten the curve" of confirmed individuals diagnosed with COVID-19 in an attempt to curtail the spread of the virus and to avoid overwhelming the health care system;
- the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, which began during the second half of March, 2020, has had a material effect on our operations and financial results since that time. The length and extent of the disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic are currently unknown; however, we expect such disruptions to continue into the future. Since the future volumes and severity of COVID-19 patients remain highly uncertain and subject to change, including potential increases in future COVID-19 patient volumes caused by new variants of the virus, as well as related pressures on staffing and wage rates, we are not able to fully quantify the impact that these factors will have on our future financial results. However, developments related to the COVID-19 pandemic could continue to materially affect our financial performance. Even after the COVID-19 pandemic has subsided, we may continue to experience materially adverse impacts on our financial condition and our results of operations as a result of its macroeconomic impact, and many of our known risks described in the Risk Factors sections of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021;
- the nationwide shortage of nurses and other clinical staff and support personnel has been a significant operating issue facing us and other healthcare providers. Like others in the healthcare industry, we continue to experience a shortage of nurses and other clinical staff and support personnel at our acute care and behavioral health care hospitals in many geographic areas. In some areas, the labor scarcity is putting a strain on our resources and staff, which has required us to utilize higher-cost temporary labor and pay premiums above standard compensation for essential workers. This staffing shortage has required us to hire expensive temporary personnel and/or enhance wages and benefits to recruit and retain nurses and other clinical staff and support personnel. At certain facilities, particularly within our behavioral health care segment, we have been unable to fill all vacant positions and, consequently,

- iii -

have been required to limit patient volumes. These factors, which had a material unfavorable impact on our results of operations during the first nine months of 2022, are expected to continue to have an unfavorable material impact on our results of operations for the foreseeable future;

- the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS") issued an Interim Final Rule ("IFR") effective November 5, 2021 mandating COVID-19 vaccinations for all applicable staff at all Medicare and Medicaid certified facilities. Under the IFR, facilities covered by this regulation must establish a policy ensuring all eligible staff have received the COVID-19 vaccine prior to providing any care, treatment, or other services. All eligible staff must have received the necessary shots to be fully vaccinated. The regulation also provides for exemptions based on recognized medical conditions or religious beliefs, observances, or practices. Under the IFR, facilities must develop a similar process or plan for permitting exemptions in alignment with federal law. If facilities fail to comply with the IFR by the deadlines established, they are subject to potential termination from the Medicare and Medicaid program for non-compliance. We cannot predict at this time the potential viability or impact of any additional vaccinated in accordance with IFR requirements, and associated loss of revenues and increased costs resulting from staffing issues could have a material adverse effect on our financial results;
- the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the "CARES Act"), a stimulus package signed into law on March 27, 2020, authorizes \$100 billion in grant funding to hospitals and other healthcare providers to be distributed through the Public Health and Social Services Emergency Fund (the "PHSSEF"). These funds are not required to be repaid provided the recipients attest to and comply with certain terms and conditions, including limitations on balance billing and not using PHSSEF funds to reimburse expenses or losses that other sources are obligated to reimburse. However, since the expenses and losses will be ultimately measured over the life of the COVID-19 pandemic, potential retrospective unfavorable adjustments in future periods, of funds recorded as revenues in prior periods, could occur. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services ("HHS") initially distributed \$30 billion of this funding based on each provider's share of total Medicare fee-for-service reimbursement in 2019. Subsequently, HHS determined that CARES Act funding (including the \$30 billion already distributed) would be allocated proportional to providers' share of 2018 net patient revenue. We have received payments from these initial distributions of the PHSSEF as disclosed in documents incorporated by reference herein. HHS has indicated that distributions of the remaining \$50 billion will be targeted primarily to hospitals in COVID-19 high impact areas, to rural providers, safety net hospitals and certain Medicaid providers and to reimburse providers for COVID-19 related treatment of uninsured patients. We have received payments from these targeted distributions of the PHSSEF, as disclosed in documents incorporated by reference herein. The CARES Act also makes other forms of financial assistance available to healthcare providers, including through Medicare and Medicaid payment adjustments and an expansion of the Medicare Accelerated and Advance Payment Program, which made available accelerated payments of Medicare funds in order to increase cash flow to providers. On April 26, 2020, CMS announced it was reevaluating and temporarily suspending the Medicare Accelerated and Advance Payment Program in light of the availability of the PHSSEF and the significant funds available through other programs. We have received accelerated payments under this program during 2020, and returned early all of those funds during the first quarter of 2021, as disclosed in documents incorporated by reference herein. The Paycheck Protection Program and Health Care Enhancement Act (the "PPPHCE Act"), a stimulus package signed into law on April 24, 2020, includes additional emergency appropriations for COVID-19 response, including \$75 billion to be distributed to eligible providers through the PHSSEF. A third phase of PHSSEF allocations made \$24.5 billion available for providers who previously received, rejected or accepted PHSSEF payments. Applicants that had not yet received PHSSEF payments of 2 percent of patient revenue were to receive a payment that, when combined with prior payments (if any), equals 2 percent of patient care revenue. Providers that have already received payments of approximately 2 percent of annual revenue from patient care were potentially eligible for an additional payment. Recipients will not be required to repay

- iv -

the government for PHSSEF funds received, provided they comply with HHS defined terms and conditions. On December 27, 2020, the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021 ("CAA") was signed into law. The CAA appropriated an additional \$3 billion to the PHSSEF, codified flexibility for providers to calculate lost revenues, and permitted parent organizations to allocate PHSSEF targeted distributions to subsidiary organizations. The CAA also provides that not less than 85 percent of the unobligated PHSSEF amounts and any future funds recovered from health care providers should be used for additional distributions that consider financial losses and changes in operating expenses in the third or fourth quarters of 2020 and the first quarter of 2021 that are attributable to the coronavirus. The CAA provided additional funding for testing, contact tracing and vaccine administration. Providers receiving payments were required to sign terms and conditions regarding utilization of the payments. Any provider receiving funds in excess of \$10,000 in the aggregate will be required to report data elements to HHS detailing utilization of the payments, and we will be required to file such reports. We, and other providers, will report healthcare related expenses attributable to COVID-19 that have not been reimbursed by another source, which may include general and administrative or healthcare related operating expenses. Funds may also be applied to lost revenues, represented as a negative change in year-over-year net patient care operating income. The deadline for using all Provider Relief Fund payments depends on the date of the payment received period; payments received in the first period of April 10, 2020 to June 30, 2020 were to have been expended by June 30, 2021 and payments received in the fourth period of July 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021 must be expended by December 31, 2022. The American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 ("ARPA"), enacted on March 11, 2021, included funding directed at detecting, diagnosing, tracing, and monitoring COVID-19 infections; establishing community vaccination centers and mobile vaccine units; promoting, distributing, and tracking COVID-19 vaccines; and reimbursing rural hospitals and facilities for healthcare-related expenses and lost revenues attributable to COVID-19. ARPA increased the eligibility for, and amount of, premium tax credits to purchase health coverage through Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health and Education Reconciliation Act (collectively, the "Legislation"). Further, ARPA set the Medicaid program's federal medical assistance percentage ("FMAP") at 100 percent for amounts expended for COVID-19 vaccines and vaccine administration. ARPA also increases the FMAP by 5 percent for eight calendar quarters to incentivize states to expand their Medicaid programs. Finally, ARPA provides subsidies to cover 100 percent of health insurance premiums under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act through September 30, 2021. There is a high degree of uncertainty surrounding the implementation of the CARES Act, the PPPHCE Act, the CAA and ARPA, and the federal government may consider additional stimulus and relief efforts, but we are unable to predict whether additional stimulus measures will be enacted or their impact. There can be no assurance as to the total amount of financial and other types of assistance we will receive under the CARES Act, the PPPHCE Act, the CAA and the ARPA, and it is difficult to predict the impact of such legislation on our operations or how they will affect operations of our competitors. Moreover, we are unable to assess the extent to which anticipated negative impacts on us arising from the COVID-19 pandemic will be offset by amounts or benefits received or to be received under the CARES Act, the PPPHCE Act, the CAA and the ARPA;

- our ability to comply with the existing laws and government regulations, and/or changes in laws and government regulations;
- an increasing number of legislative initiatives have been passed into law that may result in major changes in the health care delivery system on a national or state level. For example, Congress has reduced to \$0 the penalty for failing to maintain health coverage that was part of the original Legislation as part of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. President Biden has undertaken and is expected to undertake additional executive actions that will strengthen the Legislation and reverse the policies of the prior administration. To date, the Biden administration has issued executive orders implementing a special enrollment period permitting individuals to enroll in health plans outside of the annual open enrollment period and reexamining policies that may undermine the Legislation or the Medicaid program. The Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 ("IRA") was passed on August 16, 2022, which among

- v -

other things, allows for CMS to negotiate prices for certain single-source drugs reimbursed under Medicare Part B and Part D. The ARPA's expansion of subsidies to purchase coverage through a Legislation exchange, which the IRA continued through 2025, is anticipated to increase exchange enrollment. The Trump Administration had directed the issuance of final rules (i) enabling the formation of association health plans that would be exempt from certain Legislation requirements such as the provision of essential health benefits, (ii) expanding the availability of short-term, limited duration health insurance, (iii) eliminating cost-sharing reduction payments to insurers that would otherwise offset deductibles and other out-of-pocket expenses for health plan enrollees at or below 250 percent of the federal poverty level, (iv) relaxing requirements for state innovation waivers that could reduce enrollment in the individual and small group markets and lead to additional enrollment in short-term, limited duration insurance and association health plans and (v) incentivizing the use of health reimbursement arrangements by employers to permit employees to purchase health insurance in the individual market. The uncertainty resulting from these Executive Branch policies may have led to reduced Exchange enrollment in 2018, 2019 and 2020. It is also anticipated that these policies, to the extent that they remain as implemented, may create additional cost and reimbursement pressures on hospitals, including ours. In addition, there have been numerous political and legal efforts to expand, repeal, replace or modify the Legislation since its enactment, some of which have been successful, in part, in modifying the Legislation, as well as court challenges to the constitutionality of the Legislation. The U.S. Supreme Court rejected the latest such case on June 17, 2021, when the Court held in California v. Texas that the plaintiffs lacked standing to challenge the Legislation's requirement to obtain minimum essential health insurance coverage, or the individual mandate. The Court dismissed the case without specifically ruling on the constitutionality of the Legislation. As a result, the Legislation will continue to remain law, in its entirety, likely for the foreseeable future. On September 7, 2022, the Legislation faced its most recent challenge when a Texas Federal District Court judge, in the case of Braidwood Management v. Becerra, ruled that a requirement that certain health plans cover services without cost sharing violates the Appointments Clause of the U.S. Constitution and that the coverage of certain HIV prevention medication violates the Religious Freedom Restoration Act. Any future efforts to challenge, replace or replace the Legislation or expand or substantially amend its provision is unknown. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-Sources of Revenue-Sources of Revenue and Health Care Reform" in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2022 for additional disclosure;

- under the Legislation, hospitals are required to make public a list of their standard charges, and effective January 1, 2019, CMS has required that this disclosure be in machine-readable format and include charges for all hospital items and services and average charges for diagnosis-related groups. On November 27, 2019, CMS published a final rule on "Price Transparency Requirements for Hospitals to Make Standard Charges Public." This rule took effect on January 1, 2021 and requires all hospitals to also make public their payor-specific negotiated rates, minimum negotiated rates, maximum negotiated rates, and cash for all items and services, including individual items and services and service packages, that could be provided by a hospital to a patient. Failure to comply with these requirements may result in daily monetary penalties. On November 2, 2021, CMS released a final rule amending several hospital price transparency policies and increasing the amount of penalties for noncompliance through the use of a scaling factor based on hospital bed count;
- as part of the CAA, Congress passed legislation aimed at preventing or limiting patient balance billing in certain circumstances. The CAA addresses surprise medical bills stemming from emergency services, out-of-network ancillary providers at in-network facilities, and air ambulance carriers. The legislation prohibits surprise billing when out-of-network emergency services or out-of-network services at an in-network facility are provided, unless informed consent is received. In these circumstances providers are prohibited from billing the patient for any amounts that exceed in-network cost-sharing requirements. HHS, the Department of Labor and the Department of the Treasury have issued an interim final rules, which begins to implement the legislation. The rules are expected to limit our ability to receive payment for services at usually higher out-of-network rates in certain

- vi -

circumstances and prohibit out-of-network payments in other circumstances. On February 28, 2022, a district judge in the Eastern District of Texas invalidated portions of the rule governing aspects of the Independent Dispute Resolution ("IDR") process. In light of this decision, the government issued a final rule on August 19, 2022 eliminating the rebuttable presumption in favor of the qualifying payment amount ("QPA") by the IDR entity and providing additional factors the IDR entity should consider when choosing between two competing offers. On September 22, 2022, the Texas Medical Association filed a lawsuit challenging the IDR process provided in the updated final rule and alleging that the final rule unlawfully elevates the QPA above other factors the IDR entity must consider. The American Hospital Association and American Medical Association have announced their intent to join this case as amici supporting the Texas Medical Association;

- possible unfavorable changes in the levels and terms of reimbursement for our charges by third party payers or government based payers, including Medicare or Medicaid in the United States, and government based payers in the United Kingdom;
- our ability to enter into managed care provider agreements on acceptable terms and the ability of our competitors to do the same;
- the outcome of known and unknown litigation, government investigations, false claims act allegations, and liabilities and other claims asserted against us and the effects of adverse publicity relating to such matters;
- the unfavorable impact on our business of a continued or worsening deterioration in economic, business and credit market conditions, including a continuation or worsening of inflationary pressures on our operating expenses (most particularly labor and supply costs) since our ability, to pass on to payers, the increased costs associated with providing healthcare services to our patients (most particularly Medicare and Medicaid patients) is limited;
- competition from other healthcare providers (including physician owned facilities) in certain markets;
- technological and pharmaceutical improvements that increase the cost of providing, or reduce the demand for healthcare;
- our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel, nurses, physicians and other healthcare professionals and the impact on our labor expenses resulting from a shortage of nurses and other healthcare professionals;
- demographic changes;
- there is a heightened risk of future cybersecurity threats, including ransomware attacks targeting healthcare providers. If successful, future cyberattacks could have a material adverse effect on our business. Any costs that we incur as a result of a data security incident or breach, including costs to update our security protocols to mitigate such an incident or breach could be significant. Any breach or failure in our operational security systems can result in loss of data or an unauthorized disclosure of or access to sensitive or confidential member or protected personal or health information and could result in significant penalties or fines, litigation, loss of customers, significant damage to our reputation and business, and other losses. Previously, we had experienced a cyberattack in September, 2020 that had an adverse effect on our operating results during the fourth quarter of 2020, before giving effect to partial recovery of the loss through receipt of commercial insurance proceeds and collection of previously reserved patient accounts;
- the availability of suitable acquisition and divestiture opportunities and our ability to successfully integrate and improve our acquisitions since failure to achieve expected acquisition benefits from certain of our prior or future acquisitions could result in impairment charges for goodwill and purchased intangibles;
- the impact of severe weather conditions, including the effects of hurricanes and climate change;

- vii -

- we receive revenues from various state and county-based programs, including Medicaid in all the states in which we operate. We receive annual Medicaid revenues of approximately \$100 million, or greater, from each of Texas, California, Nevada, Illinois, Pennsylvania, Washington, D.C., Kentucky, Florida and Massachusetts. We also receive Medicaid disproportionate share hospital payments in certain states including Texas and South Carolina. We are therefore particularly sensitive to potential reductions in Medicaid and other state-based revenue programs as well as regulatory, economic, environmental and competitive changes in those states. We can provide no assurance that reductions to revenues earned pursuant to these programs, and the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on state budgets, particularly in the above-mentioned states, will not have a material adverse effect on our future results of operations;
- our ability to continue to obtain capital on acceptable terms, including borrowed funds, to fund the future growth of our business;
- our inpatient acute care and behavioral health care facilities may experience decreasing admission and length of stay trends;
- our financial statements reflect large amounts due from various commercial and private payers and there can be no assurance that failure of the payers to remit amounts due to us will not have a material adverse effect on our future results of operations;
- the Budget Control Act of 2011 (the "2011 Act") imposed annual spending limits for most federal agencies and programs aimed at reducing budget deficits by \$917 billion between 2012 and 2021, according to a report released by the Congressional Budget Office. Among its other provisions, the law established a bipartisan Congressional committee, known as the Joint Select Committee on Deficit Reduction (the "Joint Committee"), which was tasked with making recommendations aimed at reducing future federal budget deficits by an additional \$1.5 trillion over 10 years. The Joint Committee was unable to reach an agreement by the November 23, 2011 deadline and, as a result, across-the-board cuts to discretionary, national defense and Medicare spending were implemented on March 1, 2013 resulting in Medicare payment reductions of up to 2% per fiscal year with a uniform percentage reduction across all Medicare programs. The Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015, enacted on November 2, 2015, continued the 2% reductions to Medicare reimbursement imposed under the 2011 Act. Recent legislation has suspended payment reductions through December 31, 2021 in exchange for extended cuts through 2030. Subsequent legislation extended the payment reduction suspension through March 31, 2022, with a 1% payment reduction from then until June 30, 2022 and the full 2% payment reduction thereafter. We cannot predict whether Congress will restructure the implemented Medicare payment reductions or what other federal budget deficit reduction initiatives may be proposed by Congress going forward;
- uninsured and self-pay patients treated at our acute care facilities unfavorably impact our ability to satisfactorily and timely collect our self-pay patient accounts;
- changes in our business strategies or development plans;
- in June, 2016, the United Kingdom affirmatively voted in a non-binding referendum in favor of the exit of the United Kingdom ("U.K.") from the European Union (the "Brexit") and it was approved by vote of the British legislature. On March 29, 2017, the United Kingdom triggered Article 50 of the Lisbon Treaty, formally starting negotiations regarding its exit from the European Union. On January 31, 2020, the U.K. formally exited the European Union. On December 24, 2020, the United Kingdom and the European Union reached a post-Brexit trade and cooperation agreement that created new business and security requirements and preserved the United Kingdom's tariff- and quota-free access to the European Union member states. The trade and cooperation agreement was provisionally applied as of January 1, 2021 and entered into force on May 1, 2021, following ratification by the European Union. We do not know to what extent Brexit will ultimately impact the business and regulatory environment in the U.K., the European Union, or other countries. Any of these effects of Brexit, and others we cannot anticipate, could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations;

- viii -

- in 2021, the rate of inflation in the United States began to increase and has since risen to levels not experienced in over 40 years. We are experiencing inflationary pressures, primarily in personnel costs, and we anticipate impacts on other cost areas within the next twelve months. The extent of any future impacts from inflation on our business and our results of operations will be dependent upon how long the elevated inflation levels persist and the extent to which the rate of inflation further increases, if at all, neither of which we are able to predict. If elevated levels of inflation were to persist or if the rate of inflation were to accelerate, our expenses could increase faster than anticipated and we may utilize our capital resources sooner than expected. Further, given the complexities of the reimbursement landscape in which we operate, our payors may be unwilling or unable to increase reimbursement rates to compensate for inflationary impacts. Although we have hedged some of our floating rate indebtedness, the rapid increase in interest rates have increased our interest expense significantly increasing our expenses and reducing our free cash flow. As such, the effects of inflation may adversely impact our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows;
- we have exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, primarily the pound sterling. We have international subsidiaries that
 operate in the United Kingdom. We routinely hedge our exposures to foreign currencies with certain financial institutions in an effort to
 minimize the impact of certain currency exchange rate fluctuations, but these hedges may be inadequate to protect us from currency
 exchange rate fluctuations. To the extent that these hedges are inadequate, our reported financial results or the way we conduct our
 business could be adversely affected. Furthermore, if a financial counterparty to our hedges experiences financial difficulties or is
 otherwise unable to honor the terms of the foreign currency hedge, we may experience material financial losses, and;
- other factors referenced herein or in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Additional information concerning these and other risk factors is contained in the section titled "Risk Factors" in this prospectus and the documents incorporated herein by reference.

Given these uncertainties, risks and assumptions, as outlined above, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. Our actual results and financial condition could differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, the forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date the statements are made. We assume no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements to reflect actual results, changes in assumptions or changes in other factors affecting forward-looking information, except as may be required by law. All forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary statement.

- ix -

SUMMARY

This summary contains basic information about us and this exchange offer. It does not contain all of the information that you should consider before deciding whether to participate in the exchange offer. You should carefully read this prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference herein for a more complete understanding of our business. Additionally, you should read the "Risk Factors" section of this prospectus and in documents incorporated by reference into this prospectus before making an investment decision.

Our Company

Our principal business is owning and operating, through our subsidiaries, acute care hospitals and outpatient facilities and behavioral health care facilities. As of September 30, 2022, we owned and/or operated 359 inpatient facilities and 41 outpatient and other facilities including the following located in 39 U.S. states, Washington, D.C., the United Kingdom and Puerto Rico:

Acute care facilities located in the U.S.:

- 28 inpatient acute care hospitals;
- 21 free-standing emergency departments, and;
- 7 outpatient centers and 1 surgical hospital.

Behavioral health care facilities (331 inpatient facilities and 12 outpatient facilities):

Located in the U.S.:

- 185 inpatient behavioral health care facilities, and;
- 10 outpatient behavioral health care facilities.

Located in the U.K.:

- 143 inpatient behavioral health care facilities, and;
- 2 outpatient behavioral health care facilities.

Located in Puerto Rico:

• 3 inpatient behavioral health care facilities.

As a percentage of our consolidated net revenues, net revenues from our acute care hospitals, outpatient facilities and commercial health insurer accounted for 56% of our consolidated net revenues during 2021 and 55% during 2020. Net revenues from our acute care hospitals, outpatient facilities and commercial health insurer accounted for 58% during each of the three-month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and 57% and 56% during the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Net revenues from our behavioral health care facilities and commercial health insurer accounted for 44% of our consolidated net revenues during 2021 and 45% during 2020. Net revenues from our behavioral health care facilities and commercial health insurer accounted for 43% and 42% of our consolidated net revenues during the three-month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and 43% and 44% during the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

- 1 -

Our behavioral health care facilities located in the U.K. generated net revenues of approximately \$688 million in 2021 and \$584 million in 2020. Our behavioral health care facilities located in the U.K. generated net revenues of approximately \$167 million and \$174 million during the three-month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and \$516 million and \$511 million during the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Total assets at our U.K. behavioral health care facilities were approximately \$1.119 billion as of September 30, 2022 and \$1.351 billion as of December 31, 2021.

Services provided by our hospitals include general and specialty surgery, internal medicine, obstetrics, emergency room care, radiology, oncology, diagnostic care, coronary care, pediatric services, pharmacy services and/or behavioral health services. We provide capital resources as well as a variety of management services to our facilities, including central purchasing, information services, finance and control systems, facilities planning, physician recruitment services, administrative personnel management, marketing and public relations.

Corporate Information

Our corporate headquarters and principal executive offices are located at Universal Corporate Center, 367 South Gulph Road, King of Prussia, Pennsylvania 19406. Our telephone number is (610) 768-3300. We maintain a website at www.uhs.com where our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports are available without charge, as soon as reasonably practicable following the time they are filed with or furnished to the SEC. The information on or accessible through our website is not incorporated into or part of this prospectus (except for our SEC reports expressly incorporated by reference herein).

This prospectus may include trademarks, service marks and trade names owned by us or other companies. All trademarks, service marks and trade names included in this prospectus are the property of their respective owners

Summary of Exchange Offer

On September 21, 2020, UHS issued \$800 million in aggregate principal amount of its 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2030 (the "2030 Original Notes") and on August 24, 2021 UHS issued \$700 million in aggregate principal amount of its 1.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2026 (the "2026 Original Notes") and \$500 million in aggregate principal amount of its 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2032 (the "2032 Original Notes" and together with the 2026 Original Notes and the 2030 Original Notes, the "Original Notes"), each with related guarantees.

In connection with the offering of the 2030 Original Notes, we entered into a registration rights agreement with the initial purchasers of the 2030 Original Notes in which we agreed (i) to use commercially reasonable best efforts to cause an exchange offer registration statement (of which this prospectus is a part) to be filed, and to have such registration statement declared effective promptly, and (ii) to use commercially reasonable best efforts to complete the exchange offer not later than 60 days after such effective date; provided that the 2030 Original Notes will begin accruing default interest if the exchange offer is not completed before March 21, 2023. In connection with the offering of the 2026 Original Notes and the 2032 Original Notes, we entered into a registration rights agreements with the initial purchasers of the 2026 Original Notes and the 2032 Original Notes in which we agreed to (i) to use commercially reasonable best efforts to cause an exchange offer registration statement (of which this prospectus is a part) to be filed, and to have such registration statement declared effective promptly, and (ii) to use commercially reasonable best efforts to cause an exchange offer registration statement (of which this prospectus is a part) to be filed, and to have such registration statement declared effective promptly, and (ii) to use commercially reasonable best efforts to cause an exchange offer registration statement (of which this prospectus is a part) to be filed, and to have such registration statement declared effective promptly, and (ii) to use commercially reasonable best efforts to cause an exchange offer registration statement (of which this prospectus is a part) to be filed, and to have such registration statement declared effective promptly, and (ii) to use commercially reasonable best efforts to complete the exchange offer not later than 60 days after such effective date; provided that the 2026 Original Notes and the 2032 Original Notes will begin accruing default interest if the exchang

- 2 -

The Exchange Notes issued pursuant to this prospectus will be accepted for clearance through The Depository Trust Company ("DTC") with a new CUSIP and ISIN number and common code for each series of the Exchange Notes. You should read the discussions under the headings "The Exchange Offer" and "Description of the Notes," respectively, for more information about the exchange offer and Exchange Notes. After the exchange offer is completed, you will no longer be entitled to any exchange or, with limited exceptions, registration rights for your Original Notes.

The Exchange Offer

UHS is offering to exchange its 1.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2026 (the "2026 Exchange Notes"), 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2030 (the "2030 Exchange Notes"), and 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2032 (the "2032 Exchange Notes" and, together with the 2026 Exchange Notes and the 2030 Exchange Notes, the "Exchange Notes"), which have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, for an equal amount of its outstanding 2026 Original Notes, 2030 Original Notes and 2032 Original Notes and related guarantees, none of which have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. We refer to the Exchange Notes and the Original Notes, collectively, as the "Notes." Original Notes may only be exchanged in a principal amount of \$2,000 or an integral multiple of \$1,000 in excess thereof.

As of the date of this prospectus, \$700,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of the 2026 Original Notes, \$800,000,000 in aggregate principal amount 2030 Original Notes and \$500,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 2032 Original Notes are outstanding.

The terms of the Exchange Notes are identical in all material respects to those of the Original Notes, except the Exchange Notes will not be subject to transfer restrictions and holders of the Exchange Notes, with limited exceptions, will have no registration rights. Also, the Exchange Notes will not include provisions contained in the Original Notes that required payment of additional interest in the event we failed to satisfy our registration obligations with respect to the Original Notes.

Original Notes that are not tendered for exchange will continue to be subject to transfer restrictions and, with limited exceptions, will not have registration rights. Therefore, the market for secondary resales of Original Notes that are not tendered for exchange is likely to be substantially limited. However, no market currently exists for the Exchange Notes and we can offer no assurance that such a market will develop.

UHS will issue Exchange Notes promptly after the expiration of the exchange offer.

The exchange offer is not subject to any federal or state regulatory requirements or approvals other than securities laws and blue sky laws.

- 3 -

Expiration Time	The exchange offer will expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on December 22, 2022, unless we decide to extend the expiration time. Please read "The Exchange Offer— Extensions, Delay in Acceptance, Termination or Amendment" for more information about extending the expiration time.	
Withdrawal of Tenders	You may withdraw your tender of Original Notes at any time prior to the expiration time. We will return to you, without charge, promptly after the expiration or termination of the exchange offer any Original Notes that you tendered but that were not accepted for exchange.	
Conditions to the Exchange Offer	The exchange offer is subject to certain customary conditions, which we may amend or waive. We have the right, in our sole discretion, to terminate or withdraw the exchange offer if any of the conditions described in this prospectus are not satisfied or waived. The exchange offer is not conditioned on any minimum aggregate principal amount of Original Notes being tendered.	
	Please read "The Exchange Offer—Conditions to the Exchange Offer" for more information about the conditions to the exchange offer.	
Procedures for Tendering Original Notes	If your Original Notes are held through DTC and you wish to participate in the exchange offer, you may do so through DTC's automated tender offer program. If you tender under this program, you will agree to be bound by the letter of transmittal that we are providing with this prospectus as though you had signed the letter of transmittal. By signing or agreeing to be bound by the letter of transmittal, you will represent to us that, among other things:	
	 any Exchange Notes that you receive will be acquired in the ordinary course of your business; 	
	• you have no arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in a distribution (within the meaning of the Securities Act) of the Exchange Notes in violations of the Securities Act;	
	• you are not an "affiliate," as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act, of us or any guarantor, or if you are such an affiliate, you will comply with the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act to the extent applicable;	
	• you are not engaged in and do not intend to engage in a distribution of the Exchange Notes; and	
	• if you are a broker-dealer that will receive Exchange Notes for your own account in exchange for Original Notes that were acquired as a result of market-making or other trading activities and that you will deliver a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act (or, to the extent permitted by law, make	

- 4 -

	available a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act to purchasers) in connection with any resale of such Exchange Notes.
Special Procedures for Beneficial Owner	If you own a beneficial interest in Original Notes that are registered in the name of a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee and you wish to tender the Original Notes in the exchange offer, please contact the registered holder as soon as possible and instruct the registered holder to tender on your behalf and to comply with our instructions described in this prospectus.
Resales	Except as indicated in this prospectus, we believe that the Exchange Notes will be freely transferable by holders other than our affiliates after the exchange offer without further registration under the Securities Act if:
	• you are acquiring the Exchange Notes in the ordinary course of your business;
	 you are not participating, do not intend to participate and have no arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in the distribution of the Exchange Notes; and
	• you are not an affiliate of UHS or any guarantor.
	Our belief is based on existing interpretations of the Securities Act by the SEC staff set forth in several no-action letters to third parties that are not related to us. We do not intend to seek our own no-action letter, and there is no assurance that the SEC staff would make a similar determination with respect to the Exchange Notes. If this interpretation is inapplicable, and you transfer any Exchange Notes without delivering a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act or without an exemption from such requirements, you may incur liability under the Securities Act. We do not assume, or indemnify holders against, such liability.
	Each broker-dealer that is issued Exchange Notes for its own account in exchange for Original Notes that were acquired by the broker-dealer as a result of market-making or other trading activities must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act (or, to the extent permitted by law, make available a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act) to purchasers in connection with any resale of the Exchange Notes. See "Plan of Distribution."
United States Federal Income Tax Considerations	The exchange of Exchange Notes for Original Notes in the exchange offer will not be a taxable exchange for United States federal income tax purposes. Please see "Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations."

- 5 -

Use of Proceeds	We will not receive any proceeds from the issuance of the Exchange Notes pursuant to the exchange offer. We will pay certain expenses incident to the exchange offer. See "The Exchange Offer—Transfer Taxes."
Registration Rights	If we fail to complete the exchange offer as required by the registration rights agreements, we may be obligated to pay additional interest to holders of the Original Notes. Please see "The Exchange Offer—Additional Interest" for more information regarding your rights as a holder of the Original Notes.

Exchange Agent

We have appointed U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association as exchange agent for the exchange offer. Please direct questions and requests for assistance and requests for additional copies of this prospectus or of the letter of transmittal to the exchange agent. As described in more detail under the caption "The Exchange Offer—Procedures for Tendering," if you are not tendering under DTC's automated tender offer program, you should send the letter of transmittal, any notice of guaranteed delivery and any other required documents to the exchange agent as follows:

U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association

For Information or to Confirm by Telephone: (800) 934-6802

By Mail: U.S. Bank National Association Global Corporate Trust 111 Fillmore Ave E Mail Station EP-MN-WS2N St. Paul, MN 55107 Attention: Specialized Finance Group If by Hand or Overnight Mail: U.S. Bank National Association Global Corporate Trust 111 Fillmore Ave E St. Paul, MN 55107 Attention: Specialized Finance Group

The Exchange Notes

The form and terms of the Exchange Notes to be issued in the exchange offer are substantially identical to the form and terms of the Original Notes, except that the Exchange Notes will be registered under the Securities Act and, therefore, will not bear legends restricting their transfer, will not contain terms providing for additional interest if we fail to perform our registration obligations with respect to the Original Notes and, with limited exceptions, will not be entitled to registration rights. The following summarizes the material terms of the Exchange Notes, which will evidence the same debt as the Original Notes, and both the Original Notes and the Exchange Notes are governed by the same indentures.

Issuer

Securities

Universal Health Services, Inc.

Up to \$700,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 1.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2026.

Up to \$800,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2030.

- 6 -

	Up to \$500,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2032.
Maturity	The 2026 Exchange Notes will mature on September 1, 2026, the 2030 Exchange Notes will mature on October 15, 2030 and the 2032 Exchange Notes will mature on January 15, 2032.
Interest Payment Dates	Each series of Exchange Notes will have the same interest payment dates as the corresponding series of Original Notes for which they are being offered in exchange. With respect to each series of Exchange Notes, interest will accrue from the date of original issuance or, if interest has already been paid on the corresponding Original Notes exchanged therefor, the date it was most recently paid on such Original Notes.
	Interest on the 2026 Exchange Notes will be payable on March 1 and September 1 of each year. Interest on the 2030 Exchange Notes will be payable on April 15 and October 15 of each year. Interest on the 2032 Exchange Notes will be payable on January 15 and July 15 of each year.
Optional Redemption	We may redeem some or all of the 2026 Exchange Notes at any time prior to August 1, 2026, some or all of the 2030 Exchange Notes at any time prior to July 15, 2030, and some or all of the 2032 Exchange Notes at any time prior to October 15, 2031, in each case at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest (as described under "The Exchange Offer—Additional Interest"), plus a "make whole" premium. Each of the 2026 Exchange Notes, 2030 Exchange Notes and 2032 Exchange Notes may be redeemed on or after the applicable date specified in the preceding sentence at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of such Notes of such series plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, to such redemption date.
Ranking	The Exchange Notes and the related guarantees will be our and the subsidiary guarantors' senior secured obligations and will:
	• rank senior in right of payment to any of our and the subsidiary guarantors' future subordinated indebtedness;
	• rank equally in right of payment with all of our and the subsidiary guarantors' existing and future senior indebtedness;
	• rank equally with our obligations under our senior secured credit facility to the extent of the value of the collateral;
	• rank effectively senior to our and the subsidiary guarantors' existing and future unsecured debt to the extent of the value of the assets securing the Notes and the note guarantees;

- 7 -

	• effectively rank equal to all future debt that shares in the first-priority liens that secure the Notes; and
	• be structurally subordinated to obligations of our non-guarantor subsidiaries.
	See "Risk Factors—Risks Related to the Notes—The Notes will be structurally subordinated to all obligations of our existing and future subsidiaries that are not and do not become guarantors of the Notes."
Note Guarantees	The Exchange Notes will be guaranteed on a senior secured basis by all of our existing and future direct and indirect subsidiaries that guarantee our senior secured credit facility or our other first lien obligations or any junior lien obligations (the "Guarantees"). Under certain circumstances, the subsidiary guarantors may be released from their Guarantees without the consent of the holders of the Exchange Notes, including if the Exchange Notes then have investment grade ratings, no default has occurred and is continuing, the guarantees of other first lien and any junior lien obligations have been released and liens on the collateral securing all first lien obligations and any junior lien obligations have been released. Any Guarantee will also be released if that subsidiary guarantor's guarantees of the senior credit facility, other first lien obligations and any junior lien obligations are released.
Collateral	The Exchange Notes and the Guarantees will be secured by first-priority liens, subject to permitted liens, on certain of our assets and certain assets of those subsidiary guarantors that have pledged those assets to secure certain of our other indebtedness or indebtedness of those subsidiary guarantors (the "secured guarantors") now owned or acquired in the future by us and our secured guarantors (other than our real property, accounts receivable sold pursuant to our accounts receivable securitization program and certain other excluded assets). Our obligations with respect to the Exchange Notes, the obligations of the subsidiary guarantors under the Guarantees and the performance of all our and our subsidiary guarantors' other obligations under the indentures governing the Exchange Notes will be secured equally and ratably with our and our secured guarantors' obligations under our secured guarantors, whether now owned or hereafter acquired. However, the liens on the collateral securing the Exchange Notes then have investment grade ratings, (y) no default has occurred and is continuing and (z) the liens on the collateral securing all first lien obligations (including the senior secured credit facility, any other first lien obligations and any junior lien obligations have been released or (ii) the collateral under the senior secured credit facility, any other first lien obligations and any junior lien obligations have been released.

- 8 -

	The Exchange Notes and the Guarantees will not be secured by the assets of non-guarantor subsidiaries. For a more detailed discussion, see "Description of the Notes—Security General."
	No appraisal of the value of the collateral has been made in connection with this offering, and the value of the collateral in the event of liquidation may be materially different from the book value.
	Some of our assets are excluded from the collateral, as described in "Description of the Notes—Certain Limitations on the Collateral."
Change of Control	If, upon the occurrence of certain kinds of changes of control, the Exchange Notes will not have investment grade ratings, holders of the Notes of each series will have the right to cause us to repurchase the Notes of such series at 101% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, to, but excluding, the repurchase date. See "Description of the Notes—Repurchase at the Option of Holders—Change of Control."
Certain Covenants	The indentures governing the Exchange Notes will contain covenants that, among other things, limit our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries to:
	• consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its assets;
	• create mortgages on certain of our principal properties to secure debt; and
	• engage in certain sale and lease-back transactions.
Listing	The Issuer does not intend to apply for the Exchange Notes to be listed on any securities exchange or to arrange for the Exchange Notes to be quoted on any quotation system.
Denominations	The Exchange Notes will be issued in minimum denominations of \$2,000 and integral multiples of \$1,000 in excess thereof.
Absence of Public Market for the Notes	A liquid market for the Exchange Notes may not be available if you wish to sell your Exchange Notes.
	There may be cease to be a market for the Original Notes and the Exchange Notes. If an active public trading market for the Original Notes and the Exchange Notes ceases to exist, the market price and liquidity of the Exchange Notes may be adversely affected.
Trustee	The Trustee for the Exchange Notes will be U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association.

- 9 -

-

Governing Law	The Exchange Notes, the indentures governing the Exchange Notes and the Guarantees will be governed by the laws of the State of New York.
Risk Factors	You should consider carefully all of the information set forth in this prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference herein and, in particular, you should carefully evaluate the specific factors under "Risk Factors" beginning on page 11 of this prospectus and those risk factors incorporated by reference herein.

RISK FACTORS

Prior to making a decision to participate in the exchange offer, you should carefully consider the risks described below, as well as the risks and other information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus, including the "Risk Factors" in Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, filed on February 24, 2022. If any of the risks described in this prospectus, or the risks described in any documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus, our business, prospects, financial condition or operating results could be harmed. In such case, the trading price of the Notes could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Related to the Exchange Offer

Your Original Notes will not be accepted for exchange if you fail to follow the exchange offer procedures.

We will issue Exchange Notes pursuant to the exchange offer only after a timely receipt of your Original Notes, a properly completed and duly executed letter of transmittal and all other required documents. Therefore, if you want to tender your Original Notes, please allow sufficient time to ensure timely delivery. If we do not receive your Original Notes, letter of transmittal and other required documents by the expiration time of the exchange offer, we will not accept your Original Notes for exchange. We are generally under no duty to give notification of defects or irregularities with respect to the tenders of Original Notes for exchange. If there are defects or irregularities with respect to your tender of Original Notes, we may not accept your Original Notes for exchange.

If you do not exchange your Original Notes, your Original Notes will continue to be subject to the existing transfer restrictions and you may be unable to sell your outstanding Original Notes.

We did not register the Original Notes and do not intend to do so following the exchange offer. Original Notes that are not tendered will therefore continue to be subject to the existing transfer restrictions and may be transferred only in limited circumstances under applicable securities laws. Because we anticipate that most holders of the Original Notes will elect to exchange their Original Notes for Exchange Notes due to the absence of restrictions on the resale of Exchange Notes under the Securities Act, we anticipate that the liquidity of the market for any Original Notes remaining after the completion of this exchange offer may be substantially limited. If you do not exchange your Original Notes, you will lose your right, except in limited circumstances, to have your Original Notes registered under the federal securities laws. As a result, if you hold Original Notes after the exchange offer, you may be unable to sell your Original Notes and the value of the Original Notes may decline. We have no obligation, except in limited circumstances, and do not currently intend, to file an additional registration statement to cover the resale of Original Notes that did not tender in the exchange offer or to re-offer to exchange the Exchange Notes for Original Notes following the expiration of the exchange offer.

Some persons who participate in the exchange offer must deliver a prospectus in connection with resales of the Exchange Notes.

Based on interpretations of the staff of the SEC contained in Exxon Capital Holdings Corp., SEC no-action letter (April 13, 1988), Morgan Stanley & Co. Inc., SEC no-action letter (June 5, 1991) and Shearman & Sterling, SEC no-action letter (July 2, 1993), we believe that you may offer for resale, resell or otherwise transfer the Exchange Notes without compliance with the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act. However, in some instances described in this prospectus under "Plan of Distribution," you will remain obligated to comply with the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act to transfer your Exchange Notes. In these cases, if you transfer any Exchange Notes under the Securities Act or without an exemption from registration of your Exchange Notes under the Securities Act, you may incur liability under the Securities Act. We do not and will not assume, or indemnify you against, this liability.

- 11 -

Risks Related to the Notes

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness, including the Notes, and may be forced to take other actions to satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness, which may not be successful.

Our ability to make scheduled payments on or refinance our debt obligations, including the Notes, depends on our financial condition and operating performance, which are subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to certain financial, business, legislative, regulatory and other factors beyond our control. We may be unable to maintain a level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to permit us to pay the principal, premium, if any, and interest on our indebtedness, including the Notes.

If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we could face substantial liquidity problems and could be forced to reduce or delay investments and capital expenditures or to dispose of material assets or operations, seek additional debt or equity capital or restructure or refinance our indebtedness, including the Notes. We may not be able to effect any such alternative measures, if necessary, on commercially reasonable terms or at all and, even if successful, those alternative actions may not allow us to meet our scheduled debt service obligations. The credit agreement that governs our senior secured credit facility, as described in "Description of Other Indebtedness" (the "credit agreement") restricts our ability to dispose of assets and use the proceeds from those dispositions and may also restrict our ability to raise debt or equity capital to be used to repay other indebtedness when it becomes due. We may not be able to consummate those dispositions or to obtain proceeds in an amount sufficient to meet any debt service obligations then due. See "Description of Other Indebtedness."

In addition, we conduct our operations through our subsidiaries, certain of which are not, or in the future may not be, guarantors of the Notes or our other indebtedness. Accordingly, repayment of our indebtedness, including the Notes, is dependent on the generation of cash flow by our subsidiaries and their ability to make such cash available to us, by dividend, debt repayment or otherwise. Unless they are guarantors of the Notes or our other indebtedness, our subsidiaries do not have any obligation to pay amounts due on the Notes or our other indebtedness or to make funds available for that purpose. Our subsidiaries may not be able to, or may not be permitted to, make distributions to enable us to make payments in respect of our indebtedness, including the Notes. Each subsidiaries. While the agreements governing certain of our other existing indebtedness limit the ability of our subsidiaries to incur consensual restrictions on their ability to pay dividends or make other intercompany payments to us, these limitations are subject to qualifications and exceptions. In the event that we do not receive distributions from our subsidiaries, we may be unable to make required principal and interest payments on our indebtedness, including the Notes.

Our inability to generate sufficient cash flows to satisfy our debt obligations, or to refinance our indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms or at all, would materially and adversely affect our financial position and results of operations and our ability to satisfy our obligations under the Notes.

If we cannot make scheduled payments on our debt, we will be in default and holders of the Notes could declare all outstanding principal and interest to be due and payable, the lenders under our credit agreement could terminate their commitments to loan money, our secured lenders could foreclose against the assets securing their borrowings and we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation. All of these events could result in your losing your investment in the Notes offered hereby.

Despite our current level of indebtedness, we and our subsidiaries may still be able to incur substantially more debt. This could further exacerbate the risks to our financial condition described above.

We and our subsidiaries may be able to incur significant additional indebtedness in the future. Although our credit agreement contains restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness and our credit agreement and the Notes contain restrictions on our ability to incur liens to secure additional indebtedness, these restrictions are

- 12 -

subject to a number of qualifications and exceptions, and the additional indebtedness incurred in compliance with these restrictions could be substantial. These restrictions also will not prevent us from incurring obligations that do not constitute indebtedness. In addition, if we incur any additional indebtedness secured by liens that rank equally with the Notes, subject to collateral arrangements, the holders of that debt will be entitled to share ratably with you in any proceeds distributed in connection with any insolvency, liquidation, reorganization, dissolution or other winding up of our company. This may have the effect of reducing the amount of proceeds paid to you. These restrictions also will not prevent us from incurring obligations that do not constitute indebtedness. In addition, as of September 30, 2022, our credit agreement provided for unused commitments of \$1.007 billion. In addition, the credit agreement allows us to request additional amounts such that the pro forma consolidated secured leverage ratio is not more than 3.75 to 1.00, and amounts borrowed under any such commitments would be secured on a first-priority lien basis by the same collateral securing our credit agreement and the Notes. We also had \$20 million of capacity as of September 30, 2022 pursuant to the terms of our accounts receivable securitization program. If new debt is added to our current anticipated debt levels, the related risks that we and the subsidiary guarantors now face could intensify. See "Description of Other Indebtedness" and "Description of the Notes."

The terms of our credit agreement and the indentures governing the Notes restrict our current and future operations, particularly our ability to respond to changes or to take certain actions.

Our credit agreement contains a number of restrictive covenants that impose significant operating and financial restrictions on us and may limit our ability to engage in acts that may be in our long-term best interest, including restrictions on our ability to:

- incur additional indebtedness and guarantee indebtedness;
- pay dividends or make other distributions or repurchase or redeem capital stock;
- prepay, redeem or repurchase certain debt;
- make loans and investments;
- sell assets;
- incur liens;
- enter into transactions with affiliates;
- alter the businesses we conduct;
- · enter into agreements restricting our subsidiaries' ability to pay dividends; and
- consolidate, merge or sell all or substantially all of our assets.

In addition, the restrictive covenants in the credit agreement require us to maintain specified financial ratios and satisfy other financial condition tests. Our ability to meet those financial ratios and tests may be affected by events beyond our control, and we may be unable to meet them. You should read the discussions under the headings "Description of Other Indebtedness" and "Description of the Notes—Certain Covenants" for further information about these covenants.

A breach of the covenants under our credit agreement or under the indentures governing the Notes could result in an event of default under the applicable indebtedness. Such a default may allow the creditors to accelerate the related debt and may result in the acceleration of any other debt to which a cross-acceleration or cross-default provision applies. In addition, an event of default under our credit agreement would permit the lenders to terminate all commitments to extend further credit under the credit agreement. In the event our lenders or noteholders accelerate the repayment of our borrowings, we and our subsidiaries may not have sufficient assets to repay that indebtedness. As a result of these restrictions, we may be:

- limited in how we conduct our business;
- unable to raise additional debt or equity financing to operate during general economic or business downturns; or

- 13 -

• unable to compete effectively or to take advantage of new business opportunities.

These restrictions may affect our ability to grow in accordance with our strategy. In addition, our financial results, our substantial indebtedness and our credit ratings could adversely affect the availability and terms of our financing.

Our variable rate indebtedness subjects us to interest rate risk, which could cause our debt service obligations to increase significantly.

Borrowings under our credit agreement are at variable rates of interest and expose us to interest rate risk. If interest rates increase, our debt service obligations on the variable rate indebtedness will increase even though the amount borrowed remained the same, and our net income and cash flows, including cash available for servicing our indebtedness, will correspondingly decrease. Assuming all revolving loans are fully drawn, each quarter point change in interest rates would result in a \$3 million change in annual interest expense on our indebtedness under our revolving credit facility.

Even though the holders of the Notes will benefit from a first-priority lien on the collateral that secures our credit agreement, the representative of the lenders under the credit agreement will initially control actions with respect to that collateral.

Under the security agreement that relates to the collateral in which the lenders under the credit agreement and the holders of the Notes, any actions that may be taken with respect to such collateral (including the ability to commence any judicial or non-judicial foreclosure proceedings with respect to, seek to have a trustee, receiver, liquidator or similar official appointed for or over, attempt any action to take possession of, exercise any right, remedy or power with respect to, or otherwise take any action to enforce its interests in or realize upon, or take any other action available to it in respect of, such collateral) will be at the direction of the authorized representative of the lenders under the credit agreement until the earlier of (1) our obligations under the credit agreement are discharged (which discharge does not include certain refinancings or replacements of the credit agreement) and (2) 90 days after the occurrence of an event of default under the indentures governing the Notes or other applicable agreements for a series of first priority lien obligations. Under the circumstances described in clause (2) of the preceding sentence, the authorized representative of the holders of the indebtedness that represents the largest outstanding principal amount of indebtedness secured by a first-priority lien on the collateral (other than the credit agreement) and has complied with the applicable notice provisions gains the right to take actions with respect to the collateral.

Even if the authorized representative of the Notes gains the right to direct the collateral agent in the circumstances described in clause (2) above, the authorized representative must stop doing so (and those powers with respect to the collateral would revert to the authorized representative of the lenders' authorized representative has commenced and is diligently pursuing any enforcement action with respect to the collateral or the grantor of the security interest in that collateral (whether our company or the applicable guarantor) is then a debtor under or with respect to (or otherwise subject to) an insolvency or liquidation proceeding.

In addition, the credit agreement and the indentures governing the Notes permit us to issue additional series of Notes that also have a first-priority lien on the same collateral. As explained above, any time that the representative of the lenders under the credit agreement does not have the right to take actions with respect to the collateral, that right passes to the authorized representative of the holders of the next largest outstanding principal amount of indebtedness secured by a first-priority lien on the collateral. If we issue additional first lien debt in the future in a greater principal amount than the aggregate principal amount of the Notes, then the authorized representative for those additional Notes would be earlier in line to exercise rights than the applicable authorized representative for the Notes offered hereby.

- 14 -

The Notes will be structurally subordinated to all obligations of our existing and future subsidiaries that are not and do not become guarantors of the Notes.

The Notes will be guaranteed by each of our existing and subsequently acquired or organized restricted subsidiaries that guarantee the credit agreement, any other first lien obligations or any junior lien obligations or, if no such indebtedness is outstanding, by any such restricted subsidiaries that guarantee certain of our indebtedness or indebtedness of another guarantor in excess of \$50 million. Our subsidiaries that do not guarantee the Notes, including all of our non-domestic subsidiaries, will have no obligation, contingent or otherwise, to pay amounts due under the Notes or to make any funds available to pay those amounts, whether by dividend, distribution, loan or other payment. The Notes and Guarantees will be structurally subordinated to all indebtedness and other obligations of any non-guarantor subsidiary such that in the event of insolvency, liquidation, reorganization, dissolution or other winding up of any subsidiary that is not a guarantor, all of that subsidiary's creditors (including trade creditors and preferred stockholders, if any) would be entitled to payment in full out of that subsidiary's assets before we would be entitled to any payment.

In addition, the credit agreement, subject to some limitations, and the indentures governing the Notes permit these subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness and will not contain any limitation on the amount of other liabilities, such as trade payables, that may be incurred by these subsidiaries.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, our subsidiaries in the United Kingdom, which are non-guarantor subsidiaries, represented approximately 5% of our net revenues, and together with our remaining non-guarantor subsidiaries represented less than 19% of our net revenues. As of September 30, 2022, subsidiaries in the United Kingdom, which are non-guarantor subsidiaries, represented approximately 3% of our total assets excluding intercompany assets, and together with our remaining non-guarantor subsidiaries represented less than 20% of our total assets excluding intercompany assets. As of September 30, 2022, our non-guarantor subsidiaries had less than \$23 million of long-term debt.

The Guarantees may be automatically released upon the occurrence of certain events.

Our subsidiaries that provide, or will provide, Guarantees will be automatically released upon the occurrence of certain events, including the following:

- if the Notes have an investment grade rating from both Moody's and S&P, no default has occurred and is continuing, and the liens on the collateral securing all first lien obligations (including the credit agreement) and any junior lien obligations have been released; provided that the guarantees are also released under all other first lien obligations and junior lien obligations;
- the designation of that subsidiary guarantor as an unrestricted subsidiary;
- the release or discharge of the Guarantee by such subsidiary guarantor, any other first lien obligations and any junior lien obligations (and
 if the subsidiary guarantor has become a guarantor under any "additional indebtedness" (as defined in "Description of the Notes"), the
 release or discharge of the guarantee by such subsidiary guarantor of such additional indebtedness), including any other guarantee that
 resulted in the creation of such guarantee, except (i) a discharge or release by or as a result of payment under such guarantee or (ii) by
 reason on the termination of our senior credit facility; or
- the sale or other disposition, including the sale of substantially all the assets, of that subsidiary guarantor.

If any Guarantee is released, no holder of the Notes will have a claim as a creditor against that subsidiary, and the indebtedness and other liabilities, including trade payables and preferred stock, if any, whether secured or unsecured, of that subsidiary will be effectively senior to the claim of any holders of the Notes. See "Description of the Notes—Guarantees."

- 15 -

There may not be sufficient collateral to pay all or any of the Notes.

No appraisal of the value of the collateral has been made in connection with the exchange offer, and the value of the collateral in the event of liquidation will depend on market and economic conditions, the availability of buyers and other factors. Consequently, liquidating the collateral securing the Notes may not produce proceeds in an amount sufficient to pay any amounts due on the Notes.

The fair market value of the collateral securing the Notes is subject to fluctuations based on factors that include, among others, the markets for the collateral, the ability to sell the collateral in an orderly sale, general economic conditions, the availability of buyers and similar factors. The amount to be received upon a sale of the collateral would be dependent on numerous factors, including but not limited to the actual fair market value of the collateral at such time and the timing and the manner of the sale. By its nature, portions of the collateral may be illiquid and may have no readily ascertainable market value. In the event of a foreclosure, liquidation, bankruptcy or similar proceeding, the proceeds from any sale or liquidation of this collateral may not be sufficient to pay our obligations under the Notes.

The collateral securing the Notes also secures obligations under the credit agreement and may, subject to the terms of the credit agreement and the indentures governing the Notes, be pledged to secure other first lien and junior lien obligations. The amount of any such additional indebtedness secured by the collateral may be substantial. In the event of a bankruptcy of us or any of the secured guarantors, holders of the Notes may be deemed to have an unsecured claim to the extent that our obligations in respect of the Notes and other indebtedness secured by a first priority lien exceed the fair market value of the collateral securing the Notes. In any bankruptcy proceeding with respect to us or any of the secured guarantors, the bankruptcy trustee, the debtor-in-possession or competing creditors may assert that the fair market value of the collateral with respect to the Notes and other indebtedness secured by a first priority lien on the date of the bankruptcy filing was less than the then-current principal amount of the Notes and other indebtedness secured by a first priority lien. Upon a finding by the bankruptcy court that the Notes are undercollateralized, the claims in the bankruptcy proceeding with respect to the Notes would be bifurcated between a secured claim and an unsecured claim, and the unsecured claim would not be entitled to the benefits of security in the collateral. In such event, the secured claims of the Notes and other indebtedness secured by a first priority lien would be limited to the value of the collateral.

Certain assets will be excluded from the collateral.

Certain assets are excluded from the collateral securing the Notes, as described under "--Certain Limitations on the Collateral" in the "Description of the Notes," including the following:

- any interest in fee-owned real property of UHS and the subsidiary guarantors;
- any voting stock of any foreign subsidiaries in excess of 65% of the voting stock of those foreign subsidiaries, and any assets of foreign subsidiaries, unless any such foreign subsidiary is required to become a guarantor under the indentures governing the Notes;
- any deposit accounts (as defined in the New York Uniform Commercial Code);
- receivables sold pursuant to our accounts receivable securitization program or other receivables financing facilities up to a maximum purchase price or loan of the greater of \$600.0 million and 50% of the sum of (x) our accounts receivable, as set forth on our most recent balance sheet from time to time plus (y) the allowance for doubtful accounts with respect to such accounts receivable as set forth in the footnotes to our financial statements; and
- items as to which a security interest cannot be granted without violating contract rights or applicable law and certain licenses in which a security interest cannot be created without breach of such license or applicable law.

- 16 -

In addition, in the future, we may elect, in our discretion, to provide unsecured guarantees of the Notes from certain other restricted subsidiaries that are not secured guarantors. If were elect to add unsecured guarantees, any assets held by those unsecured guarantors would not be included in the collateral securing the Notes.

If an event of default occurs and the Notes are accelerated, the Notes will rank equally with the holders of other unsubordinated and unsecured indebtedness with respect to those excluded assets. To the extent the claims of note holders exceed the value of the assets securing the Notes and other liabilities, claims related to the excluded assets will rank equally with the claims of the holders of any other unsecured indebtedness and other indebtedness secured by a first priority lien.

Your rights in the collateral may be adversely affected by the failure to perfect security interests in certain collateral acquired in the future.

The trustee and the collateral agent have no obligation to monitor, and we may fail to inform the trustee or the collateral agent of, the future acquisition of property and rights that constitute collateral, and necessary action may not be taken to properly perfect the security interest in that afteracquired collateral. The collateral agent for the Notes also has no obligation to monitor the perfection of any security interest in favor of the Notes against third parties. This failure may result in the loss of the security interest in any additional property or rights that constitute collateral or the priority of the security interest in favor of the Notes against third parties.

There are circumstances other than repayment or discharge of the Notes under which the collateral securing the Notes and Guarantees will be released automatically, without your consent or the consent of the trustee.

Under various circumstances, collateral securing the Notes will be released automatically, including:

- a sale, transfer or other disposal of the collateral in a transaction not prohibited under the indentures governing the Notes;
- with respect to collateral held by one or more secured guarantors, upon the release of those secured guarantors from their Guarantees;
- to the extent that such collateral is released or no longer required to be pledged pursuant to the terms of the credit agreement, any other first lien obligations and any junior lien obligations;
- with the consent of the holders of at least 75% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding and affected thereby; and
- following any date that the Notes have an investment grade rating from both Moody's and S&P, no default has occurred and is continuing, and the liens on the collateral securing all first lien obligations (including the credit agreement) and any junior lien obligations have been released.

If we were to receive investment grade corporate ratings from both rating agencies and the other conditions to release of the collateral under the credit agreement are met, or if we were to amend the credit agreement in the future to otherwise permit the release of the collateral, the collateral securing the Notes and the Guarantees will be released. In that case, you would have an unsecured claim under the Notes. We cannot assure you whether this will occur, nor can we predict whether any subsequent downgrade by one or both of the rating agencies may occur.

If the other conditions described in the last bullet point above are met, the collateral will be automatically released, and we and the secured guarantors will not be required to pledge the collateral for the benefit of the noteholders if the rating of the Notes by either rating agency is later downgraded below investment grade, even though we would be required to pledge the collateral for the benefit of the lenders under the credit agreement.

If such a circumstance were to occur, the Notes would be subordinated to the borrowings under the credit agreement, and any other first lien obligations and junior lien obligations under which the lien on the collateral is not released, to the extent of the value of that collateral.

- 17 -

The indentures governing the Notes also permit us to designate one or more of our restricted subsidiaries that is a subsidiary guarantor of the Notes as an unrestricted subsidiary. If we designate a subsidiary guarantor as an unrestricted subsidiary for purposes of the indenture, all of the liens on any collateral owned by such subsidiary or any of its subsidiaries and any guarantees of the Notes by such subsidiary or any of its subsidiaries will be released under the indentures governing the Notes but not necessarily under our credit agreement. Designation of an unrestricted subsidiary will reduce the aggregate value of the collateral securing the Notes to the extent that liens on the assets of the unrestricted subsidiary and its subsidiary and its subsidiaries will have a senior claim on the assets of such unrestricted subsidiary and its subsidiaries.

We will in most cases have control over the collateral.

The security documents generally allow us and the secured guarantors to remain in possession of, to retain exclusive control over, to freely operate, and to collect, invest and dispose of any income from, the collateral. These rights may adversely affect the value of the collateral at any time.

In the event of our bankruptcy, the ability of the holders of the Notes to realize upon the collateral will be subject to certain bankruptcy law limitations.

The ability of holders of the Notes to realize upon the collateral will be subject to certain bankruptcy law limitations in the event of our bankruptcy. Under applicable federal bankruptcy laws, upon the commencement of a bankruptcy case, an automatic stay goes into effect that, among other things, stays:

- the commencement or continuation of any action or proceeding against the debtor that was or could have been commenced before the commencement of the bankruptcy case to recover a claim against the debtor that arose before the commencement of the bankruptcy case;
- any act to obtain possession of, or control over, property of the bankruptcy estate or the debtor;
- any act to create, perfect or enforce any lien against property of the bankruptcy estate; and
- any act to collect or recover a claim against the debtor that arose before the commencement of the bankruptcy case.

Thus, upon the commencement of a bankruptcy case, secured creditors are prohibited from repossessing their collateral from a debtor, or from disposing of that collateral repossessed from such a debtor, without bankruptcy court approval. Moreover, applicable federal bankruptcy laws generally permit the debtor to continue to use, sell or lease collateral in the ordinary course of its business even though the debtor is in default under the applicable debt instruments. Upon request from a secured creditor, the bankruptcy court will prohibit or condition the use, sale or lease of collateral as is necessary to provide "adequate protection" of the secured creditor's interest in the collateral. The meaning of the term "adequate protection" may vary according to the circumstances but is intended generally to protect the value of the secured creditor's interest in the collateral at the commencement of the bankruptcy case and may include cash payments or the granting of additional security, if and at such times as the court in its discretion determines any diminution in the value of the collateral occurs as a result of the debtor's use, sale or lease of the collateral during the pendency of the bankruptcy case. In view of the lack of a precise definition of the term "adequate protection" and the broad discretionary powers of a U.S. bankruptcy court, we cannot predict whether payments under the Notes would be made following commencement of and during a bankruptcy case, whether or when the trustee or collateral agent under the indenture could foreclose upon or sell the collateral or whether or to what extent holders of Notes would be compensated for any delay in payment or loss of value as a result of the use, sale or lease of their collateral through the requirement of "adequate protection." A creditor may seek relief from the stay from the bankruptcy court to take any of the acts described above that would otherwise be prohibited by the automatic stay.

- 18 -

Any future pledge of collateral in favor of the holders of Notes might be voidable in bankruptcy.

Any future pledge of collateral in favor of the holders of Notes, including pursuant to the security documents delivered after the date of the indentures governing the Notes, might be voidable by the pledgor (as debtor in possession) or by its trustee in bankruptcy if certain events or circumstances exist or occur, including, under the bankruptcy code, if the pledgor is insolvent at the time of the pledge, the pledge permits the holders of Notes to receive a greater recovery than if the pledge had not been given and a bankruptcy proceeding in respect of the pledgor is commenced with 90 days following the pledge, or, in certain circumstances, a longer period.

The value of the collateral securing the Notes may not be sufficient to secure post-petition interest.

In the event of a bankruptcy, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or similar proceeding against us, holders of the Notes will only be entitled to post-petition interest under the bankruptcy code to the extent that the value of their security interest in the collateral is greater than their pre-bankruptcy claim. Holders of the Notes that have a security interest in the collateral with a value equal to or less than their pre-bankruptcy claim will not be entitled to post-petition interest under the bankruptcy code. No appraisal of the fair market value of the collateral has been prepared in connection with this offering, and the value of the holders' interest in the collateral may not equal or exceed the principal amount of the Notes.

We may be required to, but not be able to, repurchase the Notes upon a change of control.

Pursuant to the terms of the indentures governing the Notes, if the Notes do not have investment grade ratings from one or both of Moody's and S&P, then we will be required to offer to repurchase the Notes if we enter into an agreement to undertake a transaction that would result in a specified kind of change of control, we will be required to offer to repurchase all outstanding Notes at 101% of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the purchase date. Additionally, under the credit agreement, a change of control (as defined therein) constitutes an event of default that permits the lenders to accelerate the maturity of borrowings under the respective agreements and terminate their commitments to lend. The source of funds for any purchase of the Notes and repayment of borrowings under our credit agreement would be our available cash or cash generated from our subsidiaries' operations or other sources, including borrowings, sales of assets or sales of equity. We may not be able to repurchase the Notes upon a change of control because we may not have sufficient financial resources to purchase all of the debt securities that are tendered upon a change of control and repay our other indebtedness that will become due. If we fail to repurchase the Notes in that circumstance, we will be in default under the indentures governing the Notes. We may require additional financing from third parties to fund any such purchases, and we may be unable to obtain financing on satisfactory terms or at all. Further, our ability to repurchase the Notes may be limited by law. In order to avoid the obligations to repurchase the Notes and events of default and potential breaches of the credit agreement, we may have to avoid certain change of control transactions that would otherwise be beneficial to us.

In addition, some important corporate events, such as leveraged recapitalizations, may not, under the indentures governing the Notes, constitute a "change of control" that would require us to repurchase the Notes, even though those corporate events could increase the level of our indebtedness or otherwise adversely affect our capital structure, credit ratings or the value of the Notes. See "Description of the Notes—Repurchase at the Option of Holders—Change of Control Following a Downgrade from Investment Grade Ratings."

The exercise by the holders of Notes of their right to require us to repurchase the Notes pursuant to a change of control offer could cause a default under the agreements governing our other indebtedness, including future agreements, even if the change of control itself does not, due to the financial effect of such repurchases on us. In the event a change of control offer is required to be made at a time when we are prohibited from purchasing Notes, we could attempt to refinance the borrowings that contain such prohibitions. If we do not obtain a consent or repay those borrowings, we will remain prohibited from purchasing Notes. In that case, our failure to purchase tendered Notes would constitute an event of default under the indentures governing the Notes which could, in turn, constitute a default under our other indebtedness. Further, our ability to pay cash to the holders of Notes upon a repurchase may be limited by our then existing financial resources.

- 19 -

Holders of the Notes may not be able to determine when a change of control giving rise to their right to have the Notes repurchased has occurred following a sale of "substantially all" of our assets, if that covenant is then in effect.

The definition of change of control in the indentures governing the Notes includes a phrase relating to the sale or disposition of "all or substantially all" of our assets. There is no precise established definition of the phrase "substantially all" under applicable law, and the interpretation of that phrase will likely depend upon particular facts and circumstances. Accordingly, the ability of a holder of Notes to require us, if the covenant is then applicable, to repurchase its Notes as a result of a sale of less than all our assets to another person may be uncertain.

Federal and state fraudulent transfer laws may permit a court to void the Notes, the Guarantees and/or the grant of collateral, and if that occurs, you may not receive any payments on the Notes.

Federal and state fraudulent transfer and conveyance statutes may apply to the issuance of the Notes and the incurrence of the Guarantees. Under federal bankruptcy law and comparable provisions of state fraudulent transfer or conveyance laws, which may vary from state to state, the Notes or the Guarantees (or the grant of collateral securing any such obligations) could be voided as a fraudulent transfer or conveyance if we or any of the subsidiary guarantors, as applicable, (a) issued the Notes or incurred the Guarantees with the intent of hindering, delaying or defrauding creditors or (b) received less than reasonably equivalent value or fair consideration in return for either issuing the Notes or incurring the Guarantees and, in the case of (b) only, one of the following is also true at the time thereof:

- we or any of the subsidiary guarantors, as applicable, were insolvent or rendered insolvent by reason of the issuance of the Notes or the incurrence of the Guarantees;
- the issuance of the Notes or the incurrence of the Guarantees left us or any of the subsidiary guarantors, as applicable, with an unreasonably small amount of capital or assets to carry on the business;
- we or any of the subsidiary guarantors intended to, or believed that we or such guarantor would, incur debts beyond our or the subsidiary guarantor's ability to pay as they mature; or
- we or any of the subsidiary guarantors were a defendant in an action for money damages, or had a judgment for money damages docketed against us or the subsidiary guarantor if, in either case, the judgment is unsatisfied after final judgment.

As a general matter, value is given for a transfer or an obligation if, in exchange for the transfer or obligation, property is transferred or a valid antecedent debt is secured or satisfied. A court would likely find that a subsidiary guarantor did not receive reasonably equivalent value or fair consideration for its guarantee to the extent the subsidiary guarantor did not obtain a reasonably equivalent benefit directly or indirectly from the issuance of the Notes.

We cannot be certain as to the standards a court would use to determine whether or not we or the subsidiary guarantors were insolvent at the relevant time or, regardless of the standard that a court uses, whether the Notes or the Guarantees would be subordinated to our or any of our guarantors' other debt. In general, however, a court would deem an entity insolvent if:

- the sum of its debts, including contingent and unliquidated liabilities, was greater than the fair saleable value of all of its assets;
- the present fair saleable value of its assets was less than the amount that would be required to pay its probable liability on its existing debts, including contingent liabilities, as they become absolute and mature; or it could not pay its debts as they became due.

If a court were to find that the issuance of the Notes or the incurrence of a Guarantee or the grant of security interest was a fraudulent transfer or conveyance, the court could void the payment obligations under the Notes or

- 20 -

that Guarantee, void the grant of collateral, subordinate the Notes or that Guarantee to presently existing and future indebtedness of ours or of the related guarantor or could require the holders of the Notes to repay any amounts received with respect to that Guarantee. In the event of a finding that a fraudulent transfer or conveyance occurred, you may not receive any repayment on the Notes. Further, the avoidance of the Notes could result in an event of default with respect to our and our subsidiaries' other debt that could result in acceleration of that debt.

Finally, as a court of equity, the bankruptcy court may subordinate the claims in respect of the Notes to other claims against us under the principle of equitable subordination if the court determines that (1) the holder of Notes engaged in some type of inequitable conduct, (2) the inequitable conduct resulted in injury to our other creditors or conferred an unfair advantage upon the holders of Notes and (3) equitable subordination is not inconsistent with the provisions of the bankruptcy code.

A lowering or withdrawal of the ratings assigned to our debt securities by rating agencies may increase our future borrowing costs and reduce our access to capital.

Any rating assigned to our debt could be lowered or withdrawn entirely by a rating agency if, in that rating agency's judgment, future circumstances relating to the basis of the rating, such as adverse changes, so warrant. Consequently, real or anticipated changes in our credit ratings will generally affect the market value of the Notes. Credit ratings are not recommendations to purchase, hold or sell the Notes. Additionally, credit ratings may not reflect the potential effect of risks relating to the structure or marketing of the Notes.

Any future lowering of our ratings likely would make it more difficult or more expensive for us to obtain additional debt financing. If any credit rating initially assigned to the Notes is subsequently lowered or withdrawn for any reason, you may not be able to resell your Notes without a substantial discount.

- 21 -

USE OF PROCEEDS

We will not receive any cash proceeds from the issuance of the Exchange Notes. We are making this exchange offer solely to satisfy our obligations under the registration rights agreements entered into in connection with the offering of the Original Notes. In consideration for issuing the Exchange Notes as contemplated in this prospectus, we will receive in exchange Original Notes in like principal amount, which will be cancelled, and, as such, issuing the Exchange Notes will not result in any increase in our indebtedness or be financed with new borrowings.

THE EXCHANGE OFFER

Purpose of the Exchange Offer

We entered into registration rights agreements (the "registration rights agreements") with the initial purchasers of the Original Notes, one agreement relating to the 2030 Original Notes and another agreement relating to the 2026 Original Notes and the 2032 Original Notes. In the registration rights agreements, we and the subsidiary guarantors agreed to, at our cost:

- use our commercially reasonable best efforts to file a registration statement (which we refer to as an exchange offer registration statement) with the SEC with respect to a registered exchange offer (which we refer to as the "Exchange Offer") to exchange each series of Original Notes for new Exchange Notes, guaranteed by the subsidiary guarantors and having terms identical in all material respects to the Original Notes (except that the Exchange Notes will not contain terms with respect to transfer restrictions or additional interest (as defined below)); and
- use our commercially best reasonable efforts to cause the registration statement relating to the Exchange Offer to be declared effective under the Securities Act and to consummate the Exchange Offer not later than 60 days after such effective date.

In addition, we agreed to provide that upon the effectiveness of the registration statement relating to the Exchange Offer, we would promptly commence the Exchange Offer, whereby the Exchange Notes will be offered in exchange for surrender of the Original Notes, and that we will keep the registered Exchange Offer open for not less than 20 business days (or longer if required by applicable law including in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 14E under the Exchange Act) after the date notice of the Exchange Offer is first mailed, sent or given to the noteholders. For each Original Note surrendered to us for exchange pursuant to the Exchange Offer, the holder of such Original Note will receive an Exchange Note having a principal amount equal to that of the surrendered Original Note.

Resale of Exchange Notes

Based on interpretations by the staff of the SEC, as described in no-action letters issued to third parties that are not related to us, including Morgan Stanley & Co., Inc. (available June 5, 1991) and Exxon Capital Holdings Corporation (available May 13, 1988), as interpreted in the SEC's letter to Shearman & Sterling LLP (dated July 2, 1993), we believe the Exchange Notes will be freely transferable by holders other than our affiliates after the Exchange Offer without further registration under the Securities Act if the holder of the Exchange Notes represents to us in the Exchange Offer that it is acquiring the Exchange Notes in the ordinary course of its business, that it has no arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in the distribution of the Exchange Notes and that it is not our affiliate, as such terms are interpreted by the SEC; provided, however, that broker-dealers ("Participating Broker-Dealers") receiving Exchange Notes in the Exchange Offer will have a prospectus delivery requirement with respect to resales of such Exchange Notes. We also believe that Participating Broker-Dealers may fulfill their prospectus delivery requirements with respect to Exchange Notes (other than a resale of an unsold allotment from the sale of the Original Notes) with this prospectus.

We have not entered into any arrangement or understanding with any person who will receive Exchange Notes in the Exchange Offer to distribute those securities following completion of the Exchange Offer. We are not aware of any person that will participate in the Exchange Offer with a view to distribute the Exchange Notes. If you tender your Original Notes in the Exchange Offer with the intention of participating in any manner in a distribution of the Exchange Notes, you:

- cannot rely on such interpretations of the SEC staff set forth in the no-action letters described above; and
- must comply with the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act in order to resell Exchange Notes, and be identified as an underwriter in the prospectus.

- 23 -

Unless an exemption from registration is otherwise available, the resale by any security holder intending to distribute Exchange Notes should be covered by an effective registration statement under the Securities Act containing the selling security holder's information required under the Securities Act. This prospectus may be used for an offer to resell, a resale or other retransfer of Exchange Notes only as specifically described in this prospectus. Each broker-dealer that receives Exchange Notes for its own account in exchange for Original Notes, where such Original Notes were acquired by such broker-dealer as a result of market-making or other trading activities, must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act (or, to the extent permitted by law, make available a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act to purchasers) in connection with any resale of such Exchange Notes. See "Plan of Distribution."

Shelf Registration

In the event that we and the subsidiary guarantors determine that a registered exchange offer is not available or may not be completed because it would violate any applicable law or applicable interpretations of the staff of the SEC or, if for any reason the Exchange Offer is not for any other reason completed on or prior to March 21, 2023 (in the case of the 2030 Original Notes) or February 24, 2024 (in the case of the 2026 Original Notes and the 2032 Original Notes), or, in certain circumstances, any initial purchaser so requests in connection with any offer or sale of Original Notes, we and the subsidiary guarantors will use our reasonable best efforts to file and to have become effective a shelf registration statement relating to resales of the notes and to keep that shelf registration statement effective until the date that the Original Notes cease to be "registrable securities" (as defined in the registration rights agreements), or such shorter period that will terminate when all Original Notes covered by the shelf registration statement have been sold pursuant to the shelf registration statement. We and the subsidiary guarantors will, in the event of such a shelf registration, provide to each participating holder of Original Notes copies of a prospectus, notify each participating holder of Original Notes when the shelf registration statement has become effective and take certain other actions to permit resales of the Original Notes. A holder of Original Notes that sells Original Notes under the shelf registration statement generally will be required to make certain representations to us (as described in the registration rights agreements), to be named as a selling security holder in the related prospectus and to deliver a prospectus to purchasers, will be subject to certain of the civil liability provisions under the Securities Act in connection with those sales and will be bound by the provisions of the registration rights agreement that are applicable to such a holder of Original Notes (including certain indemnification obligations). Holders of Original Notes will also be required to suspend their use of the prospectus included in the shelf registration statement under specified circumstances upon receipt of notice from UHS. Under applicable interpretations of the staff of the SEC, our affiliates will not be permitted to exchange their Original Notes for Exchange Notes in the Exchange Offer.

Additional Interest

If: (1)(a) we have not exchanged Exchange Notes for all Original Notes validly tendered in accordance with the terms of the Exchange Offer or, if a shelf registration statement is required and is not declared effective on or prior to March 21, 2023 (in the case of the 2030 Original Notes) or February 24, 2024 (in the case of the 2026 Original Notes and the 2032 Original Notes) or (b) we receive a request by an initial purchaser to file a shelf registration statement and it does not become effective by the later of March 21, 2023 (in the case of the 2030 Original Notes) or February 24, 2024 (in the case of the 2026 Original Notes and the 2032 Original Notes) or the 90th day following such request, or (2) if applicable, a shelf registration statement covering resales of the Original Notes has been declared effective and such shelf registration statement ceases to be effective or the prospectus contained therein ceases to be usable at any time during the required effectiveness period, and such failure to remain effective or be usable exists for more than 30 days (whether or not consecutive) or such shelf registration statement ceases to be effective on the principal amount of the notes that are "registrable securities" at a rate of 0.25% per annum (which rate will be increased by an additional interest accrues may in no event exceed

- 24 -

0.50% per annum) commencing on (a) March 21, 2023 (in the case of the 2030 Original Notes) or February 24, 2024 (in the case of the 2026 Original Notes and the 2032 Original Notes), in the case of (1) above, or (b) the Trigger Date, in the case of (2) above, until the Exchange Offer is completed or the shelf registration statement is declared effective or the prospectus again becomes usable, as applicable, or such notes cease to be "registrable securities."

Any amounts of additional interest due will be payable in cash on the same original interest payment dates as interest on the notes is payable. The exchange notes will be accepted for clearance through DTC.

This summary of the provisions of the registration rights agreements does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, all the provisions of the registration rights agreement, copies of which are available from us upon request.

Terms of the Exchange Offer

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions described in this prospectus and in the letter of transmittal, we will accept for exchange any Original Notes properly tendered and not withdrawn prior to the expiration time of the Exchange Offer. We will issue \$1,000 principal amount of Exchange Notes in exchange for each \$1,000 principal amount of Original Notes surrendered under the Exchange Offer and accepted by us. Original Notes may be tendered only in integral multiples of \$1,000, subject to a \$2,000 minimum, and untendered Original Notes may only be in a minimum denomination of \$2,000 and integral multiples of \$1,000 in excess thereof.

The terms of the Exchange Notes are identical in all material respects to those of the Original Notes, except the Exchange Notes will not be subject to transfer restrictions and holders of the Exchange Notes, with limited exceptions, will have no registration rights. Also, the Exchange Notes will not include provisions contained in the Original Notes that required payment of additional interest in the event we failed to satisfy our registration obligations with respect to the Original Notes. Each series of Exchange Notes will be issued under and entitled to the benefits of the same indenture that authorized the issuance of the related Original Notes.

The Exchange Offer is not conditioned on any minimum aggregate principal amount of Original Notes being tendered for exchange.

As of the date of this prospectus, \$700,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 2026 Original Notes, \$800,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 2030 Original Notes and \$500,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 2030 Original Notes are outstanding. This prospectus and the letter of transmittal are being sent to all registered holders of the Original Notes. There will be no fixed record date for determining registered holders of the Original Notes entitled to participate in the Exchange Offer.

We intend to conduct the Exchange Offer in accordance with the provisions of the registration rights agreements, the applicable requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, and the SEC rules and regulations. Original Notes that are not tendered for exchange in the Exchange Offer:

- will remain outstanding;
- will continue to accrue interest; and
- will be entitled to the rights and benefits that holders have under the indenture relating to such notes and, under limited circumstances, the registration rights agreements.

We will be deemed to have accepted for exchange properly tendered Original Notes when we have given written notice of the acceptance to the exchange agent and complied with the applicable provisions of the registration rights agreement. The exchange agent will act as agent for the tendering holders for the purposes of receiving the Exchange Notes from us. We will issue the Exchange Notes promptly after the expiration of the Exchange Offer.

- 25 -

If you tender Original Notes in the Exchange Offer, you will not be required to pay brokerage commissions or fees or, subject to the instructions in the letter of transmittal, transfer taxes with respect to the exchange of Original Notes. We will pay all charges and expenses, other than certain applicable taxes described below, in connection with the Exchange Offer. It is important that you read "—Fees and Expenses" below for more details about fees and expenses incurred in the Exchange Offer.

We will return any Original Notes that we do not accept for exchange for any reason without expense to the tendering holder as promptly as practicable after the expiration or termination of the Exchange Offer.

The Exchange Offer is not subject to any federal or state regulatory requirements or approvals other than securities laws and blue sky laws.

Expiration Time

The Exchange Offer will expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on December 22, 2022, unless at our sole discretion we extend the Exchange Offer.

Extensions, Delay in Acceptance, Termination or Amendment

We expressly reserve the right, at any time or at various times, to extend the period of time during which the Exchange Offer is open. We may delay acceptance for exchange of any Original Notes by giving oral or written notice of the extension to their holders. During any such extensions, all Original Notes you have previously tendered will remain subject to the Exchange Offer for that series, and we may accept them for exchange.

To extend the Exchange Offer, we will notify the exchange agent orally or in writing (if oral to be promptly confirmed in writing) of any extension. We also will make a public announcement of the extension no later than 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on the next business day after the previously scheduled expiration time.

If any of the conditions described below under "-Conditions to the Exchange Offer" have not been satisfied with respect to the Exchange Offer, we reserve the right, at our sole discretion:

- to extend the Exchange Offer;
- to delay accepting for exchange any Original Notes; or
- to terminate the Exchange Offer.

We will give oral or written notice (if oral to be promptly confirmed in writing) of such extension, delay or termination to the exchange agent. Subject to the terms of the registration rights agreement, we also reserve the right to amend the terms of the Exchange Offer in any manner.

Any such extension, delay in acceptance, termination or amendment will be followed as promptly as practicable by oral or written notice thereof to the registered holders of the Original Notes. If we amend the Exchange Offer in a manner that we determine to constitute a material change, we will promptly disclose that amendment by means of a prospectus supplement and we will extend the offer period if necessary so that at least five business days remain in the offer period following notice of the material change. We will distribute the supplement to the registered holders of the Original Notes. Depending on the significance of the amendment and the manner of disclosure to the registered holders, we may extend, pursuant to the terms of the registration rights agreement and the requirements of federal securities law, the Exchange Offer if the Exchange Offer would otherwise expire during such period.

Without limiting the manner in which we may choose to make public announcements of any extension, delay in acceptance, termination or amendment of the Exchange Offer, we have no obligation to publish, advertise or otherwise communicate any such public announcement, other than by making a timely release to an appropriate news agency.

- 26 -

Conditions to the Exchange Offer

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Exchange Offer and subject to the terms of the registration rights agreements, we will not be required to accept for exchange, or to issue Exchange Notes in exchange for, any Original Notes and may terminate or amend the Exchange Offer, if at any time before the expiration time of the Exchange Offer any of the following events occur:

- any injunction, order or decree has been issued by any court or any governmental agency that would prohibit, prevent or otherwise
 materially impair our ability to proceed with the Exchange Offer; or
- the Exchange Offer violates any applicable law or any applicable interpretation of the staff of the SEC.

In addition, we will not be obligated to accept for exchange the Original Notes of any holder that has not made to us:

- the representations described under "-Procedures for Tendering" and "Plan of Distribution;" and
- such other representations as may be reasonably necessary under applicable SEC rules, regulations or interpretations to make available to us an appropriate form for registering the Exchange Notes under the Securities Act.

We expressly reserve the right to amend or terminate the Exchange Offer notwithstanding the satisfaction of the foregoing, and to reject for exchange any Original Notes upon the occurrence of any of the conditions to the Exchange Offer specified above. We will give oral or written notice of any extension, non-acceptance, termination or amendment to the holders of the Original Notes as promptly as practicable.

These conditions are for our sole benefit, and we may assert them or waive them in whole or in part at any time or at various times at our sole discretion. Our failure at any time to exercise any of these rights will not mean that we have waived our rights. Each right will be deemed an ongoing right that we may assert at any time or at various times. If we waive a condition, we may be required to extend the expiration time of the Exchange Offer in order to comply with applicable securities laws.

In addition, we will not accept for exchange any Original Notes tendered, and will not issue Exchange Notes in exchange for any such Original Notes, if at such time any stop order has been threatened or is in effect with respect to the registration statement of which this prospectus constitutes a part or the qualification of the indentures relating to the Exchange Notes under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939.

Procedures for Tendering

How to Tender Generally

Only a holder of the Original Notes as determined by our records or those of U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee or DTC may tender Original Notes in the Exchange Offer. To tender in the Exchange Offer, a holder must either (1) comply with the procedures for physical tender or (2) comply with the automated tender offer program procedures of DTC, described below.

To complete a physical tender, a holder must:

- complete, sign and date the letter of transmittal or a facsimile of the letter of transmittal;
- have the signature on the letter of transmittal guaranteed if the letter of transmittal so requires;
- mail or deliver the letter of transmittal or facsimile to the exchange agent prior to the expiration time; and
- deliver the Original Notes to the exchange agent prior to the expiration time.

- 27 -

To be tendered effectively, the exchange agent must receive any physical delivery of the letter of transmittal and other required documents at its address provided above under "Prospectus Summary—The Exchange Agent" prior to the expiration time.

To complete a tender through DTC's automated tender offer program, the exchange agent must receive, prior to the expiration time, a timely confirmation of book-entry transfer of such Original Notes into the exchange agent's account at DTC according to the procedure for book-entry transfer described below or a properly transmitted agent's message.

The tender by a holder that is not withdrawn prior to the expiration time and our acceptance of that tender will constitute an agreement between the holder and us in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions described in this prospectus and in the letter of transmittal.

THE METHOD OF DELIVERY OF ORIGINAL NOTES, THE LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL AND ALL OTHER REQUIRED DOCUMENTS TO THE EXCHANGE AGENT IS AT YOUR ELECTION AND RISK. RATHER THAN MAIL THESE ITEMS, WE RECOMMEND THAT YOU USE AN OVERNIGHT OR HAND DELIVERY SERVICE. IN ALL CASES, YOU SHOULD ALLOW SUFFICIENT TIME TO ENSURE DELIVERY TO THE EXCHANGE AGENT BEFORE THE EXPIRATION TIME. YOU SHOULD NOT SEND THE LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL OR ORIGINAL NOTES TO US. YOU MAY REQUEST YOUR BROKER, DEALER, COMMERCIAL BANK, TRUST COMPANY OR OTHER NOMINEE TO EFFECT THE ABOVE TRANSACTIONS FOR YOU.

How to Tender if You Are a Beneficial Owner

If you beneficially own Original Notes that are registered in the name of a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee and you wish to tender those Original Notes, you should contact the registered holder as soon as possible and instruct the registered holder to tender on your behalf. If you are a beneficial owner and wish to tender on your own behalf, you must, prior to completing and executing the letter of transmittal and delivering your Original Notes, either:

- make appropriate arrangements to register ownership of the Original Notes in your name, or
- obtain a properly completed bond power from the registered holder of your Original Notes.

The transfer of registered ownership may take considerable time and may not be completed prior to the expiration time.

Signatures and Signature Guarantees

You must have signatures on a letter of transmittal or a notice of withdrawal described below under "—Withdrawal of Tenders" guaranteed by an eligible institution unless the Original Notes are tendered:

- by a registered holder who has not completed the box entitled "Special Issuance Instructions" or "Special Delivery Instructions" on the letter of transmittal; or
- for the account of an eligible institution.

An "eligible institution" is member firm of a registered national securities exchange or of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc., a commercial bank or trust company having an office or correspondent in the United States, or an eligible guarantor institution within the meaning of Rule 17Ad-15 under the Exchange Act, that is a member of one of the recognized signature guarantee programs identified in the letter of transmittal.

When Endorsements or Bond Powers Are Needed

If a person other than the registered holder of any Original Notes signs the letter of transmittal, the Original Notes must be endorsed or accompanied by a properly completed bond power. The registered holder must sign

- 28 -

the bond power as the registered holder's name appears on the Original Notes. An eligible institution must guarantee that signature.

If the letter of transmittal or any Original Notes or bond powers are signed by trustees, executors, administrators, guardians, attorneys-in-fact, or officers of corporations or others acting in a fiduciary or representative capacity, those persons should so indicate when signing. Unless we waive this requirement, they also must submit evidence satisfactory to us of their authority to deliver the letter of transmittal.

Tendering Through DTC's Automated Tender Offer Program

The exchange agent and DTC have confirmed that any financial institution that is a participant in DTC's system may use DTC's automated tender offer program to tender. Accordingly, participants in the program may, instead of physically completing and signing the letter of transmittal and delivering it to the exchange agent, transmit their acceptance of the Exchange Offer electronically. They may do so by causing DTC to transfer the Original Notes to the exchange agent in accordance with its procedures for transfer. DTC will then send an agent's message to the exchange agent.

An agent's message is a message transmitted by DTC to and received by the exchange agent and forming part of the book-entry confirmation, stating that:

- DTC has received an express acknowledgment from a participant in DTC's automated tender offer program that is tendering Original Notes that are the subject of such book-entry confirmation;
- the participant has received and agrees to be bound by the terms of the letter of transmittal, or in the case of an agent's message relating to guaranteed delivery, that such participant has received and agrees to be bound by the notice of guaranteed delivery; and
- we may enforce the agreement against such participant.

Determinations under the Exchange Offer

We will determine at our sole discretion all questions as to the validity, form, eligibility, time of receipt, acceptance of tendered Original Notes and withdrawal of tendered Original Notes. Our determination will be final and binding. We reserve the absolute right to reject any Original Notes not properly tendered or any Original Notes our acceptance of which, in the opinion of our counsel, might be unlawful. Our interpretation of the terms and conditions of the Exchange Offer, including the instructions in the letter of transmittal, will be final and binding on all parties.

Unless waived, any defects or irregularities in connection with tenders of Original Notes must be cured within such time as we determine. Neither we, the exchange agent nor any other person will be under any duty to give notification of defects or irregularities with respect to tenders of Original Notes, nor will we or those persons incur any liability for failure to give such notification. Tenders of Original Notes will not be deemed made until such defects or irregularities have been cured or waived. Any Original Notes received by the exchange agent that are not properly tendered and as to which the defects or irregularities have not been cured or waived will be returned to the tendering holder, unless otherwise provided in the letter of transmittal, as soon as practicable following the expiration time.

When We Will Issue Exchange Notes

In all cases, we will issue Exchange Notes for Original Notes that we have accepted for exchange in the Exchange Offer only after the exchange agent timely receives:

Original Notes or a timely book-entry confirmation of transfer of such Original Notes into the exchange agent's account at DTC; and

- 29 -

• a properly completed and duly executed letter of transmittal and all other required documents or a properly transmitted agent's message.

Return of Original Notes Not Accepted or Exchanged

If we do not accept any tendered Original Notes for exchange for any reason described in the terms and conditions of the Exchange Offer or if Original Notes are submitted for a greater principal amount than the holder desires to exchange, we will return the unaccepted or non-exchanged Original Notes without expense to their tendering holder. In the case of Original Notes tendered by book-entry transfer into the exchange agent's account at DTC according to the procedures described below, such non-exchanged Original Notes will be credited to an account maintained with DTC. These actions will occur as promptly as practicable after the expiration or termination of the Exchange Offer.

Your Representations to Us

By signing or agreeing to be bound by the letter of transmittal, you will represent to us that, among other things:

- you hold all right, title and interest in and to the Original Notes;
- you transfer all right, title and interest in the Original Notes to us in exchange for the Exchange Notes free and clear of all liens, encumbrances, or rights or interests of third parties;
- any Exchange Notes to be received by you will be acquired in the ordinary course of your business;
- you have no arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in a distribution (within the meaning of the Securities Act) of the Exchange Notes in violation of the provisions of the Securities Act;
- you are not an "affiliate" (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act) of UHS or any subsidiary guarantor, or if you are such an affiliate, you will comply with the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act to the extent applicable;
- you are not engaged in, and do not intend to engage in, a distribution of the Exchange Notes; and
- if you are a Participating Broker-Dealer that will receive Exchange Notes for your own account in exchange for Original Notes acquired as a result of market-making or other trading activities, you will deliver a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act (or, to the extent permitted by law, make available a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act to purchasers) in connection with any resale of such Exchange Notes.

Book-Entry Transfer

The exchange agent will make a request to establish an account with respect to the Original Notes at DTC for purposes of the Exchange Offer promptly after the date of this prospectus. Any financial institution participating in DTC's system may make book-entry delivery of Original Notes by causing DTC to transfer such Original Notes into the exchange agent's account at DTC in accordance with DTC's procedures for transfer.

Resales

Each broker-dealer that receives Exchange Notes for its own account in exchange for Original Notes, where such Original Notes were acquired by such broker-dealer as a result of market-making or other trading activities, must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act (or, to the extent permitted by law, make available a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act to purchasers) in connection with any resale of such Exchange Notes. See "Plan of Distribution."

- 30 -

Withdrawal of Tenders

Except as otherwise provided in this prospectus, you may withdraw your tender at any time prior to the expiration time. For a withdrawal to be effective:

- the exchange agent must receive a written notice of withdrawal prior to the expiration time at one of the addresses listed above under "Prospectus Summary—The Exchange Agent;" and
- the withdrawing holder must comply with the appropriate procedures of DTC's automated tender offer program.

Any notice of withdrawal must:

- specify the name of the person who tendered the Original Notes to be withdrawn;
- identify the Original Notes to be withdrawn, including the registration number or numbers and the principal amount of such Original Notes;
- be signed by the person who tendered the Original Notes in the same manner as the original signature on the letter of transmittal used to deposit those Original Notes or be accompanied by documents of transfer sufficient to permit the Trustee to register the transfer in the name of the person withdrawing the tender; and
- specify the name in which such Original Notes are to be registered, if different from that of the person who tendered the Original Notes.

If Original Notes have been tendered under the procedure for book-entry transfer described above, any notice of withdrawal must specify the name and number of the account at DTC to be credited with the withdrawn Original Notes and otherwise comply with the procedures of DTC.

We will determine all questions as to the validity, form, eligibility and time of receipt of notice of withdrawal, and our determination shall be final and binding on all parties. We will deem any Original Notes so withdrawn not to have been validly tendered for exchange for purposes of the Exchange Offer.

Any Original Notes that have been tendered for exchange but that are not exchanged for any reason will be returned to their holder without cost to the holder, or, in the case of Original Notes tendered by book-entry transfer into the exchange agent's account at DTC according to the procedures described above, such Original Notes will be credited to an account maintained with DTC for the Original Notes. This return or crediting will take place as soon as practicable after withdrawal, rejection of tender or termination of the Exchange Offer. You may retender properly withdrawn Original Notes by following one of the procedures described above under "—Procedures for Tendering" at any time on or prior to the expiration time.

Guaranteed Delivery Procedures

If you wish to tender your Original Notes but your Original Notes are not immediately available or you cannot deliver your Original Notes, the letter of transmittal or any other required documents to the exchange agent or comply with the procedures under DTC's Automatic Tender Offer Program in the case of Original Notes, prior to the expiration tine, you may still tender if:

- the tender is made through an eligible guarantor institution;
- prior to the expiration time, the exchange agent receives from such eligible guarantor institution either a properly completed and duly executed notice of guaranteed delivery, by facsimile transmission (if the notice of guaranteed delivery does not require a signature guarantee), mail, or hand delivery or a properly transmitted agent's message, that (1) sets forth your name and address, the certificate number(s) of such Original Notes and the principal amount of Original Notes tendered; (2) states that the tender is being made thereby; and (3) guarantees that, within three business days after the

- 31 -

expiration time, the letter of transmittal, or copy thereof, together with the Original Notes, and any other documents required by the letter of transmittal or a book-entry confirmation and agent's message, will be deposited by the eligible guarantor institution with the exchange agent; and

the exchange agent receives the properly completed and executed letter of transmittal and all other documents required by the letter of transmittal, as well as certificate(s) representing all tendered Original Notes in proper form for transfer or a book-entry confirmation of transfer of the Original Notes into the exchange agent's account at DTC and an agent's message within three business days after the expiration time.

Upon request, the exchange agent will send to you a form of notice of guaranteed delivery if you wish to tender your Original Notes according to the guaranteed delivery procedures.

Fees and Expenses

We will bear the expenses of soliciting tenders. The principal solicitation is being made by mail; however, we may make additional solicitation by facsimile, email, telephone or in person by our officers and regular employees and those of our affiliates.

We have not retained any dealer-manager in connection with the Exchange Offer and will not make any payments to broker-dealers or others soliciting acceptances of the Exchange Offer. We will, however, pay the exchange agent reasonable and customary fees for its services and reimburse it for its related reasonable out-of-pocket expenses. We may also pay brokerage houses and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries the reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by them in forwarding copies of this prospectus, letters of transmittal and related documents to the beneficial owners of the Original Notes and in handling or forwarding tenders for exchange.

We will pay cash expenses to be incurred in connection with the Exchange Offer. They include:

- SEC registration fees for the Exchange Notes;
- fees and expenses of the exchange agent and the trustee and exchange agent;
- accounting and legal fees;
- · printing costs; and
- related fees and expenses.

Transfer Taxes

If you tender your Original Notes for exchange, you will not be required to pay any transfer taxes. We will pay all transfer taxes, if any, applicable to the exchange of Original Notes in the Exchange Offer. The tendering holder will, however, be required to pay any transfer taxes, whether imposed on the registered holder or any other person, if:

- certificates representing Exchange Notes or Original Notes for principal amounts not tendered or accepted for exchange are to be delivered to, or are to be issued in the name of, any person other than the registered holder of the Original Notes tendered;
- tendered Original Notes are registered in the name of any person other than the person signing the letter of transmittal; or
- a transfer tax is imposed for any reason other than the exchange of Original Notes for Exchange Notes in the Exchange Offer.

- 32 -

If satisfactory evidence of payment of any transfer taxes payable by a tendering holder is not submitted with the letter of transmittal, the amount of the transfer taxes will be billed directly to that tendering holder. The exchange agent will retain possession of Exchange Notes with a face amount equal to the amount of the transfer taxes due until it receives payment of the taxes.

Accounting Treatment

We will record the Exchange Notes at the same carrying value as the Original Notes as reflected in our accounting records on the date of the exchange. Accordingly, we will not recognize any gain or loss for accounting purposes upon completion of the Exchange Offer.

Consequences of Failure to Exchange

If you do not exchange your Original Notes for Exchange Notes in the Exchange Offer, you will remain subject to the existing restrictions on transfer of the Original Notes. In general, you may not offer or sell the Original Notes unless either they are registered under the Securities Act or the offer or sale is exempt from or not subject to registration under the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. Except as required by the registration rights agreements, we do not intend to register resales of the Original Notes under the Securities Act. We generally have no obligation to re-offer to exchange the Exchange Notes for Original Notes following the expiration of the Exchange Offer. The tender of Original Notes in the Exchange Offer will reduce the outstanding principal amount of the Original Notes. Due to the corresponding reduction in liquidity, this may have an adverse effect on, and increase the volatility of, the market price of any Original Notes that you continue to hold. See "Risk Factors—Risks Related to the Exchange Offer—If you do not exchange your Original Notes, your Original Notes will continue to be subject to the existing transfer restrictions and you may be unable to sell your outstanding Original Notes."

Other

Participation in the Exchange Offer is voluntary, and you should carefully consider whether to accept. You are urged to consult your financial and tax advisors in making your decision on what action to take.

In the future, we may at our discretion seek to acquire untendered Original Notes in open market or privately negotiated transactions, through subsequent exchange offers or otherwise. We have no present plan to acquire any Original Notes that are not tendered in the Exchange Offer or to file a registration statement to permit resales of any untendered Original Notes, except as required by the registration rights agreements.

- 33 -

DESCRIPTION OF THE NOTES

This is a description of the particular terms of the 1.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2026 (the "2026 Original Notes"), the 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2032 (the "2032 Original Notes"), the 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2032 (the "2032 Original Notes" and, together with the 2026 Original Notes and the 2030 Original Notes, the "Original Notes"), the 1.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2026 (the "2026 Exchange Notes"), 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2032 (the "2032 Exchange Notes"), 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2030 (the "2030 Exchange Notes") and 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2032 (the "2032 Exchange Notes" and together with the 2026 Exchange Notes and the 2030 Exchange Notes, the "Exchange Notes"). In this description of the Notes, all references to "we," "us" or "our" and the "Company" are to Universal Health Services, Inc. only (the "Issuer") and not to any of its subsidiaries. Although for convenience the Original Notes and Exchange Notes are referred to as the "Notes," each series of Original Notes have been and each series of Exchange Notes will be issued as a separate series and will not together have any class voting rights. Accordingly, for purposes of this description of the notes, unless the context otherwise requires, references to the "Notes" shall be deemed to refer to each series of Notes separately, and not to the Original Notes and the Exchange Notes on a combined basis. In this description of the Notes, the 2026 Original Notes are referred to collectively as the "2020 Original Notes are referred to collectively as the "2026 Exchange Notes are referred to collectively as the "2026 Original Notes are referred to collectively as the "2026 Notes," the 2030 Original Notes and the 2030 Exchange Notes are referred to collectively as the "2030 Notes," and the 2032 Original Notes and the 2032 Exchange Notes are referred to collectively as the "2032 Exchange Notes are referred to collectively as the "2032 Notes."

We issued the 2030 Original Notes and we will issue the 2030 Exchange Notes under an indenture, dated as of September 21, 2020, among UHS, the subsidiary guarantors, U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as trustee (the "Trustee"), and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Collateral Agent (the "2020 Indenture"). We issued the 2026 Original Notes and the 2032 Original Notes and we will issue the 2026 Exchange Notes and 2032 Exchange Notes under an indenture, dated as of August 24, 2021, among UHS, the subsidiary guarantors, the Trustee, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Collateral Agent (the "2021 Indenture"). The 2020 Indenture and the 2021 Indenture are referred to in this description as the "Indentures" and each is referred to individually as an "Indenture." The Indentures set forth the specific terms applicable to the Notes. This description is intended to be an overview of the material provisions of the Notes and the Indentures. This summary is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Indentures. You should carefully read the summary below. The terms of the Notes include those stated in the Indentures and those made part of the Indentures by reference to the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended.

Brief description of the Notes

The Notes:

- will be general senior secured obligations of the Issuer;
- will be secured on a first-priority basis, subject to Permitted Liens, by the Collateral subject to a shared Lien of equal priority with the existing and future First Lien Obligations, including the Senior Credit Facility Obligations;
- will be structurally subordinated to any existing and future indebtedness and liabilities of non-guarantor Subsidiaries, including the Issuer's Foreign Subsidiaries and any Unrestricted Subsidiaries;
- will rank equally in right of payment with all existing and future senior Indebtedness of the Issuer and the Guarantors but, to the extent of the value of the Collateral, will be effectively senior to all of the Issuer's and the Guarantors' unsecured senior Indebtedness and any future Junior Lien Obligations;
- will be senior in right of payment to any future subordinated Indebtedness of the Issuer; and
- will initially be unconditionally guaranteed on a joint and several basis by each Restricted Subsidiary that guarantees the Senior Credit Facility, all of which Guarantors on the Issue Date will be Secured Guarantors.

- 34 -

Guarantees

The Guarantors, as primary obligors and not merely as sureties, will jointly and severally fully and unconditionally guarantee, on a senior basis, the performance and full and punctual payment when due, whether at maturity, by acceleration or otherwise, of all obligations of the Issuer under the Indentures and the Notes, whether for payment of principal of, premium, if any, or interest (including Additional Interest, if any) in respect of the Notes, expenses, indemnification or otherwise, on the terms set forth in the Indentures by executing the Indentures.

The Restricted Subsidiaries that guarantee our Senior Credit Facility will initially guarantee the Notes. As of the date of this prospectus, each of the Guarantors is a Secured Guarantor, and each of the Guarantees of such Secured Guarantors will be general senior secured obligations of such Secured Guarantors and will be secured by a first-priority lien, subject to Permitted Liens, on the Collateral. The Guarantees of the Secured Guarantors will rank equally in right of payment with all existing and future senior Indebtedness of the Secured Guarantor but, to the extent of the value of the Collateral, will be effectively senior to all of the Secured Guarantors' unsecured senior Indebtedness and Junior Lien Obligations. In the future, if any Unsecured Guarantor guarantees the Notes as provided in "—Certain Covenants—Additional Subsidiary Guarantees," the Guarantee of such Unsecured Guarantor will rank equally in right of payment with all existing and future senior Indebtedness of the Unsecured Guarantor, will rank pari passu with all of the Unsecured Guarantor's unsecured senior Indebtedness. The Guarantees of such Unsecured Guarantor to the extent of the value of the assets securing such secured Indebtedness. The Guarantees of all the Guarantors will be senior in right of payment to all existing and future senior Indebtedness. The Notes will be structurally subordinated to Indebtedness and other liabilities of Subsidiaries of the Issuer that do not guarantee the Notes.

Not all of our Subsidiaries will Guarantee the Notes. In the event of a bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization of any of these non-guarantor Subsidiaries, the non-guarantor Subsidiaries will pay the holders of their debt and their trade creditors before they will be able to distribute any of their assets to the Issuer. None of our Subsidiaries that are Foreign Subsidiaries, non-Wholly Owned Subsidiaries or any Receivables Subsidiaries will guarantee the Notes. For the year ended December 31, 2021, our subsidiaries in the United Kingdom, which are non-guarantor subsidiaries, represented approximately 5% of our net revenues, and together with our remaining non-guarantor Subsidiaries, represented less than 19% of our net revenues. As of September 30, 2022, Subsidiaries in the United Kingdom, which are non-guarantor Subsidiaries represented less than 20% of our total assets excluding intercompany assets. As of September 30, 2022, our non-guarantor Subsidiaries had less than \$23 million of long-term debt.

The obligations of each Guarantor under its Guarantee will be limited as necessary to prevent the Guarantee from constituting a fraudulent conveyance under applicable law.

Any entity that makes a payment under its Guarantee will be entitled upon payment in full of all guaranteed obligations under the Indentures to a contribution from each other Guarantor in an amount equal to such other Guarantor's pro rata portion of such payment based on the respective net assets of all the Guarantors at the time of such payment determined in accordance with GAAP.

If a Guarantee were rendered voidable, it could be subordinated by a court to all other indebtedness (including guarantees and other contingent liabilities) of the Guarantor, and, depending on the amount of such indebtedness, a Guarantor's liability on its Guarantee could be reduced to zero. See "Risk factors—Risks related to the notes-Federal and state fraudulent transfer laws may permit a court to void the notes, guarantees and/ or the grant of collateral, and if that occurs, you may not receive any payments on the notes."

- 35 -

Each Guarantee by a Guarantor will provide by its terms that it will be automatically and unconditionally released and discharged upon:

- (a) any sale, exchange or transfer (by merger or otherwise) of the Capital Stock of such Guarantor (including any sale, exchange or transfer), after which the applicable Guarantor is no longer a Restricted Subsidiary or all or substantially all the assets of such Guarantor, which sale, exchange or transfer is made in compliance with any applicable provisions of the Indentures;
 - (b) the release or discharge of the guarantee by such Guarantor of the Senior Credit Facility, any other First Lien Obligations and any Junior Lien Obligations (and if the Guarantor has become a guarantor under any Additional Indebtedness, the release or discharge of the guarantee by such Guarantor of such Additional Indebtedness), including any other guarantee that resulted in the creation of such Guarantee, except (i) a discharge or release by or as a result of payment under such guarantee or (ii) by reason of the termination of the Senior Credit Facility;
 - (c) the designation of any Restricted Subsidiary that is a Guarantor as an Unrestricted Subsidiary in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Indentures;
 - (d) the exercise by the Issuer of its legal defeasance option or covenant defeasance option as described under "—Defeasance" or the discharge of the Issuer's and the Guarantors' obligations under the Indentures in accordance with the terms of the Indentures; or
 - (e) upon an Investment Grade Rating Event, but only (i) to the extent described under "—Release of collateral and guarantees upon investment grade rating event" (which includes the release by the Guarantor of its guarantees of all other First Lien Obligations and Junior Lien Obligations) and (ii) in the case of a Secured Guarantor, if the Liens on the Collateral of such Secured Guarantor securing its Guarantee of the Notes and the Notes Obligations are also released at such time as described under "—Release of collateral and guarantees upon investment grade rating event"; and
- (2) such Guarantor delivering to the Trustee an Officers' Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel, each stating that all conditions precedent provided for in the Indentures and the Security Documents relating to such transaction have been complied with.

Holding Company Structure

UHS is a holding company for its Subsidiaries, with no material operations of its own and only limited assets other than the Capital Stock of its Subsidiaries. Accordingly, the Issuer is dependent upon the distribution of the earnings of its Subsidiaries, whether in the form of dividends, advances or payments on account of intercompany obligations, to service its debt obligations.

Security General

The obligations of the Issuer with respect to the Notes, the obligations of the Secured Guarantors under their Guarantees, and the performance of all other obligations of the Issuer and the Secured Guarantors under the Indentures will be secured by a perfected first-priority security interest, subject to Permitted Liens, in the Collateral owned by the Issuer and the Secured Guarantors, in each case whether now owned or hereafter acquired subject to a shared Lien of equal priority with the obligations of the Issuer and the Secured Guarantors under the Senior Credit Facility and any other First Lien Obligations. First Lien Secured Parties other than the Holders of the Notes have rights and remedies with respect to the Collateral that, if exercised, could also adversely affect the value of the Collateral on behalf of the Holders of the Notes, particularly the rights described below under "— Intercreditor provisions in the security agreement." For a brief description of the Collateral, see "Description of other indebtedness-Credit agreement-Guarantees and security."

The Issuer and the Secured Guarantors are and will be able to incur additional Indebtedness in the future that could share in the Collateral, including Additional First Lien Obligations, Junior Lien Obligations,

- 36 -

Obligations secured by Permitted Liens or Mortgages (as applicable). The amount of such additional Obligations will be limited by the covenant described under "—Certain Covenants—Limitations on Mortgages," but the covenant is limited in scope and contains a number of exceptions. Under certain circumstances, the amount of any such additional Obligations could be significant.

The Trustee shall have no responsibility whatsoever to comply with any provision of, nor shall be charged with knowledge of, any document governing Additional First Lien Obligations to which it is not a party.

After-Acquired Collateral

From and after the Issue Date and prior to the Collateral Release Date, subject to certain limitations and exceptions, if the Issuer or any Secured Guarantor (i) acquires any property or asset that would constitute Collateral or (ii) creates any additional security interest upon any property or asset to secure any First Lien Obligations, it must grant a first-priority perfected security interest (subject to Permitted Liens) upon such property as security for the Notes.

Liens with Respect to the Collateral

The Issuer, the Secured Guarantors, the Trustee, the designated agents of each Series of other First Lien Obligations and the First Lien Collateral Agent have entered into Security Documents with respect to the Collateral defining the terms of the security interests that secure the Notes and the Guarantees with respect to such Collateral. These security interests will secure the payment and performance when due of all of the Obligations of the Issuers and the Secured Guarantors under the Notes, the Indentures, the applicable Guarantees and the Security Documents, as provided in the Security Documents.

Intercreditor Provisions in the Security Agreement

Under the Security Agreement, the Holders of the Notes will be represented by the Trustee, and the holders of each Series of First Lien Obligations will be represented by their designated agent (each, an "Authorized Representative"). The First Lien Collateral Agent is initially JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., in its capacity of collateral agent.

Under the Security Agreement, the "Applicable Authorized Representative" has the right to direct foreclosures and take other actions with respect to the Common Collateral. No Authorized Representative of any First Lien Obligations secured by the Common Collateral (other than the Applicable Authorized Representative) will instruct the First Lien Collateral Agent to take any action with respect to the Common Collateral. The Applicable Authorized Representative will initially be the administrative agent under the Senior Credit Facility, and the Trustee will have no rights to take any action under the Security Agreement other than as the Applicable Authorized Representative.

The administrative agent under the Senior Credit Facility will remain the Applicable Authorized Representative until the earlier of (1) the Discharge of Senior Credit Facility Obligations and (2) the Non-Controlling Authorized Representative Enforcement Date (such date, the "Applicable Authorized Agent Date"). After the Applicable Authorized Agent Date, the Applicable Authorized Representative will be the Authorized Representative of the Series of First Lien Obligations that constitutes the largest outstanding principal amount of any then outstanding Series of First Lien Obligations, with respect to the Common Collateral (the "Major Non-Controlling Authorized Representative").

The "Non-Controlling Authorized Representative Enforcement Date" is the date that is 90 days (throughout which 90-day period the applicable Non-Controlling Authorized Representative was the Major Non-Controlling Authorized Representative) after the occurrence of both (a) an event of default, as defined in the Indentures or other applicable agreement for the Series of First Lien Obligations for which such Non-Controlling Authorized

- 37 -

Representative is an Authorized Representative, and (b) the First Lien Collateral Agents and each other Authorized Representative's receipt of written notice from that Non-Controlling Authorized Representative certifying that (i) such Non-Controlling Authorized Representative is the Major Non-Controlling Authorized Representative and that an event of default, as defined in the Indentures or other applicable agreement for that Series of First Lien Obligations, has occurred and is continuing and (ii) the First Lien Obligations of that Series are currently due and payable in full (whether as a result of acceleration thereof or otherwise) in accordance with the Indentures or other applicable agreement for that Series of First Lien Obligations; provided that the Non-Controlling Authorized Representative Enforcement Date shall be stayed and shall not occur and shall be deemed not to have occurred with respect to any Common Collateral (1) at any time the First Lien Collateral Agent has commenced and is diligently pursuing any enforcement action with respect to such Common Collateral or (2) at any time the Issuer or the Secured Guarantor that has granted a security interest in such Common Collateral is then a debtor under or with respect to (or otherwise subject to) any Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding.

Except as provided above, the Applicable Authorized Representative shall have the sole right to instruct the First Lien Collateral Agent to act or refrain from acting with respect to the Common Collateral, the First Lien Collateral Agent shall not follow any instructions with respect to such Common Collateral from any Person (other than the Applicable Authorized Representative), and no Authorized Representative (other than the Applicable Authorized Representative), and no Authorized Representative (other than the Applicable Authorized Representative), seek to have a trustee, receiver, liquidator or similar official appointed for or over, attempt any action to take possession of, exercise any right, remedy or power with respect to, or otherwise take any action to enforce its interests in or realize upon, or take any other action available to it in respect of, the Common Collateral.

Notwithstanding the equal priority of the Liens, the First Lien Collateral Agent, acting on the instructions of the Applicable Authorized Representative, may deal with the Common Collateral as if such Applicable Authorized Representative had a senior Lien on such Common Collateral. No Authorized Representative of any Series of First Lien Obligations (other than the Applicable Authorized Representative) may contest, protest or object to any foreclosure proceeding or action brought by the First Lien Collateral Agent (acting on the instruction of the Applicable Authorized Representative) or the Applicable Authorized Representative with respect to the Common Collateral.

If a First Lien Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and the First Lien Collateral Agent is taking action to enforce rights in respect of any Common Collateral, or any distribution is made with respect to any Common Collateral in any bankruptcy case of the Issuer or any Secured Guarantor, the proceeds of any sale, collection or other liquidation of any such Common Collateral by the First Lien Collateral Agent or any other First Lien Secured Party as applicable, shall be applied among the First Lien Obligations to the payment in full of the First Lien Obligations on a ratable basis, after payment of all amounts owing to the First Lien Collateral Agent and the Authorized Representatives, in their capacities as such.

Release of Collateral

Under the Security Agreement, if at any time the Applicable Authorized Representative forecloses upon or otherwise exercises remedies against any Common Collateral, then (whether or not any Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding is pending at the time) the Liens in favor of the First Lien Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Trustee and the Holders of the Notes and each other Series of First Lien Secured Parties upon such Common Collateral will automatically be released and discharged. However, any proceeds of any Common Collateral realized therefrom will be applied as described under "—Intercreditor provisions in the security agreement."

- 38 -

The Issuer and the Secured Guarantors will be entitled to the release of property and other assets constituting Collateral from the Liens securing the Notes, the Notes Obligations and the Guarantees of the Secured Guarantors under any one or more of the following circumstances:

- (1) to enable us to consummate the sale, transfer or other disposition of such property or assets (other than to the Issuer or a Guarantor);
- (2) in the case of one or more Secured Guarantors that are released from their Guarantees with respect to the Notes pursuant to the terms of the Indentures, the release of the property and assets and Equity Interests of such Secured Guarantors;
- (3) to the extent that such Collateral is released or no longer required to be pledged pursuant to the terms of the Senior Credit Facility, any other First Lien Obligations and any Junior Lien Obligations;
- (4) with the consent of the Holders of at least 75% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding and affected thereby;
- (5) as described under "—Release of Collateral and Guarantees upon Investment Grade Rating Event";
- (6) a release of assets permitted not to be included in the Collateral pursuant to clause (7) under "—Certain limitations on the collateral" in connection with a Qualified Receivables Transaction (including any Receivables Financing) permitted under the Indenture; or
- (7) as described under "---Modification and Waiver" below.

The Liens on the Collateral securing the Notes and the applicable Guarantees also will be released upon (i) payment in full of the principal of, together with accrued and unpaid interest on, the Notes and all other Obligations under the Indentures, the Guarantees and the Security Documents that are due and payable at or prior to the time such principal, together with accrued and unpaid interest, are paid or (ii) a defeasance under the Indentures as described below under "—Defeasance" or discharge of the Issuer's and the Guarantor' Obligations under the Indentures in accordance with the Indentures.

If the Liens securing the Senior Credit Facility Obligations are released in connection with the repayment (including cash collateralization of letters of credit) of the Senior Credit Facility Obligations in full and termination of the commitments thereunder, the Liens on the Collateral securing the Notes, the Notes Obligations and the Guarantees of the Secured Guarantors will not be released, except to the extent the Collateral or any portion thereof was disposed of in order to repay the Senior Credit Facility Obligations secured by the Collateral. From and after any such time when all the Liens securing the First Lien Obligations other than the Notes and the Notes Obligations are released and the Liens on the Collateral securing the Notes remain in existence, if the Issuer or any Secured Guarantor acquires any property or asset constituting Collateral, it shall grant a first-priority perfected security interest (subject to Permitted Liens) upon such property as security for the Notes to the extent then required under "—After-Acquired Collateral."

To the extent the Trustee is required to execute any release or to direct the First Lien Collateral Agent to execute any release, prior thereto, the Trustee shall have received an Officers' Certificate and Opinion of Counsel that all conditions precedent to such release in the Indentures and the Security Documents have been complied with.

After such time as the Indentures are qualified under the Trust Indenture Act, any certificate or opinion required by Section 314(d) of the Trust Indenture Act may be made by an Officer of the Company, except in cases where Section 314(d) requires that such certificate or opinion be made by an independent engineer, appraiser or other expert.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, after such time as the Indentures are qualified under the Trust Indenture Act, the Issuer and its Subsidiaries will not be required to comply with all or any portion of

- 39 -

Section 314(d) of the Trust Indenture Act if they determine, in good faith based on advice of counsel, that under the terms of that section and/or any interpretation or guidance as to the meaning thereof of the SEC and its staff, including "no action" letters or exemptive orders, all or any portion of Section 314(d) of the Trust Indenture Act is inapplicable to the released Collateral.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, certain no action letters issued by the SEC have permitted the release of Liens on collateral securing indebtedness issued under an indenture qualified under the Trust Indenture Act without requiring the issuer to provide certificates and other documents under Section 314(d) of the Trust Indenture Act where such release occurs as a result of the release of such collateral from Liens securing a credit facility or other indebtedness. In addition, certain no action letters issued by the SEC have permitted the release of collateral from Liens securing indebtedness issued under an indenture qualified under the Trust Indenture Act resulting from transactions in the ordinary course of the Issuer's business without requiring the issuer to provide such certificates and other documents.

Certain Limitations on the Collateral

The Collateral securing the Notes will not include any of the following assets:

- (1) any interest in fee-owned or leased real property of the Issuer and the Secured Guarantors (except as provided for under the "—Certain Covenants—Limitations on Mortgages" section herein);
- (2) any property to the extent that such grant of a security interest is prohibited by any requirements of law of a governmental authority, requires a consent not obtained of any governmental authority pursuant to such requirement of law or is prohibited by, or constitutes a breach or default under or results in the termination of or requires any consent not obtained under, any contract, license, agreement, instrument or other document evidencing or giving rise to such property (other than Investment Property or Pledged Stock issued by a Subsidiary of the Issuer or a Receivables Subsidiary) or, in the case of any Investment Property or Pledged Stock issued by a Person that is not a Subsidiary of the Issuer or a Receivables Subsidiary, any applicable shareholder or similar agreement, except to the extent that such requirement of law or the term in such contract, license, agreement, instrument or other document or shareholder or similar agreement providing for such prohibition, breach, default or termination or requiring such consent is ineffective under applicable law;
- (3) any interest in any Voting Stock that is issued by any Foreign Subsidiary, if and to the extent that the inclusion of such Voting Stock in the Collateral would cause the Collateral pledged by the Issuer or the applicable Secured Guarantor, as the case may be, to include in the aggregate more than 65% of the total combined voting power of all classes of Voting Stock of such Foreign Subsidiary;
- (4) Letter-of-Credit Rights that do not constitute Supporting Obligations (each as defined in the New York UCC);
- (5) any Deposit Accounts (as defined in the New York UCC);
- (6) Intellectual property to the extent perfection of a security interest therein requires any filing to be made outside of the United States;
- (7) Receivables sold, or with respect to which Participation Interests are sold, and all Related Security and Collections with respect to such Receivables pursuant to any Receivables Financing to the extent that the aggregate outstanding amount of the purchase price or loan from the applicable lenders or investors under all Receivables Financing at any time does not exceed the greater of (i) \$600.0 million and (ii) 50% of accounts receivable, net, as shown on the Issuer's most recent consolidated balance sheet for which internal financial statements for the Issuer are available plus the allowance for doubtful accounts with respect to such accounts receivable, as set forth in the footnotes to such financial statements;
- (8) Gift Shop Assets of the Issuer and any Secured Guarantor which is a party to a Receivables Financing that includes the Gift Shop Assets; and
- (9) the assets of any Unsecured Guarantor.

- 40 -

Sufficiency of Collateral

The fair market value of the Collateral is subject to fluctuations based on factors that include, among others, the condition of the health care industry, the ability to sell the Collateral in an orderly sale, general economic conditions, the availability of buyers and similar factors. The amount to be received upon a sale of the Collateral would also be dependent on numerous factors, including, but not limited to, the actual fair market value of the Collateral at such time and the timing and the manner of the sale. By their nature, portions of the Collateral may be illiquid and may have no readily ascertainable market value. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the Collateral can be sold in a short period of time or in an orderly manner. In addition, in the event of a bankruptcy, the ability of the Holders to realize upon any of the Collateral may be subject to certain bankruptcy law limitations as described below.

Certain Bankruptcy Limitations

The right of the First Lien Collateral Agent acting at the direction of the Applicable Authorized Representative to repossess and dispose of the Collateral upon the occurrence of an Event of Default would be significantly impaired by any Bankruptcy Law in the event that a bankruptcy case were to be commenced by or against the Issuer or any Secured Guarantor prior to the First Lien Collateral Agent having repossessed and disposed of the Collateral. Upon the commencement of a case for relief under the Bankruptcy Code, a secured creditor such as the First Lien Collateral Agent is prohibited from repossessing its security from a debtor in a bankruptcy case, or from disposing of security without bankruptcy court approval.

In view of the broad equitable powers of a U.S. bankruptcy court, it is impossible to predict how long payments under the Notes could be delayed following commencement of a bankruptcy case, whether or when the First Lien Collateral Agent acting at the direction of the Applicable Authorized Representative could repossess or dispose of the Collateral, the value of the Collateral at any time during a bankruptcy case or whether or to what extent Holders of the Notes would be compensated for any delay in payment or loss of value of the Collateral. The Bankruptcy Code permits only the payment and/or accrual of post-petition interest, costs and attorneys' fees to a secured creditor during a debtor's bankruptcy case to the extent the value of such creditor's interest in the Collateral is determined by the bankruptcy court to exceed the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the obligations secured by the Collateral.

Furthermore, in the event a domestic or foreign bankruptcy court determines that the value of the Collateral is not sufficient to repay all amounts due on the Notes, the Holders of the Notes would hold secured claims only to the extent of the value of the Collateral to which the Holders of the Notes are entitled, and unsecured claims with respect to such shortfall.

Principal, Maturity and Interest

The Issuer has issued \$700,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 2026 Original Notes, \$800,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 2030 Original Notes and \$500,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 2032 Original Notes. The issuer will issue up to \$700,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 2032 Exchange Notes, \$800,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 2030 Exchange Notes and \$500,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of 2032 Exchange Notes in exchange for validly tendered Original Notes in the Exchange Offer. The 2026 Notes will mature on September 1, 2026, the 2030 Notes will mature on October 15, 2030 and the 2032 Notes will mature on January 15, 2032.

The 2026 Notes will bear interest at the rate of 1.650% per annum, the 2030 Notes will bear interest at the rate of 2.650% per annum, and the 2032 Notes will bear interest at the rate of 2.650% per annum, each computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months. Interest on the Original Notes began accruing on the Issue Date. Interest on the Exchange Notes will accrue from the date it was most recently paid on the applicable Original Notes. Interest on the 2026 Notes will be payable on March 1 and September 1 of each year. Interest on

- 41 -

the 2030 Notes will be payable on April 15 and October 15 of each year. Interest on the 2032 Notes will be payable on January 15 and July 15 of each year. Interest payable on any Note that is punctually paid or duly provided for on any interest payment date shall be paid to the person in whose name such Note is registered at the close of business on February 15 and August 15, in the case of the 2026 Notes, April 15 and October 1, in the case of the 2030 Notes, or January 1 and July 1, in the case of the 2032 Notes, as the case may be, preceding such interest payment date.

The Issuer may issue additional Notes of any series from time to time after this offering under the Indentures (any such Notes of such series, "Additional Notes"). Each series of Notes and any Additional Notes of such series subsequently issued under the Indentures will be treated as a single class for all purposes under the Indentures, including waivers, amendments, redemptions and offers to purchase. Unless the context requires otherwise, references to "Notes" for all purposes of the Indentures and this "Description of the Notes" include any Additional Notes of such series that are actually issued.

We will also pay Additional Interest to Holders if we fail to complete the Exchange Offer described in the Registration Rights Agreement on or prior to March 21, 2023, in the case of the 2030 Original Notes, and February 24, 2024, in the case of the 2026 Original Notes and the 2032 Original Notes, or if certain other conditions contained in the Registration Rights Agreements are not satisfied. See "Exchange Offer; Additional Interest." All references in the Indentures and this "Description of the Notes," in any context, to any interest or other amount payable on or with respect to the Notes shall be deemed to include any Additional Interest required to be paid pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement.

The Notes will be issued in book-entry form only.

Mandatory Redemption; Offers to Purchase; Open Market Purchases

The Issuer will not be required to make any mandatory redemption or sinking fund payments with respect to the Notes. However, under certain circumstances, the Issuer may be required to offer to purchase Notes as described under the caption "—Repurchase at the Option of Holders." The Issuer may at any time and from time to time purchase Notes in the open market or otherwise.

Optional Redemption

The Notes of each series may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at any time prior to the applicable Par Call Date, at the option of the Issuer, at a redemption, or "make whole," price as calculated by the Issuer equal to the greater of:

- 100% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of such series to be redeemed, and
- an amount equal to the sum of the present value of the remaining scheduled payments of principal of and interest on the Notes of such series to be redeemed (excluding accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date and subject to the right of Holders on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date) discounted from the redemption date to the applicable Par Call Date on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) using a discount rate equal to the Treasury Rate plus 15 basis points, in the case of the 2026 Notes, plus 30 basis points, in the case of the 2030 Notes, and 20 basis points, in the case of the 2032 Notes,
- plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date.

If the Notes of any series are redeemed on or after the applicable Par Call Date, the redemption price for the Notes of such series to be redeemed will equal 100% of the principal amount of such Notes of such series plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to such redemption date.

- 42 -

Redemption Procedure

Any notice of any redemption may be given prior to the redemption thereof, and any such redemption or notice may, at the Issuer's discretion, be subject to one or more conditions precedent, including, but not limited to, completion of a financing transaction or other corporate transaction. Notes called for redemption will become due on the date fixed for redemption. Notices of redemption will be mailed at least 15 days but not more than 60 days before the redemption date to each Holder of the Notes to be redeemed at its registered address. The notice of redemption for the Notes will state, among other things, the amount of Notes to be redeemed, if less than all of the outstanding Notes are to be redeemed, the redemption date, the redemption price (or the method of calculating it) and each place that payment will be made upon presentation and surrender of Notes to be redeemed. If the Trustee is to mail the notice to the Holders then (i) the notice should be given to the Trustee at least five business days prior to the date the notice is to be mailed (or such shorter period as the Trustee shall agree) and (ii)Trustee shall receive an Officers' Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel.

Unless we default in payment of the redemption price, interest will cease to accrue on any Notes that have been called for redemption on the redemption date. If the Issuer redeems less than all of the outstanding Notes of any series, the registrar and paying agent shall select the Notes of such series to be redeemed in the manner described under "—Repurchase at the Option of Holders-Selection and Notice."

For purposes of determining the optional redemption price, the following definitions are applicable:

"Comparable Treasury Issue" means, the United States Treasury security selected by an Independent Investment Banker as having a maturity comparable to the Par Call Date that would be utilized, at the time of selection and in accordance with customary financial practice, in pricing new issues of corporate debt securities of comparable maturity to the Par Call Date.

"Comparable Treasury Price" means, with respect to any redemption date for any Note: (1) the average of the Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations for that redemption date, after excluding the highest and lowest of four such Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations; or (2) if the Independent Investment Banker is given fewer than four Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, the average of all quotations obtained by the Independent Investment Banker.

"Independent Investment Banker" means one of the Reference Treasury Dealers, to be appointed by the Issuer.

"Par Call Date" means August 1, 2026 (the date that is one month prior to the maturity date of the 2026 Notes) with respect to the 2026 Notes, July 15, 2030 (the date that is three months prior to the maturity date of the 2030 Notes) with respect to the 2030 Notes, and October 15, 2031 (the date that is three months prior to the maturity date of the 2032 Notes) with respect to the 2032 Notes.

"Reference Treasury Dealer" means each of J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, BofA Securities, Inc., Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC and a Primary Treasury Dealer (as defined herein) selected by Trust Securities, Inc., and each of their respective successors and any other nationally recognized investment banking firm that is a primary U.S. government securities dealer in New York City (a "Primary Treasury Dealer") appointed from time to time by us; provided that if any of the foregoing shall cease to be a Primary Treasury Dealer, we shall substitute for such entity another nationally recognized investment banking firm that is a Primary Treasury Dealer.

"Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations" means, with respect to each Reference Treasury Dealer and any redemption date for any Note, the average, as determined by the Independent Investment Banker, of the bid and asked prices for the Comparable Treasury Issue, expressed in each case as a percentage of its principal amount, quoted in writing to the Independent Investment Banker by such Reference Treasury Dealer at 3:00 p.m., New York City time, on the third Business Day preceding such redemption date.

- 43 -

"Treasury Rate" means, at the time of computation, (1) the semi-annual equivalent yield to maturity of the United States Treasury Securities with a constant maturity (as compiled and published in the most recent Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15 which has become publicly available at least two Business Days prior to the redemption date or, if such Statistical Release is no longer published, any publicly available source of similar market data) for the maturity corresponding to the Comparable Treasury Issue; provided, however, that if no maturity is within three months before or after the Par Call Date, yields for the two published maturities most closely corresponding to the Comparable Treasury Issue will be determined and the Treasury Rate will be interpolated or extrapolated from those yields on a straight line basis, rounding to the nearest month; or (2) if that release, or any successor release, is not published during the week preceding the calculation date or does not contain such yields, the rate per annum equal to the semiannual equivalent yield to maturity of the Comparable Treasury Issue, calculated using a price for the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed as a percentage of its principal amount) equal to the Comparable Treasury Price for that redemption date. The Treasury Rate will be calculated on the third Business Day preceding the redemption date.

Except as set forth above, the Notes will not be redeemable by us prior to maturity.

Denominations, Registration and Transfer

The Issuer will issue the Notes in registered form and in denominations of \$2,000 or any integral multiple of \$1,000 in excess thereof. We have appointed the Trustee as security registrar.

Repurchase at the Option of Holders

Change of Control Following a Downgrade from Investment Grade Ratings

If on any date following the Issue Date, one or both of the Rating Agencies (a) withdraw their Investment Grade Rating or downgrade the rating assigned to the Notes below an Investment Grade Rating and/or (b) the Issuer or any of its Affiliates enters into an agreement to effect a transaction that would result in a Change of Control and one or both of the Rating Agencies indicate that if consummated, such transaction (alone or together with any related recapitalization or refinancing transactions) would cause such Rating Agency to withdraw its Investment Grade Rating or downgrade the ratings assigned to the Notes below an Investment Grade Rating, then the Issuer and the Subsidiaries will thereafter (the "Reversion Date") be subject to the covenant described in this subsection "—Change of Control Following a Downgrade from Investment Grade Ratings" (the "Suspended Covenant") under the Indentures with respect to future events, including, without limitation, a proposed transaction described in clause (b) above. As of the date of this prospectus, the Notes do not have Investment Grade Ratings from both Rating Agencies. Accordingly, the Suspended Covenant is in effect.

The Suspended Covenant provides that if a Change of Control occurs, unless the Issuer has previously or concurrently mailed a redemption notice with respect to all the outstanding Notes as described under "—Optional Redemption," the Issuer will make an offer to purchase all of the Notes of each series pursuant to the offer described below (the "Change of Control Offer") at a price in cash (the "Change of Control Payment") equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of such series plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of purchase, subject to the right of Holders of the Notes of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date. Within 30 days following any Change of Control, the Issuer will send notice of such Change of Control Offer by first-class mail, with a copy to the Trustee and the registrar, to each Holder of Notes to the address of such Holder appearing in the security register with a copy to the Trustee and the registrar, or otherwise deliver such notice in accordance with the procedures of DTC, with the following information:

(1) that a Change of Control Offer is being made pursuant to the covenant entitled "Change of Control" and that all Notes properly tendered pursuant to such Change of Control Offer will be accepted for payment by the Issuer;

- 44 -

- (2) the purchase price and the purchase date, which will be no earlier than 30 days nor later than 60 days from the date such notice is mailed (the "Change of Control Payment Date");
- (3) that any Note not properly tendered will remain outstanding and continue to accrue interest;
- (4) that unless the Issuer defaults in the payment of the Change of Control Payment, all Notes accepted for payment pursuant to the Change of Control Offer will cease to accrue interest on the Change of Control Payment Date;
- (5) that Holders electing to have any Notes purchased pursuant to a Change of Control Offer will be required to surrender such Notes, with the form entitled "Option of Holder to Elect Purchase" on the reverse of such Notes completed, to the paying agent specified in the notice at the address specified in the notice prior to the close of business on the third Business Day preceding the Change of Control Payment Date;
- (6) that Holders will be entitled to withdraw their tendered Notes and their election to require the Issuer to purchase such Notes; provided that the paying agent receives, not later than the close of business on the 30th day following the date of the Change of Control notice, a facsimile transmission or letter setting forth the name of the Holder of the Notes, the principal amount of Notes tendered for purchase, and a statement that such Holder is withdrawing its tendered Notes and its election to have such Notes purchased;
- (7) that Holders tendering less than all of their Notes of any series will be issued new Notes of such series and such new Notes will be equal in principal amount to the unpurchased portion of the Notes of such series surrendered. The unpurchased portion of the Notes of such series must be equal to \$2,000 or an integral multiple of \$1,000 in excess thereof; and
- (8) the other instructions, as determined by us, consistent with the covenant described hereunder, that a Holder must follow.

The Issuer will comply with the requirements of Rule 14e-1 under the Exchange Act and any other securities laws and regulations thereunder to the extent such laws or regulations are applicable in connection with the repurchase of Notes pursuant to a Change of Control Offer. To the extent that the provisions of any securities laws or regulations conflict with the provisions of the Indentures, the Issuer will comply with the applicable securities laws and regulations and shall not be deemed to have breached its obligations described in the Indentures by virtue thereof.

On the Change of Control Payment Date, the Issuer will, to the extent permitted by law,

- (1) accept for payment all Notes issued by it or portions thereof properly tendered pursuant to the Change of Control Offer;
- (2) deposit with the paying agent an amount equal to the aggregate Change of Control Payment in respect of all Notes or portions thereof so tendered; and
- (3) deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the Trustee for cancellation the Notes so accepted together with an Officers' Certificate to the Trustee stating the aggregate principal amount of such Notes or portions thereof that have been tendered to and purchased by the Issuer and an Opinion of Counsel, in each case, stating that all conditions precedent to the consummation of the Change of Control Offer have been complied with.

The Senior Credit Facility provides, and future credit agreements or other agreements relating to senior Indebtedness to which the Issuer becomes a party may provide, that certain change of control events with respect to the Issuer would constitute a default thereunder (including a Change of Control under the Indenture). If we experience a change of control that triggers a default under our Senior Credit Facility, we could seek a waiver of such default or seek to refinance our Senior Credit Facility. In the event we do not obtain such a waiver or refinance the Senior Credit Facility, such default could result in amounts outstanding under our Senior Credit Facility being declared due and payable.

- 45 -

The Issuer's ability to pay cash to the Holders of the Notes following the occurrence of a Change of Control may be limited by its then-existing financial resources. Therefore, sufficient funds may not be available when necessary to make any required repurchases.

The Change of Control purchase feature of the Notes may in certain circumstances make more difficult or discourage a sale or takeover of us and, thus, the removal of incumbent management. The Change of Control purchase feature is a result of negotiations between the Initial Purchasers and us. We have no present intention to engage in a transaction involving a Change of Control, although it is possible that we could decide to do so in the future. We could, in the future, enter into certain transactions, including acquisitions, refinancings or other recapitalizations, that would not constitute a Change of Control under the Indentures, but that could increase the amount of indebtedness outstanding at such time or otherwise affect our capital structure or credit ratings. Certain provisions under the Indentures relative to the Issuer's obligation to make an offer to repurchase the Notes as a result of a Change of Control may be waived or modified with the written consent of the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the Notes. The Indentures will not contain any covenants or provisions that may afford Holders of the Notes protection in the event of a highly leveraged transaction.

The Issuer will not be required to make a Change of Control Offer following a Change of Control if a third party makes the Change of Control Offer in the manner, at the times and otherwise in compliance with the requirements set forth in the Indentures applicable to a Change of Control Offer made by us and purchases all Notes validly tendered and not withdrawn under such Change of Control Offer. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, a Change of Control Offer may be made in advance of a Change of Control, conditional upon such Change of Control, if a definitive agreement is in place for the Change of Control at the time of making of the Change of Control Offer.

The definition of "Change of Control" includes a disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer to any Person. Although there is a limited body of case law interpreting the phrase "substantially all," there is no precise established definition of the phrase under applicable law. Accordingly, in certain circumstances there may be a degree of uncertainty as to whether a particular transaction would involve a disposition of "all or substantially all" of the assets of the Issuer. As a result, it may be unclear as to whether a Change of Control has occurred and whether a Holder of Notes may require the Issuer to make an offer to repurchase the Notes as described above.

The provisions under the Indentures relating to the Issuer's obligation to make an offer to repurchase the Notes as a result of a Change of Control may be waived or modified with the written consent of the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the Notes.

Selection and Notice

If the Issuer is redeeming less than all of the Notes of any series issued by it at any time, the Notes of such series will be selected for redemption (a) if the Notes of such series are listed on any national securities exchange, in compliance with the requirements of the principal national securities exchange on which the Notes of such series are listed, (b) on a pro rata basis to the extent practicable or (c) by lot or such other similar method in accordance with the procedures of DTC.

Notices of purchase or redemption shall be mailed by first-class mail, postage prepaid, at least 15 but not more than 60 days before the purchase or redemption date to each Holder of Notes at such Holder's registered address or otherwise in accordance with the procedures of DTC, except that redemption notices may be mailed more than 60 days prior to a redemption date if the notice is issued in connection with a defeasance of the Notes or a satisfaction and discharge of the Indentures. If any Note of a series is to be purchased or redeemed in part only, any notice of purchase or redemption that relates to such Note of such series shall state the portion of the principal amount thereof that has been or is to be purchased or redeemed.

- 46 -

The Issuer will issue a new Note of any series in a principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of the original Note of such series in the name of the Holder upon cancellation of the original Note. Notes called for redemption become due on the date fixed for redemption. On and after the redemption date, interest ceases to accrue on Notes of such series or portions thereof called for redemption.

Release of Collateral and Guarantees upon Investment Grade Rating Event

If on any date following the Issue Date, (a)(i) the Notes have Investment Grade Ratings from both Rating Agencies and (ii) no Default has occurred and is continuing under the Indentures (the occurrence of the events described in the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii) being collectively referred to as an "Investment Grade Rating Event"), and (b) the terms of all other First Lien Obligations and Junior Lien Obligations provide that the Liens on the Collateral securing such First Lien Obligations and Junior Lien Obligations and Junior Lien Obligations and Junior Lien Obligations and Junior Lien Obligations are also released, whether or not such other guarantees can be reinstated), the Liens on the Collateral securing the Notes, the Notes Obligations and the Guarantees of the Secured Guarantors shall be released, and the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries will not be subject to the covenant under "—Additional subsidiary guarantees" (the "Guarantees Covenant") or the covenant under "—After-acquired collateral" (the "Collateral Covenant"). In the event the collateral and Guarantees are released and the Guarantees Covenant is no longer in effect upon an Investment Grade Rating Event, the collateral and the Guarantees are reinstated with respect to other First Lien Obligations and Junior Lien Obligations and the Guarantees will not be reinstated upon any subsequent downgrade or withdrawal of the Investment Grade Ratings, even if the collateral and the Guarantees are reinstated with respect to other First Lien Obligations and Junior Lien Obligations.

As of the date of this prospectus, the Notes do not have Investment Grade Ratings from both Rating Agencies. In addition, as of the date of this prospectus, the condition in clause (b) of the preceding paragraph has not been met because the conditions to the release of the Collateral under the Senior Credit Facilities have not been met. In order for the Collateral to be released under the terms of the Senior Credit Facilities, we must receive an investment grade corporate rating from both Moody's and S&P, no default or event of default shall have occurred and be continuing under the Senior Credit Facilities and the liens on the Collateral securing the Notes must be released contemporaneously. Accordingly, if we were to receive investment grade corporate ratings from both Rating Agencies and the other conditions to release of the Collateral under the Senior Credit Facilities are met, or if we were to amend the Senior Credit Facilities in the future to otherwise permit the release of the Collateral, the Collateral securing the Notes and the Guarantees will be released.

Certain Covenants

Set forth below are summaries of certain covenants contained in the Indentures.

Limitations on Mortgages

Nothing in the Indentures or in the Notes shall in any way restrict or prevent the Issuer or any Subsidiary from incurring any Indebtedness; provided, however, that the Indentures provide that neither the Issuer nor any of its Subsidiaries will issue, assume or guarantee any indebtedness or obligation secured by Mortgages (other than Permitted Liens) upon any Principal Property, unless the Notes shall be secured equally and ratably with (or prior to) such Indebtedness. This restriction will not apply to:

- (a) Mortgages securing all or any part of the purchase price of property acquired or cost of construction of property or cost of additions, substantial repairs, alterations or improvements or property, if the Indebtedness and the related Mortgages are incurred within 12 months of the later of the acquisition or completion of construction and full operation or additions, repairs, alterations or improvements;
- (b) Mortgages existing on property at the time of its acquisition by the Issuer or a Subsidiary or on the property of a Person at the time of the acquisition of such Person by the Issuer or a Subsidiary (including acquisitions through merger or consolidation);

- 47 -

- (c) Mortgages to secure Indebtedness on which the interest payments to holders of the related Indebtedness are excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Code;
- (d) Mortgages in favor of the Issuer or any Subsidiary;
- (e) Mortgages existing on the date of the 2020 Indenture or the 2021 Indenture, as applicable;
- (f) Mortgages in favor of a government or governmental entity that (i) secure Indebtedness which is guaranteed by the government or governmental entity, (ii) secure Indebtedness incurred to finance all or some of the purchase price or cost of construction of goods, products or facilities produced under contract or subcontract for the government or governmental entity, or (iii) secure Indebtedness incurred to finance all or some of the purchase price to the Mortgage;
- (g) Mortgages incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds where such funds are used to repay, within 120 days after entering into such Mortgage, Indebtedness in the same principal amount secured by other Mortgages on Principal Property with at least the same appraised fair market value; and
- (h) any extension, renewal or replacement of any Mortgage referred to in clauses (a) through (g) above; provided the amount secured is not increased and such extension, renewal or replacement Mortgage relates to the same property.

Limitations on Sale and Lease-Back Transactions

The Indentures provide that neither the Issuer nor any Subsidiary will, after the Issue Date, enter into any Sale and Lease-Back Transaction with respect to any Principal Property with another person (other than with the Issuer or a Subsidiary) unless either:

- (a) the Issuer or such Subsidiary could incur Indebtedness secured by a mortgage on the property to be leased without equally and ratably securing the Notes; or
- (b) within 150 days, the Issuer applies the greater of the net proceeds of the sale of the leased property or the fair value of the leased property, net of all Notes delivered under the Indentures, to the voluntary retirement of the Funded Debt of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries and/or the acquisition or construction of a Principal Property.

The foregoing limitation shall not apply to any Sale and Lease-Back Transaction that is in effect on the Issue Date and any renewals or extensions thereof; provided that if any Principal Property is substituted for a Principal Property that is a subject of a Sale and Lease-Back Transaction that is in effect on the Issue Date, for purposes of "—Certain Covenants—Exempted transactions," any increase in Attributable Indebtedness shall be counted as Indebtedness for purposes of the calculation set forth thereunder.

Exempted Transactions

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions described above under "—Limitations on Mortgages" and "—Limitations on Sale and Lease-Back Transactions," if the aggregate outstanding principal amount of all Indebtedness of the issuer and its Subsidiaries that is subject to and not otherwise permitted under these restrictions does not exceed 15.0% of the Consolidated Net Tangible Assets of the issuer and its Subsidiaries, then:

- (a) the issuer or any of its Subsidiaries may issue, assume or guarantee Indebtedness secured by Mortgages without any requirement to equally and ratably secure the notes; and
- (b) the issuer or any of its Subsidiaries may enter into any Sale and Lease-Back Transaction.

- 48 -

Additional Subsidiary Guarantees

At any time prior to the Collateral Release Date, if any Restricted Subsidiary of the issuer other than a Guarantor (i) guarantees any Indebtedness under the Senior Credit Facility, any other First Lien Obligations or any Junior Lien Obligations or (ii) if the issuer or the Guarantors have no Indebtedness outstanding, and all commitments thereunder have been terminated under the Senior Credit Facility, any other First Lien Obligations or any Junior Lien Obligations, guarantees any Additional Indebtedness, then within 30 days thereof, the issuer shall cause such Restricted Subsidiary to execute and deliver to the Trustee a supplemental indenture pursuant to which such Restricted Subsidiary will guarantee payment of the Notes on the same terms and conditions as those applicable to the Guarantors under the Indentures and will deliver to the Trustee an Officers' Certificate and Opinion of Counsel that such supplemental indenture is authorized or permitted by the indenture, and an Opinion of Counsel that such supplemental indenture has been duly authorized, executed and delivered and constitutes a legally valid and enforceable obligation (subject to customary qualifications and exceptions). In addition, at any time prior to the Collateral Release Date, if such Restricted Subsidiary grants any Lien to secure any Indebtedness described in clause (i) or (ii) above, such Restricted Subsidiary shall grant a first-priority perfected security interest in the Collateral as security for the Notes, shall execute and deliver to the Trustee joinders to any applicable Security Document for the benefit of the holders of the Notes and shall be a "Secured Guarantor" for all purposes under the Indentures.

Thereafter, such Restricted Subsidiary will be a Guarantor with respect to the Notes until such Restricted Subsidiary's Guarantee with respect to the Notes is released in accordance with the Indentures.

In addition, the issuer may elect, in its sole discretion, to cause any Restricted Subsidiary that is not otherwise required to be a Guarantor to become a Guarantor by complying with the applicable provisions of the second preceding paragraph until such Restricted Subsidiary's Guarantee with respect to the Notes is released in accordance with the Indentures.

For the avoidance of doubt, any Restricted Subsidiary that becomes a Guarantor pursuant to the third preceding paragraph will be an Unsecured Guarantor unless such Restricted Subsidiary grants any Lien to secure any Indebtedness described in clause (i) or (ii) of the third preceding paragraph above, in which case, and only such case, such Restricted Subsidiary shall grant a first-priority perfected security interest in the Collateral as security for the Notes and shall execute and deliver to the Trustee joinders to any applicable Security Document for the benefit of the holders of the Notes, upon which such Restricted Subsidiary shall be a "Secured Guarantor" for all purposes under the Indentures.

SEC reports

Notwithstanding that the Issuer may not be subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act or otherwise report on an annual and quarterly basis on forms provided for such annual and quarterly reporting pursuant to rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC, if not filed electronically with the SEC through EDGAR (or any successor system), the Issuer will file with the SEC (to the extent permitted by the Exchange Act), and make available to the Trustee and the Holders, without cost to any Holder, the annual reports and the information, documents and other reports (or copies of such portions of any of the foregoing as the SEC may by rules and regulations prescribe) that are specified in Sections 13 and 15(d) of the Exchange Act with respect to U.S. issuers within the time periods specified therein or in the relevant forms.

In the event that the Issuer is not permitted to file such reports, documents and information with the SEC pursuant to the Exchange Act, the Issuer will nevertheless make available such Exchange Act reports, documents and information to the Trustee and the Holders as if the Issuer were subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act within the time periods specified therein or in the relevant forms, which requirement may be satisfied by posting such reports, documents and information on its website within the time periods specified by this covenant.

- 49 -

In addition, no later than five Business Days after the date the quarterly and annual financial information for the prior fiscal period have been furnished pursuant to clause (1) above, the Issuer shall also hold live quarterly conference calls with the opportunity to ask questions of management. No fewer than three Business Days prior to the date such conference call is to be held, the Issuer shall issue a press release to the appropriate U.S. wire services announcing such quarterly conference call for the benefit of the Trustee, the Holders, beneficial owners of the Notes, prospective investors in the Notes (which prospective investors shall be limited to "qualified institutional buyers" within the meaning of Rule 144A of the Securities Act or non U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act) that certify their status as such to the reasonable satisfaction of the Issuer), and securities analysts and market making financial institutions (collectively, "Eligible Institutions"), which press release shall contain the time and the date of such conference call and direct the recipients thereof to contact an individual at the Issuer (for whom contact information shall be provided in such notice) to obtain information on how to access such quarterly conference call.

If the Issuer has designated any of its Subsidiaries as Unrestricted Subsidiaries and such Unrestricted Subsidiaries, either individually or collectively, would otherwise have been a Significant Subsidiary, then the quarterly and annual financial information required by the preceding paragraph shall include a reasonably detailed presentation, as determined in good faith by Senior Management of the Issuer, either on the face of the financial statements or in the footnotes to the financial statements and in the "Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations" section, of the financial condition and results of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries separate from the financial condition and results of operations of the Unrestricted Subsidiaries.

In addition, the Issuer and the Guarantors have agreed that they will make available to the Holders and to prospective investors, upon the request of such Holders, the information required to be delivered pursuant to Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act so long as the Original Notes are not freely transferable under the Securities Act. For purposes of this covenant, the Issuer and the Guarantors will be deemed to have furnished the reports to the Trustee and the Holders as required by this covenant if the Issuer has filed such reports with the SEC via the EDGAR filing system and such reports are publicly available.

Events of Default

Under the Indentures, an "Event of Default" applicable to the Notes of any series means:

- failure to pay the principal or any premium on the Notes of such series when due;
- failure to pay any interest or Additional Interest (as required by the Registration Rights Agreement) on the Notes of such series when due, and such default continues for a period of 30 days;
- failure to perform, or the breach of, any of our other applicable covenants or warranties in the Indentures with respect to such series, and such default continues for a period of 60 days after written notice by Holders of at least 10% in principal amount of the outstanding Notes of such series;
- default under any mortgage, indenture or instrument under which there is issued or by which there is secured or evidenced any Indebtedness for money borrowed by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries (or the payment of which is guaranteed by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries), other than Indebtedness owed to the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary, whether such Indebtedness or guarantee now exists, or is created after the Issue Date, which default:
 - is caused by a failure to pay principal of, or interest or premium, if any, on such Indebtedness prior to the expiration of the grace period provided in such Indebtedness ("payment default"); or
 - results in the acceleration of such Indebtedness prior to its maturity (the "cross acceleration provision"),

and, in each case, the principal amount of any such Indebtedness, together with the principal amount of any other such Indebtedness under which there has been a payment default or the maturity of which has

- 50 -

been so accelerated, aggregates \$50.0 million or more; provided that in connection with any series of Convertible Notes, (a) any conversion of such Indebtedness by a holder thereof into shares of Common Stock, cash or a combination of cash and shares of Common Stock, (b) the rights of holders of such Indebtedness to convert into shares of Common Stock, cash or a combination of cash and shares of Common Stock and (c) the rights of holders of such Indebtedness to require any repurchase by the Issuer of such Indebtedness in cash upon a fundamental change shall not, in itself, constitute an Event of Default under this clause.

- failure by the Issuer or any Significant Subsidiary or group of Restricted Subsidiaries that, taken together (as of the latest audited consolidated financial statements for the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries), would constitute a Significant Subsidiary to pay final judgments aggregating in excess of \$50.0 million (net of any amounts that a reputable and creditworthy insurance company has acknowledged liability for in writing), which judgments are not paid, discharged or stayed for a period of 60 days or more after such judgment becomes final (the "judgment default provision");
- events in bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization of the Issuer or any Significant Subsidiary or group of Restricted Subsidiaries that, taken together (as of the latest audited consolidated financial statements for the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries), would constitute a Significant Subsidiary;
- the Guarantee of any Significant Subsidiary or group of Guarantors that, taken together (as of the latest audited consolidated financial statements for the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries), would constitute a Significant Subsidiary shall for any reason cease to be in full force and effect or be declared null and void or any responsible officer of any Guarantor that is a Significant Subsidiary or group of Guarantors that, taken together (as of the latest audited consolidated financial statements for the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries), would constitute a Significant Subsidiary or group of Guarantors that, taken together (as of the latest audited consolidated financial statements for the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries), would constitute a Significant Subsidiary, as the case may be, denies that it has any further liability under its Guarantee or gives notice to such effect, other than by reason of the termination of the Indentures or the release of any such Guarantee in accordance with the Indenture; or
- to the extent applicable, with respect to any Collateral having a fair market value in excess of \$100.0 million, individually or in the aggregate, (a) the security interest under the Security Documents, at any time, ceases to be in full force and effect for any reason other than in accordance with the terms of the Indentures and the Security Documents, (b) any security interest created thereunder or under the Indentures is declared invalid or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction or (c) the Issuer or any Secured Guarantor asserts, in any pleading in any court of competent jurisdiction, that any such security interest is invalid or unenforceable.

If any Event of Default (other than events in bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization) with respect to the Notes of a series occurs and is continuing, either the Trustee or the Holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes of such series may declare the principal amount of, premium, if any, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on all the Notes of such series to be due and payable immediately. If an Event of Default constituting an event in bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization above occurs and is continuing, the principal of, premium, if any, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, or all the Notes of such series will become and be immediately due and payable without any declaration or other act on the part of the Trustee or any Holders. The Holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding Notes of a series may waive all past defaults (except with respect to nonpayment of principal, premium or interest) and rescind any such acceleration with respect to the Notes of such series and its consequences if (1) rescission would not conflict with any judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction and (2) all existing Events of Default, other than the nonpayment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes of such series that have become due solely by such declaration of acceleration, have been cured or waived.

In the event of a declaration of acceleration of the Notes of a series because an Event of Default described in the fourth bullet point of the second preceding paragraph has occurred and is continuing, the declaration of

- 51 -

acceleration of the Notes of such series shall be automatically annulled if the default triggering such Event of Default shall be remedied or cured by the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary or waived by the holders of the relevant Indebtedness within 20 days after the declaration of acceleration with respect thereto and if (1) the annulment of the acceleration of the Notes of such series would not conflict with any judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction and (2) all existing Events of Default, except nonpayment of principal, premium, if any, or interest on the Notes of such series that became due solely because of the acceleration of the Notes of such series, have been cured or waived.

Other than the duties of the Trustee during a default to act with the required standard of care, the Trustee is not obligated to exercise any of its rights or powers under the Indentures at the request or direction of any of the Holders unless the Holders shall have offered to the Trustee indemnity reasonably satisfactory to it. Subject to these indemnification provisions, the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes of the applicable series may direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred on the Trustee, with respect to the Notes of such series.

We will furnish the Trustee annually with a statement as to our performance of certain obligations under the Indentures. Upon becoming aware of any Default or Event of Default, we will deliver to the Trustee a notice specifying such Default or Event of Default.

Modification and Waiver

Without Holder Consent

Without the consent of any Holders of Notes of the applicable series, the Issuer, any Guarantor (with respect to a Guarantee or the Indentures to which it is a party) and the Trustee may amend or supplement the Indentures, any Security Document and any Guarantee or Notes of such series for any of the following purposes:

- (1) to evidence the succession of another corporation to the Issuer and the assumption by such successor of the covenants of the Issuer in compliance with the requirements set forth in the Indenture; or
- (2) to add to the covenants for the benefit of the Holders or to surrender any right or power herein conferred upon the Issuer; or
- (3) to add any additional Events of Default; or
- (4) to change or eliminate any of the provisions of the Indentures; provided that any such change or elimination shall become effective only when there are no outstanding Notes of such series created prior to the execution of such supplemental indenture that are entitled to the benefit of such provision and as to which such supplemental indenture would apply; or
- (5) to add a Guarantor to the Notes of such series; or
- (6) to supplement any of the provisions of the Indentures to such extent necessary to permit or facilitate the defeasance and discharge of the Notes of such series; provided that any such action does not adversely affect the interests of the Holders of the Notes of such series in any material respect; or
- (7) to evidence and provide for the acceptance of appointment hereunder by a successor Trustee and to add to or change any of the provisions of the Indentures necessary to provide for or facilitate the administration of the trusts by more than one Trustee; or
- (8) to cure any ambiguity, to correct or supplement any provision of the Indentures which may be defective or inconsistent with any other provision; or
- (9) to conform the text of the Indentures, the Notes of such series, the Guarantees or the Security Documents to any provision of this "Description of the Notes" section to the extent that such provision was intended to be a verbatim recitation of a provision of the Indentures, the Notes of such series, the Guarantees or the Security Documents; provided that, in each instance, the Issuer delivers to the Trustee an Officers' Certificate to such effect; or

- (10) to change any place or places where the principal of and premium, if any, and interest, if any, on the Notes of such series shall be payable, the Notes of such series may be surrendered for registration or transfer, the Notes of such series may be surrendered for exchange, and notices and demands to or upon the Issuer may be served; or
- (11) to mortgage, pledge, hypothecate or grant any other Lien in favor of the First Lien Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Trustee and the Holders of the Notes of such series, as additional security for the payment and performance of all or any portion of the Obligations, in any property or assets, including any which are required to be mortgaged, pledged or hypothecated, or in which a Lien is required to be granted in favor of the First Lien Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Trustee and the Holders of the Notes of such series pursuant to the Indentures, any of the Security Documents or otherwise; or
- (12) to release Collateral from the Lien of the Indentures and the Security Documents when permitted or required by the Security Documents or the Indentures; or
- (13) to add Additional First Lien Secured Parties to any Security Documents in accordance with such Security Documents; or
- (14) provide for the issuance of Exchange Notes of such series or private exchange notes (which shall be identical to Exchange Notes of such series except that they will not be freely transferable) and which shall be treated, together with any outstanding Notes of such series, as a single class of securities; or
- (15) comply with any requirement of the SEC in connection with any required qualification of the Indentures under the Trust Indenture Act.

In connection with the incurrence of any Junior Lien Obligations permitted under the terms of the Indentures, without the consent of any Holder of Notes of such series, the First Lien Collateral Agent shall, on behalf of the holders of the First Lien Obligations, enter into a customary intercreditor agreement with the representative of such Junior Lien Obligations. The Trustee and First Lien Collateral Agent shall be entitled to rely upon an Officers' Certificate certifying that such Junior Lien Obligations, as the case may be, were incurred and secured in compliance with the Indentures and the Security Documents, and no Opinion of Counsel shall be required in connection therewith (unless the Trustee is an Applicable Authorized Representative).

With Holder Consent

The Issuer and the Trustee may modify and amend the Indentures, any Guarantee or any Security Document with the consent of the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes of the applicable series; however, we must have the consent of the Holder of each outstanding Note of such series affected to:

- (1) change the stated maturity of the principal of, or installment of interest, if any, on, such Notes of such series, or reduce the principal amount thereof or the interest thereon or any premium payable upon redemption thereof;
- (2) change the currency in which the principal of (and premium, if any) or interest on such Notes of such series are denominated or payable;
- (3) waive a Default or Event of Default in the payment of principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Notes of such series (except a rescission of acceleration of the Notes of such series by the Holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes of such series with respect to a nonpayment default and a waiver of the payment default that resulted from such acceleration);
- (4) reduce the premium payable upon the redemption or repurchase of any Note of such series or change the time at which any Note of such series may be redeemed or repurchased as described above under "—Optional redemption" or "—Repurchase at the option of holders— Change of control," whether through an amendment or waiver of provisions in the covenants, definitions or otherwise (except amendments to the definitions of "Change of Control" and "Permitted Holders");

- 53 -

- (5) impair the right of any Holder to receive payment of principal of, premium, if any, or interest on such Holder's Notes of such series on or after the due dates therefor or impair the right to institute suit for the enforcement of any payment on or after the stated maturity thereof (or, in the case of redemption, on or after the redemption date);
- (6) modify the provisions that require Holder consent to modify or amend the Indentures or that permit Holders to waive compliance with certain provisions of the Indentures or certain defaults;
- (7) make any change to or modify the ranking of such Notes of such series or the ranking of the Liens with respect to such Notes of such series that would adversely affect the Holders; or
- (8) except as expressly permitted by the Indentures, modify the Guarantees of any Significant Subsidiary in any manner adverse to the Holders of the Notes of such series.

In addition, without the consent of at least 75% in aggregate principal amount of Notes of such series then outstanding, an amendment, supplement or waiver may not modify any Security Document or the provisions of the Indentures dealing with the Security Documents or application of trust moneys, or otherwise release any Collateral, in any manner materially adverse to the Holders of the Notes of such series other than in accordance with the Indentures and the Security Documents.

The Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes of the applicable series may, on behalf of all Holders of Notes of such series, waive any past default under the Indentures with respect to Notes of such series. However, such Holders may not waive a past default in the payment of principal, premium or interest, or any sinking fund installment with respect to the Notes of such series, or waive a covenant or provision that cannot be modified or amended, without the consent of the Holders of each outstanding Note of such series affected.

Consolidation, Merger, Sale or Lease of Assets

The Issuer may consolidate with or merge into, or transfer or lease all or substantially all of its assets to another Person (whether or not the Issuer is the surviving corporation) without the consent of the Holders of the Notes under the Indentures if:

- the Issuer is the surviving entity or the Person formed by or surviving any such consolidation or merger, or to whom any such transfer or lease will have been made, is a corporation, partnership, limited partnership, limited liability corporation or trust organized or existing under the laws of the United States, any state thereof, the District of Columbia, or any territory thereof (the Issuer or such Person, as the case may be, being herein called the "Successor Person");
- the Successor Person assumes the Issuer's obligations on the Notes and under the Indentures, as if such Successor Person were an original party to the Indentures and assumes by written agreement all of the obligations of the Issuer under the Registration Rights Agreement;
- after giving effect to the transaction, no Event of Default, and no event which, after notice or lapse of time or both, would become an Event of Default, shall have occurred and be continuing;
- if, as a result of any such consolidation or merger or such conveyance, transfer or lease, properties or assets of the Issuer would become subject to a mortgage, pledge, lien, security interest or other encumbrance that would not be permitted by the Indentures, the Issuer or such Successor Person, as the case may be, shall take such steps as shall be necessary effectively to secure all the Notes equally and ratably with (or prior to) all Indebtedness secured thereby;
- each Guarantor, unless it is the other party to the transactions described above, shall have by supplemental indenture confirmed that its Guarantee shall apply to such Person's obligations under the Indentures and the Notes and shall have by written agreement confirmed that its obligations under the Registration Rights Agreement shall continue to be in effect;

- 54 -

- prior to the Collateral Release Date, the Collateral owned by the Successor Person will (a) continue to constitute Collateral under the Indentures and the Security Documents, (b) be subject to a Lien in favor of the First Lien Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Trustee and the Holders of the Notes and (c) not be subject to any other Lien, other than Permitted Liens;
- prior to the Collateral Release Date, to the extent any assets of the Person which is merged or consolidated with or into the Successor Person are assets of the type which would constitute Collateral under the Security Documents, the Successor Person will take such action as may be reasonably necessary to cause such property and assets to be made subject to the Lien of the Security Documents in the manner and to the extent required in the Indentures or any of the Security Documents and shall take all reasonably necessary action so that such Lien is perfected to the extent required by the Security Documents; and
- the Issuer has delivered to the Trustee an Officers' Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel each stating that such consolidation, merger, conveyance, transfer or lease and such supplemental indenture comply with this covenant and that all conditions precedent (including, without limitation, under the Indentures and the Security Documents) provided for relating to such transaction have been complied with.

Subject to certain limitations described in the Indentures, the Successor Person will succeed to, and be substituted for, the Issuer under the Notes, the Guarantees and the Registration Rights Agreements.

Defeasance

We may be discharged from our obligations under the applicable series of Notes, and we will not be subject to the limitations in the Indentures discussed in the above sections, if we deposit with the Trustee trust money or U.S. government obligations that are sufficient (as certified by an independent public accountant designated by the Issuer) to pay all principal, premium and interest on the Notes of such series and the Holders of the Notes of such series have a valid perfected exclusive security interest on such deposit. We would deliver to the Trustee an Officers' Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel to the effect that the deposit and related defeasance would not (1) cause the beneficial owners of the Notes of such series from any national securities exchange (if so listed) and (3) all conditions precedent under the Indentures and the Security Documents relating to the defeasance of the Notes of such series have been complied with.

Notices

Notices to Holders will be mailed to the addresses of the holders listed in the security register.

Governing law

We will construe the Indentures and the Notes in accordance with the laws of the State of New York.

Concerning the trustee

The Trustee has normal banking relationships with us.

Certain definitions

"Additional First Lien Obligations" means Obligations in respect of any Indebtedness incurred after the applicable Issue Date that is secured by a Lien on the Common Collateral pursuant to the applicable First Lien Security Documents, which Lien is permitted to be incurred under the Indentures, the Security Documents and all other then-existing First Lien Security Documents.

- 55 -

"Additional First Lien Secured Parties" means the holders of any Additional First Lien Obligations and any Authorized Representative with respect thereto.

"Additional Indebtedness" means Indebtedness of the Issuer for borrowed money (excluding Indebtedness under the Senior Credit Facility, any First Lien Obligations or any Junior Lien Obligations) under any debt securities or term loans broadly syndicated to institutional investors in a principal amount in excess of \$50.0 million.

"Additional Interest" means the interest payable as a consequence of the failure to effectuate in a timely manner the Exchange Offer and/or shelf registration procedures set forth in the Registration Rights Agreements.

"Affiliate" of any specified Person means any other Person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with such specified Person. For purposes of this definition, "Control" (including, with correlative meanings, the terms "Controlling," "Controlled By" and "Under Common Control With"), as used with respect to any Person, shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by agreement or otherwise.

"Applicable Authorized Representative" means, (1) with respect to any Common Collateral, (i) until the earlier of (x) the Discharge of Senior Credit Facility Obligations and (y) the Non-Controlling Authorized Representative Enforcement Date, the administrative agent under the Senior Credit Facility and (ii) from and after the earlier of (x) the Discharge of Senior Credit Facility Obligations and (y) the Non-Controlling Authorized Representative Enforcement Date, the Major Non-Controlling Authorized Representative and (2) with respect to any Collateral that is not Common Collateral, the Authorized Representative of the Series of First Lien Obligations that is secured by such Collateral.

For the avoidance of doubt, with respect to actions with respect to Collateral that is not Common Collateral, (a) the Authorized Representative of the Series of First Lien Obligations secured by such Collateral shall have the sole right to instruct the First Lien Collateral Agent to act or refrain from acting with respect to the Collateral that is not Common Collateral, (b) the First Lien Collateral Agent shall not follow any instructions with respect to such Collateral that is not Common Collateral from any Person (other than such Authorized Representative), and (c) no Authorized Representative (other than the Authorized Representative of the Series of First Lien Obligations secured by such Collateral) will instruct the First Lien Collateral Agent to commence any judicial or non-judicial foreclosure proceedings with respect to, seek to have a trustee, receiver, liquidator or similar official appointed for or over, attempt any action to take possession of, exercise any right, remedy or power with respect to, or otherwise take any action to enforce its interests in or realize upon, or take any other action available to it in respect of, the Collateral that is not Common Collateral.

"Attributable Indebtedness" in respect of a Sale and Lease-Back Transaction means, as at the time of determination, the present value (discounted at the interest rate implicit in the transaction) of the total obligations of the lessee for rental payments during the remaining term of the lease included in such Sale and Lease-Back Transaction (including any period for which such lease has been extended), determined in accordance with GAAP; provided, however, that if such Sale and Lease-Back Transaction results in a Capitalized Lease Obligation, the amount of Indebtedness represented thereby will be determined in accordance with the definition of "Capitalized Lease Obligations."

"Authorized Representative" means:

- in the case of any Senior Credit Facility Obligations or the Credit Agreement Secured Parties (as defined in the Security Agreement), the administrative agent under the Senior Credit Facility,
- (2) in the case of the Notes Obligations or the Holders, the Trustee, and

- 56 -

(3) in the case of any Series of Additional First Lien Obligations or Additional First Lien Secured Parties that become subject to the Security Agreement, the Authorized Representative named for such Series in the applicable joinder agreement.

"Bankruptcy Code" means Title 11 of the United States Code, as amended.

"Bankruptcy Law" means the Bankruptcy Code and any similar federal, state or foreign law for the relief of debtors.

"Base Security Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Collateral Agreement, dated as of August 7, 2014, by and among the Issuer, the subsidiary grantors named therein, the First Lien Collateral Agent and the Authorized Representatives, as supplemented by the Additional Authorized Representative Joinders, dated as of June 3, 2016 and September 21, 2020, respectively, and as the same may be further amended, restated or modified from time to time.

"Business Day" means each day which is not a Legal Holiday.

"Capital Stock" means:

- (1) in the case of a corporation, corporate stock;
- (2) in the case of an association or business entity, any and all shares, interests, participations, rights or other equivalents (however designated) of corporate stock;
- (3) in the case of a partnership or limited liability company, partnership or membership interests (whether general or limited); and
- (4) any other interest or participation that confers on a Person the right to receive a share of the profits and
- (5) losses of, or distributions of assets of, the issuing Person.

"Capitalized Lease Obligations" means an obligation that is required to be classified and accounted for as a capitalized lease for financial reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP, and the amount of Indebtedness represented by such obligation will be the capitalized amount of such obligation at the time any determination thereof is to be made as determined in accordance with GAAP, and the stated maturity thereof will be the date of the last payment of rent or any other amount due under such lease prior to the first date such lease may be terminated without penalty.

"Cash Equivalents" means:

- (1) United States dollars;
- (2) euros or any national currency of any participating member state of the EMU or such local currencies held by the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries from time to time in the ordinary course of business;
- (3) securities issued or directly and fully and unconditionally guaranteed or insured by the U.S. government (or any agency or instrumentality thereof the securities of which are unconditionally guaranteed as a full faith and credit obligation of the U.S. government) with maturities of 24 months or less from the date of acquisition;
- (4) certificates of deposit, time deposits and eurodollar time deposits with maturities of one year or less from the date of acquisition, bankers' acceptances with maturities not exceeding one year and overnight bank deposits, in each case with any commercial bank having capital and surplus of not less than \$500.0 million in the case of U.S. banks and \$100.0 million (or the U.S. dollar equivalent as of the date of determination) in the case of non-U.S. banks;
- (5) repurchase obligations for underlying securities of the types described in clauses (3) and (4) entered into with any financial institution meeting the qualifications specified in clause (4) above;

- 57 -

- (6) commercial paper rated at least P-1 by Moody's or at least A-1 by S&P and in each case maturing within 24 months after the date of creation thereof;
- (7) marketable short-term money market and similar securities having a rating of at least P-2 or A-2 from either Moody's or S&P, respectively (or, if at any time neither Moody's nor S&P shall be rating such obligations, an equivalent rating from another Rating Agency) and in each case maturing within 24 months after the date of creation thereof;
- (8) investment funds investing 95% of their assets in securities of the types described in clauses (1) through (7) above;
- (9) readily marketable direct obligations issued by any state, commonwealth or territory of the United States or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof having an Investment Grade Rating from either Moody's or S&P with maturities of 24 months or less from the date of acquisition;
- (10) Indebtedness or Preferred Stock issued by Persons with a rating of A or higher from S&P or A2 or higher from Moody's with maturities of 24 months or less from the date of acquisition; and
- (11) Investments with average maturities of 24 months or less from the date of acquisition in money market funds rated AAA- (or the equivalent thereof) or better by S&P or Aaa3 (or the equivalent thereof) or better by Moody's.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Cash Equivalents shall include amounts denominated in currencies other than those set forth in clauses (1) and (2) above; provided that such amounts are converted into any currency listed in clauses (1) and (2) as promptly as practicable and in any event within ten Business Days following the receipt of such amounts.

"CFC" means a "controlled foreign corporation" within the meaning of Section 957(a) of the Code.

"Change of Control" means the occurrence of any of the following:

- (1) any "person" or "group" of related persons (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act), other than one or more Permitted Holders, becomes the beneficial owner (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act, except that such person or group shall be deemed to have "beneficial ownership" of all shares that any such person or group has the right to acquire, whether such right is exercisable immediately or only after the passage of time), directly or indirectly, of more than 35% of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of the Issuer or any of its direct or indirect parent entities (or their successors by merger, consolidation or purchase of all or substantially all of their assets); or
- (2) the first day on which a majority of the members of the Board of Directors of the Issuer are not Continuing Directors; or
- (3) the sale, assignment, conveyance, transfer, lease or other disposition (other than by way of merger or consolidation), in one or a series of related transactions, of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries taken as a whole to any "person" (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act) other than transactions with a Permitted Holder; or
- (4) the adoption by the stockholders of the Issuer of a plan or proposal for the liquidation or dissolution of the Issuer.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or any successor thereto.

"Collateral" means all property and assets of the Issuer or any Secured Guarantor, whether owned on the Issue Date or thereafter acquired, in which Liens are, from time to time, granted or purported to be granted to secure the Notes and the Guarantees pursuant to the Indentures and the Security Documents.

- 58 -

"Collateral Release Date" has the meaning assigned to such term under "-Release of Collateral and Guarantees upon Investment Grade Rating Event."

"Collections" means (a) with respect to any Receivable, all cash collections and other cash proceeds of such Receivable, including, without limitation, all cash proceeds of Related Security with respect to such Receivable, and all funds deemed to have been received by the applicable Issuer or the Secured Guarantor or any other Person with respect thereto, and (b) with respect to any Participation Interest, all cash collections and other cash proceeds of the Receivable underlying such Participation Interest, including, without limitation, all cash proceeds of Related Security with respect to such Participation Interest, and all funds deemed to have been received by the Issuer or the Secured Guarantor or any other Person with respect to such Participation Interest, and all funds deemed to have been received by the Issuer or the Secured Guarantor or any other Person with respect thereto.

"Common Collateral" means, at any time, Collateral in which the holders of two or more Series of First Lien Obligations (or their respective Authorized Representatives or the First Lien Collateral Agent on behalf of such Authorized Representative) hold a valid security interest at such time. If more than two Series of First Lien Obligations are outstanding at any time and the holders of less than all Series of First Lien Obligations hold a valid security interest in any Collateral at such time then such Collateral shall constitute Common Collateral for those Series of First Lien Obligations that hold a valid security interest in such Collateral at such time and shall not constitute Common Collateral for any Series which does not have a valid security interest in such Collateral at such time.

"Common Stock" means with respect to any Person, any and all shares, interest or other participations in, and other equivalents (however designated and whether voting or nonvoting) of such Person's common stock whether or not outstanding on the Issue Date and includes, without limitation, all series and classes of such common stock.

"Consolidated Coverage Ratio" means as of any date of determination, with respect to any Person, the ratio of (x) the aggregate amount of Consolidated EBITDA of such Person for the period of the most recent four consecutive fiscal quarters ending prior to the date of such determination for which financial statements prepared on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP are available to (y) Consolidated Interest Expense for such four fiscal quarters; provided, however, that:

- (1) if the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary:
 - (a) has Incurred any Indebtedness since the beginning of such period that remains outstanding on such date of determination or if the transaction giving rise to the need to calculate the Consolidated Coverage Ratio includes an Incurrence of Indebtedness, Consolidated EBITDA and Consolidated Interest Expense for such period will be calculated after giving effect on a pro forma basis to such Indebtedness as if such Indebtedness had been Incurred on the first day of such period (except that in making such computation, the amount of Indebtedness under any revolving Credit Facility outstanding on the date of such calculation will be deemed to be (i) the average daily balance of such Indebtedness during such four fiscal quarters or such shorter period for which such facility was outstanding or (ii) if such facility was created after the end of such four fiscal quarters, the average daily balance of such Indebtedness during the period from the date of creation of such facility to the date of such calculation) and the discharge of any other Indebtedness repaid, repurchased, redeemed, retired, defeased or otherwise discharged with the proceeds of such new Indebtedness as if such discharge had occurred on the first day of such period; or
 - (b) has repaid, repurchased, redeemed, retired, defeased or otherwise discharged any Indebtedness since the beginning of the period that is no longer outstanding on such date of determination or if the transaction giving rise to the need to calculate the Consolidated Coverage Ratio includes a discharge of Indebtedness (in each case, other than Indebtedness Incurred under any revolving Credit Facility unless such Indebtedness has been permanently repaid and the related commitment

- 59 -

terminated and not replaced), Consolidated EBITDA and Consolidated Interest Expense for such period will be calculated after giving effect on a pro forma basis to such discharge of such Indebtedness, including with the proceeds of such new Indebtedness, as if such discharge had occurred on the first day of such period;

- (2) if since the beginning of such period, the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary will have disposed of any assets or disposed of or discontinued (as defined under GAAP) any company, division, operating unit, segment, business, group of related assets or line of business or if the transaction giving rise to the need to calculate the Consolidated Coverage Ratio includes such a transaction:
 - (a) the Consolidated EBITDA for such period will be reduced by an amount equal to the Consolidated EBITDA (if positive) directly attributable to the assets that are the subject of such disposition or discontinuation for such period or increased by an amount equal to the Consolidated EBITDA (if negative) directly attributable thereto for such period; and
 - (b) Consolidated Interest Expense for such period will be reduced by an amount equal to the Consolidated Interest Expense directly attributable to any Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary repaid, repurchased, redeemed, retired, defeased or otherwise discharged (to the extent the related commitment is permanently reduced) with respect to the Issuer and its continuing Restricted Subsidiaries in connection with such transaction for such period (or, if the Capital Stock of any Restricted Subsidiary is sold, the Consolidated Interest Expense for such period directly attributable to the Indebtedness of such Restricted Subsidiary to the extent the Issuer and its continuing Restricted Subsidiaries are no longer liable for such Indebtedness after such sale);
- (3) if since the beginning of such period the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary (by merger or otherwise) will have made an Investment in any Restricted Subsidiary (or any Person that becomes a Restricted Subsidiary or is merged with or into the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary) or an acquisition of assets, including any acquisition of assets occurring in connection with a transaction causing a calculation to be made hereunder, which constitutes all or substantially all of a company, division, operating unit, segment, business, group of related assets or line of business, Consolidated EBITDA and Consolidated Interest Expense for such period will be calculated after giving pro forma effect thereto (including the Incurrence of any Indebtedness) as if such Investment or acquisition occurred on the first day of such period; and
- (4) if since the beginning of such period any Person (that subsequently became a Restricted Subsidiary or was merged with or into the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary since the beginning of such period) will have Incurred any Indebtedness or discharged any Indebtedness, made any disposition or any Investment or acquisition of assets that would have required an adjustment pursuant to clause (1), (2) or (3) above if made by the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary during such period, Consolidated EBITDA and Consolidated Interest Expense for such period will be calculated after giving pro forma effect thereto as if such transaction occurred on the first day of such period.

For purposes of this definition, whenever pro forma effect is to be given to any calculation under this definition, the pro forma calculations will be determined in good faith by a responsible financial or accounting officer of the Issuer (including pro forma expense and cost reductions calculated on a basis consistent with Regulation S-X under the Securities Act). If any Indebtedness bears a floating rate of interest and is being given pro forma effect, the interest expense on such Indebtedness will be calculated as if the rate in effect on the date of determination had been the applicable rate for the entire period (taking into account any Interest Rate Agreement applicable to such Indebtedness if such Interest Rate Agreement has a remaining term in excess of 12 months). If any Indebtedness that is being given pro forma effect bears an interest rate at the option of the Issuer, the interest rate shall be calculated by applying such optional rate chosen by the Issuer.

- 60 -

"Consolidated EBITDA" means, with respect to any Person for any period, the Consolidated Net Income of such Person for such period:

- (1) increased (without duplication) by the following items to the extent deducted in calculating such Consolidated Net Income:
 - (a) Consolidated Interest Expense; plus
 - (b) Consolidated Income Taxes; plus
 - (c) consolidated depreciation expense; plus
 - (d) consolidated amortization expense or impairment charges recorded in connection with the application of Accounting Standards Codification Topic 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other, or Topic 360, Property, Plant and Equipment; plus
 - (e) other non-cash charges reducing Consolidated Net Income, including any write-offs or write-downs (excluding any such non-cash charge to the extent it represents an accrual of or reserve for cash charges in any future period or amortization of a prepaid cash expense that was capitalized at the time of payment; provided that the Issuer is permitted to add back non-cash charges representing an accrual or reserve relating to any legal, administrative or governmental claim, litigation, investigation or proceedings, even if cash charges may be anticipated in any future period, so long as (i) adding back such non-cash charges is consistent with the Issuer's past practice in its publicly reported "EBITDA" or "Adjusted EBITDA" included in its annual or quarterly earnings reports and (ii) the aggregate amount of such non-cash charges added pursuant to this proviso shall not exceed \$35.0 million for any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters) and non-cash compensation expense recorded from grants of stock appreciation or similar rights, stock options, restricted stock or other rights to officers, directors or employees; plus
 - (f) any extraordinary, non-recurring or unusual cash expenses or losses, including, without limitation, severance costs, relocation costs, consolidation and closing costs, integration and facilities opening costs, business optimization costs, transition costs, restructuring costs, signing, retention or completion bonuses, and curtailments or modifications to pension and post-retirement employee benefit plans, in each case so long as adding back such expenses or losses is consistent with the Issuer's past practice in its publicly reported "EBITDA" or "Adjusted EBITDA" included in its annual or quarterly earnings reports; plus
 - (g) any non-recurring fees, charges or expenses paid in connection with the Transactions within 180 days of the Issue Date that were deducted in computing Consolidated Net Income.
- (2) decreased (without duplication) by the following items to the extent included in calculating such Consolidated Net Income:
 - (a) non-cash items increasing Consolidated Net Income of such Person for such period (excluding any items which represent the reversal of any accrual of, or reserve for, anticipated cash charges that reduced Consolidated EBITDA in any prior period), plus
 - (b) any extraordinary, non-recurring or unusual cash gains or income so long as deducting such gains or income is consistent with the Issuer's past practice in its publicly reported "EBITDA" or "Adjusted EBITDA" included in its annual or quarterly earnings reports, and
- (3) increased or decreased (without duplication) to eliminate the following items reflected in Consolidated Net Income:
 - (a) any unrealized net gain or loss resulting in such period from Hedging Obligations and the application of Accounting Standards Codification Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging;
 - (b) any net gain or loss resulting in such period from currency translation gains or losses related to currency remeasurements of Indebtedness; and

- 61 -

(c) effects of adjustments (including the effects of such adjustments pushed down to the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries) in any line item in such Person's consolidated financial statements pursuant to GAAP resulting from the application of accounting in relation to any completed acquisition.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, clauses (1)(b) through (g) relating to amounts of a Restricted Subsidiary of a Person will be added to Consolidated Net Income to compute Consolidated EBITDA of such Person only to the extent (and in the same proportion) that the net income (loss) of such Restricted Subsidiary was included in calculating the Consolidated Net Income of such Person and, to the extent the amounts set forth in clauses (1)(b) through (g) are in excess of those necessary to offset a net loss of such Restricted Subsidiary or if such Restricted Subsidiary has net income for such period included in Consolidated Net Income, only if a corresponding amount would be permitted at the date of determination to be dividended to the Issuer by such Restricted Subsidiary without prior approval (that has not been obtained), pursuant to the terms of its charter and all agreements, instruments, judgments, decrees, orders, statutes, rules and governmental regulations applicable to that Restricted Subsidiary or its stockholders.

"Consolidated Income Taxes" means, with respect to any Person for any period, taxes imposed upon such Person or other payments required to be made by such Person by any governmental authority which taxes or other payments are calculated by reference to the income or profits or capital of such Person or such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries (to the extent such income or profits were included in computing Consolidated Net Income for such period), including, without limitation, state, franchise and similar taxes and foreign withholding taxes regardless of whether such taxes or payments are required to be remitted to any governmental authority.

"Consolidated Interest Expense" means, for any period, the total interest expense of the Issuer and its consolidated Restricted Subsidiaries, whether paid or accrued, plus, to the extent not included in such interest expense:

- (1) interest expense attributable to Capitalized Lease Obligations and the interest portion of rent expense associated with Attributable Indebtedness in respect of the relevant lease giving rise thereto, determined as if such lease were a capitalized lease in accordance with GAAP and the interest component of any deferred payment obligations;
- (2) amortization of debt discount (including the amortization of original issue discount resulting from the issuance of Indebtedness at less than par) and debt issuance cost; provided, however, that any amortization of bond premium will be credited to reduce Consolidated Interest Expense unless, pursuant to GAAP, such amortization of bond premium has otherwise reduced Consolidated Interest Expense;
- (3) non-cash interest expense, but any non-cash interest income or expense attributable to the movement in the mark-to-market valuation of Hedging Obligations or other derivative instruments pursuant to GAAP shall be excluded from the calculation of Consolidated Interest Expense;
- (4) commissions, discounts and other fees and charges owed with respect to letters of credit and bankers acceptance financing;
- (5) the interest expense on Indebtedness of another Person that is Guaranteed by such Person or one of its Restricted Subsidiaries or secured by a Lien on assets of such Person or one of its Restricted Subsidiaries;
- (6) costs associated with entering into Hedging Obligations (including amortization of fees) related to Indebtedness;
- (7) interest expense of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries that was capitalized during such period;
- (8) the product of (a) all dividends paid or payable, in cash, Cash Equivalents or Indebtedness or accrued during such period on any series of Disqualified Stock of such Person or on Preferred Stock of its

- 62 -

Restricted Subsidiaries that are not Guarantors payable to a party other than the Issuer or a Wholly Owned Subsidiary, times (b) a fraction, the numerator of which is one and the denominator of which is one minus the then current combined federal, state, provincial and local statutory tax rate of such Person, expressed as a decimal, in each case, on a consolidated basis and in accordance with GAAP;

- (9) Receivables Fees; and
- (10) the cash contributions to any employee stock ownership plan or similar trust to the extent such contributions are used by such plan or trust to pay interest or fees to any Person (other than the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries) in connection with Indebtedness Incurred by such plan or trust.

For the purpose of calculating the Consolidated Coverage Ratio, the calculation of Consolidated Interest Expense shall include all interest expense (including any amounts described in clauses (1) through (10) above) relating to any Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary described in the final paragraph of the definition of "Indebtedness."

For purposes of the foregoing, total interest expense will be determined (i) after giving effect to any net payments made or received by the Issuer and its Subsidiaries with respect to Interest Rate Agreements and (ii) exclusive of amounts classified as other comprehensive income in the balance sheet of the Issuer. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, without duplication of clause (9) above, commissions, discounts, yield and other fees and charges Incurred in connection with any transaction pursuant to which the Issuer or its Restricted Subsidiaries may sell, convey or otherwise transfer or grant a security interest in any accounts receivable or related assets shall be included in Consolidated Interest Expense.

"Consolidated Net Income" means, for any period, the net income (loss) of the Issuer and its consolidated Restricted Subsidiaries determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP; provided, however, that there will not be included in such Consolidated Net Income on an after-tax basis:

- (1) any net income (loss) of any Person if such Person is not a Restricted Subsidiary or that is accounted for by the equity method of accounting, except that:
 - (a) subject to the limitations contained in clauses (3) through (7) below, the Issuer's equity in the net income of any such Person for such period will be included in such Consolidated Net Income up to the aggregate amount of cash actually distributed by such Person during such period to the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary as a dividend or other distribution (subject, in the case of a dividend or other distribution to a Restricted Subsidiary, to the limitations contained in clause (2) below); and
 - (b) the Issuer's equity in a net loss of any such Person (other than an Unrestricted Subsidiary) for such period will be included in determining such Consolidated Net Income to the extent such loss has been funded with cash from the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary;
- (2) any net income (but not loss) of any Restricted Subsidiary (other than a Subsidiary that is a Guarantor) if such Restricted Subsidiary is subject to prior government approval or other restrictions due to the operation of its charter or any agreement, instrument, judgment, decree, order statute, rule or government regulation (which have not been waived), directly or indirectly, on the payment of dividends or the making of distributions by such Restricted Subsidiary, directly or indirectly, to the Issuer, except that:
 - (a) subject to the limitations contained in clauses (3) through (7) below, the Issuer's equity in the net income of any such Restricted Subsidiary for such period will be included in such Consolidated Net Income up to the aggregate amount of cash that could have been distributed by such Restricted Subsidiary during such period to the Issuer or another Restricted Subsidiary as a dividend (subject, in the case of a dividend to another Restricted Subsidiary, to the limitation contained in this clause); and

- 63 -

- (b) the Issuer's equity in a net loss of any such Restricted Subsidiary for such period will be included in determining such Consolidated Net Income;
- (3) any gain or loss (less all fees and expenses relating thereto) realized upon sales or other dispositions of any assets of the Issuer or such Restricted Subsidiary, other than in the ordinary course of business, as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Issuer;
- (4) any income or loss from discontinued operations and any gain or loss on disposal of discontinued operations;
- (5) any income (loss) from the early extinguishment of Indebtedness or Hedging Obligations or other derivative instruments;
- (6) any extraordinary gain or loss;
- (7) any net income (loss) included in the consolidated statement of operations as noncontrolling interests due to the application of Accounting Standards Codification Topic 810, Consolidation; and
- (8) the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles.

"Consolidated Net Tangible Assets" means, with respect to any Person, the total amount of assets (less applicable reserves and other properly deductible items) after deducting therefrom (a) all current liabilities as disclosed on the consolidated balance sheet of such Person (excluding any thereof which are by their terms extendible or renewable at the option of the obligor thereon to a time more than 12 months after the time as of which the amount thereof is being computed and further excluding any deferred income taxes that are included in current liabilities) and (b) all goodwill, trade names, trademarks, patents, unamortized debt discount and expense and other like intangible assets, all as set forth on the most recent consolidated balance sheet of the Issuer and computed in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

"Continuing Directors" means, as of any date of determination, any member of the Board of Directors of the Issuer who: (1) was a member of such Board of Directors on the Issue Date or (2) was nominated for election or elected to such Board of Directors with the approval of a majority of the Continuing Directors who were members of such Board at the time of such nomination or election.

"Convertible Notes" means Indebtedness of the Issuer that is optionally convertible into Common Stock of the Issuer (and/or cash based on the value of such Common Stock) and/or Indebtedness of a Subsidiary of the Issuer that is optionally exchangeable for Common Stock of the Issuer (and/or cash based on the value of such Common Stock).

"Credit Facilities" means, with respect to the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, one or more debt facilities, including the Senior Credit Facility and any Qualified Receivables Transaction, or other financing arrangements (including, without limitation, commercial paper facilities or indentures) providing for revolving credit loans, term loans, receivables financing, letters of credit or other long-term Indebtedness, including any notes, mortgages, guarantees, collateral documents, instruments and agreements executed in connection therewith, and any amendments, supplements, modifications, extensions, renewals, restatements or refundings thereof and any indentures or credit facilities or commercial paper facilities that replace, refund or refinance any part of the loans, notes, other credit facilities or commitments thereunder, including any such replacement, refunding or refinancing facility or indenture that increases the amount permitted to be borrowed thereunder or alters the maturity thereof or adds Restricted Subsidiaries as additional borrowers or guarantors thereunder and whether by the same or any other agent, lender or group of lenders and whether or not the original administrative agent, lenders, trustees or other agents are parties thereto and whether provided under the original Senior Credit Facility, the Existing Receivables Facility or any other credit agreement or indenture.

"Default" means any event that is, or with the passage of time or the giving of notice or both would be, an Event of Default.

"Discharge of Senior Credit Facility Obligations" means, with respect to any Common Collateral, the date on which the Senior Credit Facility Obligations are no longer secured by such Common Collateral; provided that the Discharge of Senior Credit Facility Obligations shall not be deemed to have occurred in connection with a refinancing of such Senior Credit Facility Obligations with additional First Lien Obligations secured by such Common Collateral under an agreement relating to Additional First Lien Obligations which has been designated in writing by the administrative agent under such refinancing Senior Credit Facility to the First Lien Collateral Agent and each other Authorized Representative as the Senior Credit Facility for purposes of the Security Agreement.

"Disqualified Stock" means, with respect to any Person, any Capital Stock of such Person which, by its terms, or by the terms of any security into which it is convertible or for which it is putable or exchangeable, or upon the happening of any event, matures or is mandatorily redeemable (other than solely as a result of a change of control or asset sale) pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or is redeemable at the option of the holder thereof (other than solely as a result of a change of control or asset sale), in whole or in part, in each case prior to the date 91 days after the earlier of the maturity date of the Notes or the date the Notes are no longer outstanding; provided, however, that if such Capital Stock is issued to any plan for the benefit of employees of the Issuer or its Subsidiaries or by any such plan to such employees, such Capital Stock shall not constitute Disqualified Stock solely because it may be required to be repurchased by the Issuer or its Subsidiaries in order to satisfy applicable statutory or regulatory obligations.

"Domestic Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary of the Issuer organized under the laws of the United States, any state, territory or commonwealth thereof or the District of Columbia (other than any such Subsidiary that is treated as a disregarded entity for United States federal income tax purposes, is a CFC or substantially all of whose assets consist (directly or indirectly through disregarded entities) of the Equity Interests and/or Indebtedness of one or more CFCs).

"EMU" means the economic and monetary union as contemplated in the Treaty on European Union.

"Equity Interests" means Capital Stock and all warrants, options or other rights to acquire Capital Stock, but excluding any debt security that is convertible into, or exchangeable for, Capital Stock.

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations of the SEC promulgated thereunder.

"Existing 2022 Notes" means the \$700.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.75% senior secured notes due 2022 issued by the Issuer and outstanding on the Issue Date in respect of the 2030 Original Notes.

"Existing 2022 Notes Indenture" means the indenture, dated as of August 7, 2014, among the Issuer, the Guarantors, U.S. Bank National Association (as successor to MUFG Union Bank, N.A.), as trustee, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as collateral agent, as it relates to the Existing 2022 Notes.

"Existing 2026 Notes" means the \$400.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.00% senior secured notes due 2026 issued by the Issuer and outstanding on the Issue Date in respect of the 2026 Original Notes and the 2032 Original Notes, and any Additional Notes (as defined in the Existing 2026 Notes Indenture) issued with respect to the initial 5.00% senior secured notes due 2026.

"Existing 2026 Notes Indenture" means the indenture, dated as of June 3, 2016, among the Issuer, the Guarantors, U.S. Bank National Association (as successor to MUFG Union Bank, N.A.), as trustee, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as collateral agent, as it relates to the Existing 2026 Notes.

"Existing Receivables Facility" means the receivables facility governed by (a) the Amended and Restated Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of October 27, 2010 (as amended, amended and restated, modified,

- 65 -

renewed or replaced from time to time), among the borrowers identified therein, UHS Receivables Corp., as Collection Agent, UHS of Delaware, Inc., as Servicer, Universal Health Services, Inc., as Performance Guarantor, PNC Bank, National Association, as LC Bank and Administrative Agent, and the certain other parties thereto and (b) each of the Receivables Sale Agreements referred to in such Amended and Restated Credit and Security Agreement, between the respective Grantors and "Buyers" specified therein, in each case, as the same may be amended or otherwise modified from time to time.

"Fair Market Value" means, with respect to any asset or liability, the fair market value of such asset or liability as determined by Senior Management of the Issuer in good faith; provided that if the fair market value exceeds \$10.0 million, such determination shall be made by the Board of Directors of the Issuer or an authorized committee thereof in good faith (including as to the value of all non-cash assets and liabilities).

"First Lien Collateral Agent" shall mean JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., in its capacity as collateral agent for the lenders and other secured parties under the Senior Credit Facility, the Indentures and the other First Lien Documents, together with its successors and permitted assigns exercising substantially the same rights and powers and, in each case, provided that if such First Lien Collateral Agent is not JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., such First Lien Collateral Agent shall have become a party to the Security Agreement, any intercreditor agreement with respect to Junior Lien Obligations and the other applicable First Lien Security Documents.

"First Lien Documents" means the credit, guarantee and security documents governing the First Lien Obligations, including, without limitation, the Indentures and the First Lien Security Documents.

"First Lien Event of Default" means an "Event of Default" under and as defined in the Senior Credit Facility, the Indentures or any other First Lien Documents governing First Lien Obligations.

"First Lien Obligations" means, collectively, (a) all Senior Credit Facility Obligations, (b) the Notes Obligations, and (c) any Series of Additional First Lien Obligations.

"First Lien Secured Parties" means (a) the Credit Agreement Secured Parties (as defined in the Security Agreement), (b) the Notes Secured Parties, and (c) any Additional First Lien Secured Parties.

"First Lien Security Documents" means the Security Documents and any other agreement, document or instrument pursuant to which a Lien is granted or purported to be granted securing First Lien Obligations or under which rights or remedies with respect to such Liens are governed.

"Foreign Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person, any Restricted Subsidiary of such Person that is not a Domestic Subsidiary.

"Foreign Subsidiary Voting Stock" means the voting Capital Stock of any Foreign Subsidiary.

"Funded Debt" means any Indebtedness for money borrowed, created, issued, incurred, assumed or guaranteed that would, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, be classified as long-term debt, but in any event including all Indebtedness for money borrowed, whether secured or unsecured, maturing more than one year, or extendible at the option of the obligor to a date more than one year, after the date of determination thereof (excluding any amount thereof included in current liabilities).

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States as in effect on the Issue Date.

"Gift Shop Assets" means all cash and other amount paid or owed to the Issuer or any Secured Guarantor for purchases from its gift shops or cafeterias and all goods held for sale in any such gift shop or cafeteria.

"Guarantee" means the guarantee by any Guarantor of the Issuer's Obligations under the Indentures.

- 66 -

"Guarantor" means each Restricted Subsidiary that Guarantees the Notes in accordance with the terms of the Indentures.

"Hedging Obligations" means, with respect to any Person, the obligations of such Person under any interest rate swap agreement, interest rate cap agreement, interest rate collar agreement, commodity swap agreement, commodity cap agreement, commodity collar agreement, foreign exchange contract, currency swap agreement or similar agreement providing for the transfer or mitigation of interest rate or currency risks either generally or under specific contingencies.

"Holder" means the Person in whose name a Note is registered on the registrar's books.

"Incur" means issue, create, assume, Guarantee, incur or otherwise become liable for; provided, however, that any Indebtedness or Capital Stock of a Person existing at the time such Person becomes a Restricted Subsidiary (whether by merger, consolidation, acquisition or otherwise) will be deemed to be Incurred by such Restricted Subsidiary at the time it becomes a Restricted Subsidiary; and the terms "Incurred" and "Incurrence" have meanings correlative to the foregoing.

"Indebtedness" means, with respect to any Person on any date of determination (without duplication):

- (1) the principal of and premium (if any) in respect of indebtedness of such Person for borrowed money;
- (2) the principal of and premium (if any) in respect of obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other similar instruments;
- (3) the principal component of all obligations of such Person in respect of letters of credit, bankers' acceptances or other similar instruments (including reimbursement obligations with respect thereto except to the extent such reimbursement obligation relates to a trade payable and such obligation is satisfied within 30 days of Incurrence);
- (4) the principal component of all obligations of such Person to pay the deferred and unpaid purchase price of property (including earn-out obligations), which purchase price is due after the date of placing such property in service or taking delivery and title thereto, except (i) any such balance that constitutes a trade payable or similar obligation to a trade creditor, in each case accrued in the ordinary course of business and (ii) any earn-out obligation until the amount of such obligation becomes a liability on the balance sheet of such Person in accordance with GAAP;
- (5) Capitalized Lease Obligations and all Attributable Indebtedness of such Person (whether or not such items would appear on the balance sheet of the guarantor or obligor);
- (6) the principal component or liquidation preference of all obligations of such Person with respect to the redemption, repayment or other repurchase of any Disqualified Stock or, with respect to any Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor, any Preferred Stock (but excluding, in each case, any accrued dividends);
- (7) the principal component of all Indebtedness of other Persons secured by a Lien on any asset of such Person, whether or not such Indebtedness is assumed by such Person; provided, however, that the amount of such Indebtedness will be the lesser of (a) the Fair Market Value of such asset at such date of determination and (b) the amount of such Indebtedness of such other Persons;
- (8) the principal component of Indebtedness of other Persons to the extent Guaranteed by such Person (whether or not such items would appear on the balance sheet of the guarantor or obligor);
- (9) to the extent not otherwise included in this definition, net obligations of such Person under Hedging Obligations (the amount of any such obligations to be equal at any time to the termination value of such agreement or arrangement giving rise to such Obligation that would be payable by such Person at such time); and

- 67 -

(10) to the extent not otherwise included in this definition, the amount of Obligations outstanding under the legal documents entered into as part of a Qualified Receivables Transaction on any date of determination that would be characterized as principal if such Qualified Receivables Transaction were structured as a secured lending transaction rather than as a purchase.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, money borrowed and set aside at the time of the Incurrence of any Indebtedness in order to pre-fund the payment of interest on such Indebtedness shall not be deemed to be "Indebtedness"; provided that such money is held to secure the payment of such interest. In addition, for the avoidance of doubt, obligations of any Person under a Permitted Bond Hedge or a Permitted Warrant shall not be deemed to be "Indebtedness."

In addition, "Indebtedness" of any Person shall include Indebtedness described in the preceding paragraph that would not appear as a liability on the balance sheet of such Person if:

- (1) such Indebtedness is the obligation of a partnership or joint venture that is not a Restricted Subsidiary (a "Joint Venture");
- (2) such Person or a Restricted Subsidiary of such Person is a general partner of the Joint Venture (a "General Partner"); and
- (3) there is recourse, by contract or operation of law, with respect to the payment of such Indebtedness to property or assets of such Person or a Restricted Subsidiary of such Person;

and then such Indebtedness shall be included in an amount not to exceed:

- (a) the lesser of (i) the net assets of the General Partner and (ii) the amount of such obligations to the extent that there is recourse, by contract or operation of law, to the property or assets of such Person or a Restricted Subsidiary of such Person; or
- (b) if less than the amount determined pursuant to clause (a) immediately above, the actual amount of such Indebtedness that is recourse to such Person or a Restricted Subsidiary of such Person, if the Indebtedness is evidenced by a writing and is for a determinable amount.

"Initial Purchasers" means J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, BofA Securities, Inc., Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, Trust Securities, Inc. and the other initial purchasers party to the purchase agreements related to the Notes.

"Insolvency or Liquidation Proceeding" means:

- (1) any case commenced by or against the Issuer or any Secured Guarantor under any Bankruptcy Law for the relief of debtors, any other proceeding for the reorganization, recapitalization or adjustment or marshalling of the assets or liabilities of the Issuer or any Secured Guarantor, any receivership or assignment for the benefit of creditors relating to the Issuer or any Secured Guarantor or any similar case or proceeding relative to the Issuer or any Secured Guarantor or its creditors, as such, in each case whether or not voluntary;
- (2) any liquidation, dissolution, marshalling of assets or liabilities or other winding up of or relating to the Issuer or any Secured Guarantor, in each case whether or not voluntary and whether or not involving bankruptcy or insolvency; or
- (3) any other proceeding of any type or nature in which substantially all claims of creditors of the Issuer or any Secured Guarantor are determined and any payment or distribution is or may be made on account of such claims.

"interest" with respect to the Notes means interest with respect thereto and Additional Interest, if any.

- 68 -

"Interest Rate Agreement" means, with respect to any Person, any interest rate protection agreement, interest rate future agreement, interest rate option agreement, interest rate swap agreement, interest rate cap agreement, interest rate collar agreement, interest rate hedge agreement or other similar agreement or arrangement as to which such Person is party or a beneficiary.

"Investment Grade Ratings" means a rating equal to or higher than Baa3 (or the equivalent) by Moody's and BBB- (or the equivalent) by S&P, or an equivalent rating by any other Rating Agency.

"Investment Property" means (i) all "investment property" as such term is defined in Section 9-102(a)(49) of the New York UCC (other than any Foreign Subsidiary Voting Stock excluded from the definition of "Pledged Stock") and (ii) whether or not constituting "investment property" as so defined, all Pledged Notes and all Pledged Stock.

"Investments" means, with respect to any Person, all investments by such Person in other Persons (including Affiliates) in the form of loans (including guarantees), advances or capital contributions (excluding accounts receivable, trade credit, advances to customers, commissions, travel and similar advances to officers and employees, in each case made in the ordinary course of business), purchases or other acquisitions for consideration of Indebtedness, Equity Interests or other securities issued by any other Person and investments that are required by GAAP to be classified on the balance sheet (excluding the footnotes) of the Issuer in the same manner as the other investments included in this definition to the extent such transactions involve the transfer of cash or other property.

"Issue Date" means September 21, 2020, in the case of the 2030 Notes, and August 24, 2021, in the case of the 2026 Notes and the 2032 Notes.

"Joinder to the Security Agreement" means the Additional Authorized Representative Joinder Agreement entered into by the Issuer, the subsidiary grantors named therein, the First Lien Collateral Agent, the Authorized Representatives and the Trustee as an Additional Authorized Representative.

"Junior Lien Obligations" means the Obligations with respect to Indebtedness permitted to be incurred under the Indentures which by its terms is or will be secured on a basis junior to the Liens securing the Notes pursuant to an intercreditor agreement; provided such Liens are permitted to be incurred under the Indentures.

"Legal Holiday" means a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which commercial banking institutions are not required to be open in the State of New York.

"Lien" means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, lien (statutory or otherwise), pledge, hypothecation, charge, security interest, preference, priority or encumbrance of any kind in respect of such asset, whether or not filed, recorded or otherwise perfected under applicable law, including any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any lease in the nature thereof, any option or other agreement to sell or give a security interest in and any filing of or agreement to give any financing statement under the Uniform Commercial Code (or equivalent statutes) of any jurisdiction; provided that in no event shall an operating lease be deemed to constitute a Lien.

"Major Non-Controlling Authorized Representative" has the meaning set forth under "-Intercreditor Provisions in the Security Agreement."

"Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc. and any successor to its rating agency business.

"Mortgages" means mortgages, liens, pledges or other encumbrances.

"Net Income" means, with respect to any Person, the net income (loss) of such Person, determined in accordance with GAAP and before any reduction in respect of Preferred Stock dividends.

- 69 -

"New York UCC" means the Uniform Commercial Code as from time to time in effect in the State of New York.

"Non-Controlling Authorized Representative" means, at any time with respect to any Common Collateral, any Authorized Representative that is not the Applicable Authorized Representative at such time with respect to such Common Collateral.

"Non-Recourse Debt" means Indebtedness of a Person:

- (1) as to which neither the Issuer nor any Restricted Subsidiary (a) provides any guarantee or credit support of any kind (including any undertaking, guarantee, indemnity, agreement or instrument that would constitute Indebtedness) or (b) is directly or indirectly liable (as a guarantor or otherwise);
- (2) no default with respect to which (including any rights that the holders thereof may have to take enforcement action against an Unrestricted Subsidiary) would permit (upon notice, lapse of time or both) any holder of any other Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary to declare a default under such other Indebtedness or cause the payment thereof to be accelerated or payable prior to its stated maturity; and
- (3) the explicit terms of which provide there is no recourse against any of the assets of the Issuer or its Restricted Subsidiaries, except that Standard Securitization Undertakings shall not be considered recourse.

"Notes Obligations" means Obligations in respect of the Notes, the Indentures or the Security Documents.

"Notes Secured Parties" means, at any relevant time, the holders of Notes Obligations at such time, including without limitation the Trustee, the registrar, paying agent and transfer agent, and the Holders (including the Holders of any Additional Notes subsequently issued under and in compliance with the terms of the Indentures).

"Obligations" means all advances to, and debts, liabilities, obligations, covenants and duties arising under any Indebtedness, whether or not direct or indirect (including those acquired by assumption), absolute or contingent, due or to become due, now existing or hereafter arising and including any principal, interest (including any interest accruing subsequent to the filing of a petition in bankruptcy, reorganization or similar proceeding at the rate provided for in the documentation with respect thereto, whether or not such interest is an allowed claim under applicable state, federal or foreign law), premium, penalties, fees, indemnifications, reimbursements (including reimbursement obligations with respect to letters of credit and bankers acceptances), damages and other liabilities, and guarantees of payment of such principal, interest, penalties, fees, indemnifications, reimbursements, damages and other liabilities, payable under the documentation governing such Indebtedness.

"Officer" means the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, any Executive Vice President, Senior Vice President or Vice President, the Treasurer or the Secretary of the Issuer or a Guarantor, as applicable.

"Officers' Certificate" means a certificate signed on behalf of the Issuer by two Officers of the Issuer or on behalf of a Guarantor by two Officers of such Guarantor, one of whom must be the principal executive officer, the principal financial officer, the treasurer or the principal accounting officer of the Issuer or Guarantor, as applicable, that meets the requirements set forth in the Indentures.

"Opinion of Counsel" means a written opinion from legal counsel who is acceptable to the Trustee. The counsel may be an employee of or counsel to the Issuer or the Trustee.

- 70 -

"Participation Interest" means with respect to any Receivable, a beneficial interest in the Issuer's or the applicable Secured Guarantor's right, title and interest, whether now owned or hereafter arising and wherever located, in, to and under (i) such Receivable, (ii) all Related Security and Collections with respect to such Receivable and (iii) all proceeds of such Receivable, Related Security and Collections.

"Permitted Bond Hedge" means any call options or capped call options referencing the Issuer's Common Stock purchased by the Issuer concurrently with the issuance of Convertible Notes to hedge the Issuer's or any Subsidiary issuer's obligations under such Indebtedness.

"Permitted Holders" means Alan B. Miller, Marc D. Miller, A. Miller Family, LLC, MMA Family LLC and any trust or other entity owned by or formed for the benefit of the spouses, children, descendants and other family members of Alan B. Miller and Marc D. Miller. Any Person or group whose acquisition of beneficial ownership constitutes a Change of Control in respect of which a Change of Control Offer is made in accordance with the requirements of the Indentures (or would result in a Change of Control Offer in the absence of the waiver of such requirement by Holders in accordance with the Indenture) will thereafter constitute additional Permitted Holders.

"Permitted Liens" means, with respect to any Person:

- (1) Liens for taxes not yet due or that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, provided that adequate reserves with respect thereto are maintained on the books of the Issuer or its Subsidiaries, as the case may be, in conformity with GAAP;
- (2) carriers', warehousemen's, mechanics', materialmen's, repairmen's or other like Liens arising in the ordinary course of business that are not overdue for a period of more than 30 days or that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings;
- (3) pledges or deposits in connection with workers' compensation, unemployment insurance and other social security legislation;
- (4) deposits to secure the performance of bids, trade contracts (other than for borrowed money), leases, statutory obligations, surety and appeal bonds, performance bonds and other obligations of a like nature incurred in the ordinary course of business;
- (5) easements, rights-of-way, restrictions and other similar encumbrances incurred in the ordinary course of business that, in the aggregate, are not substantial in amount and that do not in any case materially detract from the value of the property subject thereto or materially interfere with the ordinary conduct of the business of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries;
- (6) Liens in existence on the Issue Date (other than Liens described in clauses (7), (8) and (10) of this definition);
- (7) prior to the Collateral Release Date, Liens in existence on the Issue Date securing Indebtedness permitted by the Senior Credit Facility; provided that no such Lien is spread to cover any additional property after the Issue Date and that the amount of Indebtedness secured thereby is not increased;
- (8) prior to the Collateral Release Date, Liens created pursuant to the Security Documents (including, for the avoidance of doubt, Liens securing the Senior Credit Facility and the Notes);
- (9) any interest or title of a lessor under any lease entered into by the Issuer or any Subsidiary in the ordinary course of its business and covering only the assets so leased;
- (10) prior to the Collateral Release Date, Liens arising out of the Existing Receivables Facility and any future Qualified Receivables Transaction (including any Receivables Financing); provided that the aggregate outstanding amount of the purchase price or loan from the lenders or investors under the Existing Receivables Facility and all other Qualified Receivables Transactions (including any Receivables Financing) shall not at any time exceed the greater of (i) \$600.0 million and (ii) 50% of

- 71 -

accounts receivable, net, as shown on the Issuer's most recent consolidated balance sheet for which internal financial statements for the Issuer are available plus the allowance for doubtful accounts with respect to such accounts receivable, as set forth in the footnotes to such financial statements;

- (11) any Lien existing on any asset of any Person at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary and not created in contemplation of such event;
- (12) any Lien existing on any asset prior to the acquisition thereof by the Issuer or a Subsidiary and not created in contemplation of such acquisition;
- (13) any Lien securing Indebtedness incurred to refinance, replace, renew or refund amend, extend or modify, as a whole or in part, Indebtedness that was previously so secured pursuant to clauses (6), (7), (8), (11), (12) and (13) of this definition; provided that any such Lien is limited to all or part of the same property or assets (plus improvements, accessions, proceeds or dividends or distributions in respect thereof) that secured (or, under the written arrangements under which the original Lien arose, could secure) the Indebtedness being refinanced or is in respect of property that is the security for a Permitted Lien hereunder; and
- (14) prior to the Collateral Release Date, Liens not otherwise permitted by this section so long as the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the obligations secured thereby does not exceed (as to the Issuer and all Subsidiaries) \$350.0 million at any one time.

For purposes of this definition, the term "Indebtedness" shall be deemed to include interest on such Indebtedness.

"Permitted Warrant" means any call option in respect of the Issuer's Common Stock sold by the Issuer concurrently with the issuance of Convertible Notes.

"Person" means any individual, corporation, limited liability Issuer, partnership, joint venture, association, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, government or any agency or political subdivision thereof or any other entity.

"Pledged Notes" means all promissory notes listed in the Collateral Agreement, all intercompany notes at any time issued to the Issuer or the Secured Guarantors and all other promissory notes issued to or held by the Issuer or the Secured Guarantors (other than promissory notes issued in connection with extensions of trade credit by the Issuer or the Secured Guarantors in the ordinary course of business).

"Pledged Stock" means the shares of Capital Stock, together with any other shares, stock certificates, options, interests or rights of any nature whatsoever in respect of the Capital Stock of any Person that may be issued or granted to, or held by, any grantor; provided that in no event shall more than 65% of the total outstanding Foreign Subsidiary Voting Stock of any Foreign Subsidiary be required to be pledged hereunder.

"Preferred Stock" means any Equity Interest with preferential rights of payment of dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up.

"Principal Property" means any property, plant, equipment or facility of the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, except that any property, plant, equipment or facility of the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries which does not equal or exceed 3% of the Issuer's Consolidated Net Tangible Assets shall not constitute a Principal Property of the Issuer unless its Board of Directors or its management deems it to be material to the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries, taken as a whole. Accounts receivable, inventory and Equity Interests of the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries are not "Principal Property"; provided, however, that individual items of property, plant, equipment or individual facilities of the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries shall not be combined in determining whether that property, plant, equipment or facility constitutes a Principal Property of the same transaction or series of transactions.

- 72 -

"Qualified Receivables Transaction" means any transaction or series of transactions that may be entered into by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries pursuant to which the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries may sell, convey or otherwise transfer to (1) a Receivables Subsidiary (in the case of a transfer by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries) and (2) any other Person (in the case of a transfer by a Receivables Subsidiary), or may grant a security interest in, any Receivables (whether now existing or arising in the future) of the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, and any assets related thereto, all contracts and all Guarantees or other obligations in respect of such accounts receivable, the proceeds of such Receivables and other assets that are customarily transferred (including, without limitation, assets of the type transferred pursuant to the Existing Receivables Facility) or in respect of which security interests are customarily granted, in connection with asset securitizations involving Receivables.

"Rating Agencies" means Moody's and S&P or if Moody's or S&P or both shall not make a rating on the Notes publicly available, a nationally recognized statistical rating agency or agencies, as the case may be, selected by the Issuer which shall be substituted for Moody's or S&P or both, as the case may be.

"Receivable" means all indebtedness and other obligations owed to the Issuer or a Secured Guarantor (including, without limitation, any indebtedness, obligation or interest constituting an account, chattel paper, instrument or general intangible) arising in connection with the sale of goods or rendering of services by the Issuer or such Secured Guarantor (including any Account (as defined in the New York UCC)) including, without limitation, the obligation to pay any finance charges or similar amounts with respect thereto.

"Receivables Fees" means any fees or interest paid to purchasers or lenders providing the financing in connection with a Qualified Receivables Transaction, factoring agreement or other similar agreement, including any such amounts paid by discounting the face amount of receivables or participations therein transferred in connection with a Qualified Receivables Transaction, factoring agreement or other similar arrangement, regardless of whether any such transaction is structured as on-balance sheet or off-balance sheet or through a Restricted Subsidiary or an Unrestricted Subsidiary.

"Receivables Financing" means the Existing Receivables Facility and any future financing arrangement among the Issuer, certain Subsidiaries of the Issuer, including Receivables Subsidiaries, and certain other parties pursuant to which Subsidiaries of the Borrower will sell substantially all of their accounts receivable from time to time to Receivables Subsidiaries, which will, in turn, sell or pledge such receivables to certain third-party lenders or investors for a purchase price or loan from such lenders or investors, as applicable.

"Receivables Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary formed for the purpose of facilitating or entering into one or more Qualified Receivables Transaction, and in each case engages only in activities reasonably related or incidental thereto.

"Registration Rights Agreements" means that certain Registration Rights Agreements, dated as of the Issue Date, by and among the Issuer, the Guarantors and the initial purchasers set forth therein and, with respect to any Additional Notes, one or more substantially similar registration rights agreements among the Issuer and the other parties thereto, as such agreements may be amended from time to time.

"Related Security" means with respect to any Receivable:

- all of the Issuer's and Secured Guarantor's interest in the inventory and goods (including returned or repossessed inventory or goods), if any, the sale, financing or lease of which by the Issuer and Secured Guarantor gave rise to such Receivable, and all insurance contracts with respect thereto,
- (ii) all other security interests or liens and property subject thereto from time to time, if any, purporting to secure payment of such Receivable, whether pursuant to a contract related to such Receivable or otherwise, together with all financing statements and security agreements describing any collateral securing such Receivable,

- 73 -

- (iii) all guaranties, letters of credit, insurance and other agreements or arrangements of whatever character from time to time supporting or securing payment of such Receivable whether pursuant to a contact related to such Receivable or otherwise,
- (iv) all service contracts and other contracts and agreements associated with such Receivable,
- (v) all records related to such Receivable,
- (vi) all of the Issuer's and Secured Guarantor's right, title and interest (if any) in any deposit or other account into which such Receivables are paid or deposited, and
- (vii) all proceeds of any of the foregoing.

"Restricted Subsidiary", means, at any time, any direct or indirect Subsidiary of the Issuer that is not then an Unrestricted Subsidiary; provided, however, that upon an Unrestricted Subsidiary's ceasing to be an Unrestricted Subsidiary, such Subsidiary shall be included in the definition of "Restricted Subsidiary."

"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Ratings Services and any successor to its rating agency business.

"Sale and Lease-Back Transaction" means any arrangement providing for the leasing by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries for a period of more than three years of any Principal Property, which property is to be sold or transferred by the Issuer or such Subsidiary to a third Person in contemplation of such leasing.

"SEC" means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Secured Guarantor" means each Guarantor which has granted a security interest pursuant to the Security Documents to secure such Guarantor's Guarantee of the Notes and the Notes Obligations.

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations of the SEC promulgated thereunder.

"Security Agreement" means the Joinder to the Security Agreement, together with the Base Security Agreement.

"Security Documents" means, collectively, the Security Agreement, any intercreditor agreement related to the Junior Lien Obligations, other security agreements relating to the Collateral and instruments filed and recorded in appropriate jurisdictions to preserve and protect the Liens on the Collateral (including, without limitation, financing statements under the Uniform Commercial Code of the relevant states) applicable to the Collateral, each as in effect on the Issue Date (as applicable) and as amended, amended and restated, modified, renewed or replaced from time to time.

"Senior Credit Facility" means the senior credit agreement dated as of November 15, 2010 and as amended on March 15, 2011, September 21, 2012, May 16, 2013, August 7, 2014, June 7, 2016, October 23, 2018, August 24, 2021, September 10, 2021 and June 23, 2022, among the Issuer, the lenders party thereto in their capacities as lenders thereunder and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, including any guarantees, collateral documents, instruments and agreements executed in connection therewith, and any amendments, supplements, modifications, extensions, renewals, restatements, replacements (which may occur after the termination of such senior credit agreement), refundings or refinancings thereof and any indentures or credit facilities or commercial paper facilities with banks or other institutional lenders or investors that replace (which replacement may occur after the termination of such senior credit agreement or other facility), refund or refinance any part of the loans, notes, other credit facilities or commitments thereunder, including any such replacement, refunding or refinancing facility or indenture that increases the amount borrowable thereunder or alters the maturity thereof.

"Senior Credit Facility Obligations" means "Obligations" as defined in the Senior Credit Facility.

- 74 -

"Senior Management" means the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of the Issuer.

"Series" means (a) with respect to the First Lien Secured Parties, each of (i) the Senior Credit Facility Secured Parties (in their capacities as such), (ii) the Holders and the Trustee (in its capacity as such) and (iii) the Additional First Lien Secured Parties that become subject to the Security Agreement after the date hereof that are represented by a common Authorized Representative (in its capacity as such for such Additional First Lien Secured Parties) and (b) with respect to any First Lien Obligations, each of (i) the Senior Credit Facility Obligations, (ii) the Notes Obligations with respect to the 2026 Notes, (iii) the Notes Obligations with respect to the 2030 Notes, (iv) the Notes Obligations with respect to the 2032 Notes and (v) Additional First Lien Obligations incurred pursuant to any applicable agreement, which, pursuant to any joinder agreement, are to be represented under the Security Agreement by a common Authorized Representative (in its capacity as such for such Additional First Lien Obligations).

"Significant Subsidiary" means any Restricted Subsidiary that would be a "Significant Subsidiary" as defined in Article 1, Rule 1-02 of Regulation S-X, promulgated pursuant to the Securities Act, as such regulation is in effect on the Issue Date.

"Standard Securitization Undertakings" means representations, warranties, covenants and indemnities entered into by the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary that are reasonably customary in securitization of Qualified Receivables Transaction.

"Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person:

- (1) any corporation, association, or other business entity (other than a partnership, joint venture, limited liability company or similar entity) of which more than 50% of the total voting power of shares of Capital Stock entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors, managers or trustees thereof is at the time of determination owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that Person or a combination thereof or is consolidated under GAAP with such Person at such time; and
- (2) any partnership, joint venture, limited liability company or similar entity of which more than 50% of the equity ownership, whether in the form of membership, general, special or limited partnership interests or otherwise, is owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that Person or a combination thereof or is consolidated under GAAP with such Person at such time.

"Transactions" means (a) in the case of the 2030 Notes, the issuance of the 2030 Original Notes on the appliable Issue Date, the redemption of the Existing 2022 Notes and the payment of related fees and expenses, and (b) in the case of the 2026 Notes and the 2032 Notes, the issuance of the 2026 Original Notes and the 2032 Original Notes on the applicable Issue Date, the redemption of the Existing 2026 Notes and the payment of related fees and expenses.

"Unrestricted Subsidiary" means:

- (1) any Subsidiary of the Issuer which at the time of determination shall be designated an Unrestricted Subsidiary by the Board of Directors of the Issuer in the manner provided below; and
- (2) any Subsidiary of an Unrestricted Subsidiary.

The Board of Directors of the Issuer may designate any Subsidiary of the Issuer (including any newly acquired or newly formed Subsidiary or a Person becoming a Subsidiary through merger or consolidation or investment therein) to be an Unrestricted Subsidiary only if:

(1) such Subsidiary or any of its Subsidiaries does not own any Capital Stock or Indebtedness of or have any investment in, or own or hold any Lien on any property of, any other Subsidiary of the Issuer that is not a Subsidiary of the Subsidiary to be so designated or otherwise an Unrestricted Subsidiary;

- 75 -

- (2) all the Indebtedness of such Subsidiary and its Subsidiaries shall, at the date of designation, and will at all times thereafter, consist of Non-Recourse Debt;
- (3) such Subsidiary, either alone or in the aggregate with all other Unrestricted Subsidiaries, does not operate, directly or indirectly, all or substantially all of the business of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries;
- (4) such Subsidiary is a Person with respect to which neither the Issuer nor any of its Restricted Subsidiaries has any direct or indirect obligation:
 - (a) to subscribe for additional Capital Stock of such Person; or
 - (b) to maintain or preserve such Person's financial condition or to cause such Person to achieve any specified levels of operating results; and
- (5) on the date such Subsidiary is designated an Unrestricted Subsidiary, such Subsidiary is not a party to any agreement, contract, arrangement or understanding with the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary with terms substantially less favorable to the Issuer than those that might have been obtained from Persons who are not Affiliates of the Issuer.

Any such designation by the Board of Directors of the Issuer shall be evidenced to the Trustee by filing with the Trustee a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Issuer, certified by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Issuer, giving effect to such designation and an Officers' Certificate certifying that such designation complies with the foregoing conditions. If, at any time, any Unrestricted Subsidiary would fail to meet the foregoing requirements as an Unrestricted Subsidiary, it shall thereafter cease to be an Unrestricted Subsidiary for purposes of the Indentures and any Indebtedness of such Subsidiary shall be deemed to be Incurred as of such date.

The Board of Directors of the Issuer may designate any Unrestricted Subsidiary to be a Restricted Subsidiary; provided that immediately after giving effect to such designation, no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or would occur as a consequence thereof and either:

- (1) the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis would have had a Consolidated Coverage Ratio of at least 2.00 to 1.00; or
- (2) the Consolidated Coverage Ratio for the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries would be greater than such ratio for the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries immediately prior to such designation, in each case on a pro forma basis taking into account such designation.

"Unsecured Guarantors" means each of the Guarantors other than the Secured Guarantors.

"Voting Stock" of any Person as of any date means the Capital Stock of such Person that is at the time entitled to vote in the election of the board of directors of such Person.

"Wholly Owned Subsidiary" of any Person means a Subsidiary of such Person, 100% of the outstanding Equity Interests of which (other than directors' qualifying shares) shall at the time be owned by such Person or by one or more Wholly Owned Subsidiaries of such Person.

- 76 -

DESCRIPTION OF OTHER INDEBTEDNESS

Credit Agreement

Overview

We have a credit agreement dated as of November 15, 2010 (as amended from time to time, the "credit agreement"), among UHS, as borrower, the several banks and other financial institutions from time to time parties thereto, as lenders, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the other agents party thereto. The credit agreement, as amended, is a senior secured facility which, as of September 30, 2022, consists of: (i) a \$1.2 billion revolving credit facility; and (ii) a \$2.4 billion tranche A term loan facility. The maturity date of the revolving credit and tranche A term loan facilities is August 24, 2026.

The credit agreement is secured by certain assets of UHS and our material domestic subsidiaries (excluding asset classes such as substantially all of the patient-related accounts receivable of our acute care hospitals, and certain real estate assets and assets held in joint ventures with third parties) and is guaranteed by those subsidiaries.

Interest Rates and Availability

Revolving credit and tranche A term loan borrowings under the credit agreement bear interest at our election at either (1) the ABR rate which is defined as the rate per annum equal to the greatest of (a) the lender's prime rate, (b) the weighted average of the federal funds rate, plus 0.5% and (c) one month Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") plus 1%, in each case, plus an applicable margin based upon our consolidated leverage ratio at the end of each quarter ranging from 0.25% to 0.625%, or (2) the one, three or six month SOFR plus 0.1% (at our election), plus an applicable margin based upon our consolidated leverage ratio at the end of each quarter ranging from 1.25% to 1.625%. As of September 30, 2022, the applicable margins were 0.50% for ABR-based loans and 1.50% for SOFR-based loans under the revolving credit and term loan A facilities.

As of September 30, 2022, we had \$189 million of borrowings outstanding pursuant to our revolving credit facility and we had \$1.007 billion of available borrowing capacity net of \$4 million of outstanding letters of credit.

The revolving credit facility is a five-year revolving facility in the initial amount of \$1.2 billion, available on a revolving basis. A portion of the revolving facility not in excess of \$125 million will be available beginning on the effective date for the issuance of letters of credit by the administrative agent or other lenders reasonably satisfactory to us on terms and conditions consistent with the existing credit agreement. A portion of the revolving facility not in excess of \$75 million will be available for swingline loans from the swingline lender on same-day notice on terms and conditions consistent with the existing credit agreement; provided that the aggregate exposure of the swingline lender in respect of the revolving facility (including any swingline loans made by it as a swingline lender) may not exceed its revolving commitment.

Amortization

Our tranche A term loan facility, which had approximately \$2.353 billion of borrowings outstanding as of September 30, 2022, provides for installment payments of \$15 million per quarter until maturity in September 2023, and \$30 million per quarter during the period of December, 2023 through June, 2026. The unpaid principal balance at June 31, 2026 is payable on the August 23, 2026 maturity date.

No amortization is required with respect to the revolving credit facility.

- 77 -

Prepayments

The senior credit facility requires us to make certain mandatory prepayments in case of asset sales, receipt of insurance proceeds or incurrence of certain indebtedness or excess cash flow, each as defined in the credit agreement.

The senior credit facility enables us to voluntarily repay all or a portion of the senior credit facility without premium or penalty (other than certain break fees with respect to SOFR based loans), subject to the conditions set forth in the credit agreement.

Guarantees and Security

The senior credit facility is guaranteed by substantially all of our material wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries and is secured by certain of the assets of our company and of the subsidiary guarantors, including, without limitation, the following:

- the capital stock of the material wholly owned domestic subsidiaries of our company and the subsidiary guarantors and up to 65% of the voting stock of the first-tier foreign subsidiaries of our company and the subsidiary guarantors, except as provided below;
- accounts receivable, except as provided below;
- equipment;
- general intangibles;
- intellectual property; and
- other investment property.

However, the collateral securing the senior credit facility does not include, among other things:

- our real property; or
- accounts receivable sold pursuant to our accounts receivable securitization program, real estate property and certain other receivables financing facilities up to a maximum purchase price or loan of \$600.0 million.

These assets are also excluded from the collateral securing the Exchange Notes offered hereby, as described in "Description of the Notes— Security General—Certain Limitations on the Collateral."

Certain Covenants and Events of Default

The senior credit facility contains various covenants, and the replacement senior credit facility will contain various revised covenants, that may limit our ability to take certain actions, including our ability to:

- incur, assume or guarantee additional indebtedness;
- create liens;
- make restricted payments, including paying dividends and making investments;
- make capital expenditures;
- sell or otherwise dispose of assets, including capital stock of subsidiaries;
- enter into agreements that restrict liens securing the senior credit facility or dividends from subsidiaries;
- merge, consolidate, sell or otherwise dispose of substantially all our assets;
- enter into transactions with affiliates; and
- guarantee certain obligations.

- 78 -

In addition, the senior credit facility contains a maximum ratio of consolidated total debt to consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the credit agreement) calculated net of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents, initially of no greater than 3.75 to 1.0 (or, at our election on or prior to consummation of a material permitted acquisition, 4.25 to 1.00 for four quarters following such material permitted acquisition; provided that such election may be exercised only up to three times during the term of the credit agreement).

The senior credit facility also contains customary events of default, including customary cross-default provisions to other material indebtedness.

Accounts Receivable Securitization Program

We have an accounts receivable securitization program ("Securitization") with a group of conduit lenders, liquidity banks, and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent (collectively, the "Bank Group"), which provides for borrowings outstanding from time to time by certain of our subsidiaries in exchange for undivided security interests in their respective accounts receivable. Substantially all of the patient-related accounts receivable of our acute care hospitals ("Receivables") serve as collateral for the outstanding borrowings.

In April, 2021 our Securitization was amended (the eighth amendment) to: (i) reduce the aggregate borrowing commitments to \$20 million (from \$450 million previously); (ii) slightly reduce the borrowing rates and commitment fee, and; (iii) extend the maturity date to April 25, 2022. In April, 2022, the Securitization was amended (the ninth amendment) to extend the maturity date to July 22, 2022. In July, 2022, the Securitization was amended (the eleventh amendment) to extend the maturity date to September 20, 2022 and in September, 2022, the Securitization was amended (the eleventh amendment) to extend the maturity date to December 20, 2022. There were no borrowings outstanding pursuant to the Securitization as of September 30, 2022.

We have accounted for this Securitization as borrowings. We maintain effective control over the Receivables since, pursuant to the terms of the Securitization, the Receivables are sold from certain of our subsidiaries to special purpose entities that are wholly-owned by us. The Receivables, however, are owned by the special purpose entities, can be used only to satisfy the debts of the wholly-owned special purpose entities, and thus are not available to us except through our ownership interest in the special purpose entities. The wholly-owned special purpose entities use the Receivables to collateralize the loans obtained from the group of third-party conduit lenders and liquidity banks. The group of third-party conduit lenders and liquidity banks do not have recourse to us beyond the assets of the wholly-owned special purpose entities that securitize the loans. At September 30, 2022, we had no Securitization borrowings outstanding and, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the program, we had approximately \$20 million of available borrowing capacity. Our Securitization program contains covenants limiting, among other things, the ability of the special purpose entities that are parties to the agreement to incur indebtedness and the ability of the special purpose entities and our subsidiaries that sell them the Receivables to create liens on the Receivables. The facility also includes customary events of default, including a cross-default provision to material debt of UHS and certain of its subsidiaries and a provision that would be triggered if any such material debt is required to be prepaid before its stated maturity.

Federal law generally prohibits Medicare or Medicaid payments to be made to any person or entity other than the performing provider under a reassignment, a power of attorney or otherwise. However, federal law does not expressly prohibit a provider from reassigning or otherwise transferring the right to receive Medicare or Medicaid payments, so long as the government is not required to make payment to a party other than the provider.

Other UHS Debt

In addition to the indebtedness described above, we had approximately \$188 million of other indebtedness as of September 30, 2022 that we expect to remain outstanding following the Exchange Offer.

MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following summary describes the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of exchanging Original Notes for Exchange Notes in the Exchange Offer. It does not purport to be a complete analysis of all potential tax considerations relating to the Exchange Offer. This summary is based on the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, judicial decisions, and published rulings and administrative pronouncements of the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS"), in each case in effect as of the date hereof. These authorities may change or be subject to differing interpretations, possibly with retroactive effect, so as to result in U.S. federal income tax consequences different from those discussed below. We have not sought and will not seek any rulings from the IRS and there can be no assurance the IRS or a court will not take a contrary position regarding the matters discussed below. This summary is limited to beneficial owners who hold the Original Notes and the Exchange Notes as capital assets within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Code (generally, property held for investment). The effects of other U.S. federal tax laws, such as estate and gift tax laws, and any applicable state, local or foreign tax laws, are not discussed.

This discussion does not address all U.S. federal income tax consequences relevant to a beneficial owner's particular circumstances, including the impact of the Medicare contribution tax on net investment income. In addition, it does not address consequences relevant to beneficial owners subject to special rules, including, without limitation, U.S. expatriates and former citizens or long-term residents of the United States, persons subject to the alternative minimum tax, U.S. persons whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar, persons holding Original Notes or Exchange Notes as part of a hedge, straddle or other risk reduction strategy or as part of a conversion, constructive sale, wash sale or other integrated transaction, banks, insurance companies, and other financial institutions, real estate investment trusts or regulated investment companies, brokers, dealers or traders in securities or currencies, controlled foreign corporations, passive foreign investment companies, corporations that accumulate earnings to avoid U.S. federal income tax, U.S. persons that hold Original Notes or the Exchange Notes through non-U.S. brokers or other non-U.S. intermediaries, S corporations, partnerships or other entities or arrangements treated as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes (and investors therein), tax-exempt entities, retirement plans, individual retirement accounts, tax-deferred accounts, and governmental organizations and holders who are subject to special accounting rules (including rules requiring them to recognize income with respect to Original Notes or Exchange Notes no later than when such income is taken into account in an applicable financial statement).

If an entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes holds Original Notes or Exchange Notes, the U.S. federal income tax treatment of a partner in the partnership generally will depend on the status of the partner, the activities of the partnership and certain determinations made at the partner level. Accordingly, entities or arrangements classified as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax holding Original Notes or Exchange Notes and the partners in such partnerships should consult their tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences to them of the Exchange Offer.

An exchange of Exchange Notes for Original Notes in the Exchange Offer will not be a taxable event for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Accordingly, a beneficial owner of an Original Note will not recognize any gain or loss upon the receipt of an Exchange Note pursuant to the Exchange Offer, will be required to include interest on the Exchange Note in income in the same manner and to the same extent as on the Original Note and will have the same adjusted tax basis, adjusted issue price and holding period in the Exchange Note immediately after the exchange as its adjusted tax basis, adjusted issue price and holding period in the Original Note exchanged therefor.

THIS DISCUSSION IS FOR INFORMATION PURPOSES ONLY AND IS NOT TAX ADVICE. EACH INVESTOR SHOULD CONSULT ITS TAX ADVISOR WITH RESPECT TO THE SPECIFIC U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE EXCHANGE OFFER IN ITS PARTICULAR SITUATIONS AS WELL AS ANY TAX CONSEQUENCE ARISING UNDER OTHER U.S. FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL OR NON-U.S. TAX LAWS.

- 80 -

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Based on interpretations of the staff of the SEC, as described in no-action letters issued to third parties that are not related to us, we believe that the Exchange Notes will be freely transferable by holders other than our affiliates after the Exchange Offer without further registration under the Securities Act if the holder of the Exchange Notes represents to us in the Exchange Offer that it is acquiring the Exchange Notes in the ordinary course of its business, that it has no arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in the distribution of the Exchange Notes and that it is not our affiliate, as such terms are interpreted by the SEC; provided, however, that broker-dealers receiving Exchange Notes in the Exchange Offer will have a prospectus delivery requirement with respect to resales of such Exchange Notes (other than a resale of an unsold allotment from the sale of the Original Notes) with this prospectus. We have not entered into any arrangement or understanding with any person the Exchange Offer. We are not aware of any person that will participate in the Exchange Offer with a view to distribute the Exchange Notes.

We believe that you may not transfer Exchange Notes issued in the Exchange Offer without further compliance with such requirements or an exemption from such requirements if you are:

- our affiliate within the meaning of Rule 405 under the Securities Act; or
- a broker-dealer that acquired Original Notes as a result of market-making or other trading activities.

The information described above concerning interpretations of and positions taken by the SEC staff is not intended to constitute legal advice. Broker-dealers should consult their own legal advisors with respect to these matters.

If you wish to exchange Exchange Notes for your Original Notes in the Exchange Offer, you will be required to make representations to us as described in "The Exchange Offer—Procedures for Tendering" and "The Exchange Offer—Procedures for Tendering—Your Representations to Us" of this prospectus and in the letter of transmittal.

Each broker-dealer that receives Exchange Notes for its own account pursuant to the Exchange Offer must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act (or, to the extent permitted by law, make available a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act to purchasers) in connection with any resale of such Exchange Notes. This prospectus, as it may be amended or supplemented from time to time, may be used by a broker-dealer in connection with resales of Exchange Notes received in exchange for Original Notes where such Original Notes were acquired as a result of market-making or other trading activities. We have agreed that, for a period of 180 days following the expiration of the Exchange Offer, we will make this prospectus, as amended or supplemented, available to any broker-dealer for use in connection with any such resale. Further, for a period of 180 days following the effective date of the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part, we will promptly send additional copies of this prospectus and any amendment or supplement to this prospectus to any broker-dealer that requests such documents in the letter of transmittal.

We will not receive any proceeds from any sale of Exchange Notes by broker-dealers. Exchange Notes received by broker-dealers for their own accounts pursuant to the Exchange Offer may be sold from time to time in one or more transactions in the over-the-counter market, in negotiated transactions, through the writing of options on the Exchange Notes or a combination of such methods of resale, at market prices prevailing at the time of resale, at prices related to such prevailing market prices or negotiated prices. Any such resale may be made directly to purchasers or to or through brokers or dealers who may receive compensation in the form of commissions or concessions from any such broker-dealer or the purchasers of any such Exchange Notes. Any

- 81 -

broker-dealer that resells Exchange Notes that were received by it for its own account pursuant to the Exchange Offer and any broker or dealer that participates in a distribution of such Exchange Notes may be deemed to be an "underwriter" within the meaning of the Securities Act and any profit on any such resale of Exchange Notes and any commissions or concessions received by any such persons may be deemed to be underwriting compensation under the Securities Act. The letter of transmittal states that, by acknowledging that it will deliver and by delivering a prospectus, a broker-dealer will not be deemed to admit that it is an "underwriter" within the meaning of the Securities Act.

We have agreed to pay expenses incident to the Exchange Offer other than commissions or concessions of any brokers or dealers and will indemnify the holders of the Original Notes (including any broker-dealers) against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. Our SEC filings are available over the Internet at the SEC's web site at www.sec.gov. The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at http://www.sec.gov. Our filings with the SEC are also available on our website at www.uhs.com. The information on our website is not incorporated by reference in this prospectus and you should not consider it a part of this prospectus (except for our SEC reports expressly incorporated by reference herein).

INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

The SEC allows us to "incorporate by reference" the information we file with them, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to those documents. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this prospectus and later information filed with the SEC will automatically update and supersede this information. We incorporate by reference the documents listed below and all documents subsequently filed with the SEC pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, prior to the termination of the offering under this prospectus (other than information deemed furnished and not filed in accordance with SEC rules, including Items 2.02 and 7.01 of Form 8-K):

- Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 filed with the SEC on February 24, 2022;
- Our Proxy Statement on <u>Schedule 14A</u> filed with the SEC on April 7, 2022, to the extent specifically incorporated by reference into Part III of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021;
- Our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2022, June 30, 2022 and September 30, 2022 filed with the SEC on May, 6, 2022, August 8, 2022 and November 8, 2022, respectively; and
- Our Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on <u>March 28, 2022</u>, <u>May 20, 2022</u>, <u>June 27, 2022</u>, <u>June 30, 2022</u>, <u>September 22</u>, <u>2022</u> and <u>October 25, 2022</u>.

Any statement contained in this prospectus or in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this prospectus to the extent that a statement contained in any subsequently filed document which is or is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein modifies or supersedes such statement. Any such statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this prospectus.

You may request a copy of these filings (other than an exhibit to a filing unless that exhibit is specifically incorporated by reference in that filing) at no cost, by writing to or telephoning us at the following address:

Secretary UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC. Universal Corporate Center 367 South Gulph Road King of Prussia, Pennsylvania 19406 (610) 768-3300

LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the securities to be issued hereunder will be passed upon for us by Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, New York, New York and Matthew D. Klein, Senior Vice President and General Counsel of UHS, or other counsel who is satisfactory to UHS.

- 83 -

EXPERTS

The financial statements and management's assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting (which is included in Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting) incorporated in this prospectus by reference to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.



Universal Health Services, Inc.

OFFER TO EXCHANGE ITS

1.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2026, 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2030 and 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2032 and related guarantees that have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,

FOR AN EQUAL AMOUNT OF ITS OUTSTANDING

1.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2026, 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2030 and 2.650% Senior Secured Notes due 2032, and related guarantees, as applicable, that were issued and sold in transactions exempt from registration under the Securities Act, as amended.

PROSPECTUS

November 23, 2022